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Letter to Shareholders

As we progressed through fiscal year 2013, our first full year with public shareholders, we
continued our pursuit of initiatives in support of our key strategies to drive shareholder value, including
strengthening our balance sheet, growing our business organically, expanding into international markets,
and pursuing synergistic acquisitions. | am pleased to report that once again, we demonstrated our ability
to generate significant cash flow through our broad portfolio of products, continual operating efficiency
improvements, and actions to reduce costs.

Throughout the year, we worked closely with our more than 13,000 regional and multi-national
customers to provide them with innovative product solutions. Our strong customer relations and our
unique ability to utilize both rigid and flexible technologies has allowed us to maintain a proven track
record of delivering high-quality innovative solutions to meet not only our customers’ needs but also fill a
desire of the end consumer. Furthermore, our continual actions to optimize our manufacturing processes
and leverage our scale to reduce expenses on items such as raw materials, allowed us to maintain our
position as a low-cost manufacturer relative to our competitors. We believe that these factors working in
tandem throughout the year, allowed our segments to maintain leading positions in their respective
markets.

| am also pleased that during 2013 we were able to take advantage of attractive financial markets
to improve our debt structure and lower overall interest. We also continued to expand the breadth of our
product line with the introduction of a host of new and innovative products, one of our most exciting being
Versalite™. Many of our new products should begin to have a positive impact for us over the next
several years. At the same time we were pursuing initiatives abroad, as we continued to build our
international presence through the pursuit of select investment opportunities in dynamic developing
markets. Moreover, continuing our track record of capturing synergistic acquisitions, we added two de-
leveraging acquisitions during the year, including Prime Label & Screen Inc. and certain bottling assets
from Vi-Jon, Inc.

As we look ahead to fiscal year 2014, we will continue competing and winning in our markets
through a relentless focus on building and strengthening our competitive advantages, by assembling the
best teams and focusing them on identifying and satisfying the unique needs of our customers. We are
proud of our team’s historical ability to differentiate ourselves from competitors. And, through our
consumer insights and dedication to customer service, innovation, and quality - we will continue to
differentiate ourselves in the future.

Most importantly, we remain optimistic about our ability to grow our business organically, while
generating strong shareholder returns, despite the prediction for the continued general economic
challenges. In the year ahead, we see an abundance of opportunities in each of our segments. In our
pursuit of these opportunities, we will remain committed to our strategic initiatives and historical strengths
that have led to our previous successes and that will propel us in the future. At Berry Plastics, we
sincerely believe that the past is a preamble for our future. With our more than 15,000 employees, we
are confident that our team members will continue to drive our results, achieve our goals, and deliver
positive returns for our shareholders, as they always have.

Sincerely,

Jonathan D. Rich
Chairman and CEO



Total Stockholders Return Performance

The line graph below compares the performance of $100 investment in our Common Stock for
October 2012 (our initial public offering) through September 2013 with the performance of similar
investments in the Dow Jones U.S. Containers & Packaging Index and the Standard and Poor’s 500
Composite Stock Price Index, for the same period, assuming reinvestment of dividends.
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CAUTIONARY STATEMENT CONCERNING FORWARD-LOOKING STAEMENTS

This Form 10-K for the fiscal period ending Septeni®8, 2013, (“fiscal 2013") and comparable periSdptember 29,
2012, (“fiscal 2012") and October 1, 2011, (“fise@i11") contains “forward-looking statements” whiokolve risks and
uncertainties and are presented pursuant to teéhagbor provisions of the Private Securities htiigh Reform Act of 1995.
You can identify forward-looking statements becahsg contain words such as “believes,” “expectady,” “will,”
“should,” “would,” “could,” “seeks,” “approximately “intends,” “plans,” “estimates,” “anticipates:dutlook,” or “looking
forward” or similar expressions that relate to swiategy, plans or intentions. All statements ve&erelating to our
estimated and projected earnings, margins, cogieneitures, cash flows, growth rates and finamesllts or to our
expectations regarding future industry trends aredrd-looking statements. In addition, we, thfvogr senior
management, from time to time make forward-loolpnglic statements concerning our expected futueeatipns and
performance and other developments. These forleaidng statements are subject to risks and urin@gs that may
change at any time, and, therefore, our actualtsasiay differ materially from those that we exetct We derive many of
our forward-looking statements from our operatingdets and forecasts, which are based upon maaijedeassumptions.
While we believe that our assumptions are reasenala caution that it is very difficult to predtbe impact of known
factors, and it is impossible for us to anticipaitdactors that could affect our actual results.

” ” o ” K " ou ”w "«

Important factors that could cause actual resoltiffer materially from our expectations, which veder to as cautionary
statements, are disclosed under “Risk Factors'eseivhere in this Form 10-K, including, withoutiliation, in conjunction
with the forward-looking statements included irsthorm 10-K. All forward-looking information andlssequent written
and oral forward-looking statements attributablegpor to persons acting on our behalf, are egjyrgsalified in their
entirety by the cautionary statements. Some ofdtiers that we believe could affect our resuitduide:

* risks associated with our substantial indebtedaedslebt service;

¢ changes in prices and availability of resin anepthw materials and our ability to pass on chaigesv material
prices on a timely basis;

« performance of our business and future operatisigtse

*  risks related to our acquisition strategy and iraggn of acquired businesses;

¢ reliance on unpatented know-how and trade secrets;

¢ increases in the cost of compliance with laws @&ggilations, including environmental, safety, amabpction and
product laws and regulations;

«  risks related to disruptions in the overall econ@ng the financial markets may adversely impacthoginess;

» catastrophic loss of one of our key manufacturawgifies, natural disasters, and other unplannesihiess
interruptions;

*  risks of competition, including foreign competitjan our existing and future markets;

e general business and economic conditions, pantigw@a economic downturn;

e risks that our restructuring programs may entahtgr implementation costs or result in lower ceatngs than
anticipated;

« the ability of our insurance to cover fully our eotial exposures; and

« the other factors discussed in the section offibisn 10-K titled “Risk Factors.”

We caution you that the foregoing list of importéattors may not contain all of the material fasttivat are important to
you. Accordingly, investors should not place untlnce on those statements. All forward-loolstatements are based
upon information available to us on the date of thport. We undertake no obligation to publighgate or revise any
forward-looking statement as a result of new infation, future events or otherwise, except as otiservequired by law.
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Item 1. BUSINESS
(In millions of dollars, except as otherwise noted)
General

Berry Plastics Group, Inc. (“Berry” or the “Compé&hig a leading provider of value-added plasticsiomer packaging and
engineered materials with a track record of delligehigh-quality customized solutions to our custosn Our products
utilize our proprietary research and developmeatf@m, which includes a continually evolving libyaf Berry-owned
molds, patents, manufacturing techniques and téobies. We sell our solutions predominantly inbmsumer-oriented end-
markets, such as food and beverage, healthcar@easonal care. We believe our customers look tousolutions that
have high consumer impact in terms of form, funtgtend branding. Representative examples of amgugts include drink
cups, thin-wall containers, bottles, specialty etes, prescription vials, specialty films, tapedurcts, and corrosion
protection materials.

We believe that we have created one of the lapgesiuct libraries in our industry, allowing us te & comprehensive
solution provider to our customers. We have mioag 113,000 customers, which consist of a diverseofrieading national,
mid-sized regional and local specialty busines3é® size and scope of our customer network alles® introduce new
products we develop or acquire to a vast audidratad familiar with, and we believe partial toy tmand. In fiscal 2013, no
single customer represented more than 3% of net sald our top ten customers represented 18% sélest We believe
our manufacturing processes and our ability torkaye our scale to reduce expenses on items, suealvasaterials, position
us as a low-cost manufacturer relative to our caitgpe. For example, we believe based on manageestimates that we
are one of the largest global purchasers of plestios, at more than 2 billion pounds per yeaickvgives us scaled
purchasing savings.

We organize our business into four operating divisi Rigid Open Top, Rigid Closed Top, (which tbgetmake up our
Rigid Packaging business), Engineered Material$ Fexible Packaging. Additional financial infortizan about our
business segments is provided in “Management'siBssen and Analysis of Financial Condition and Resf Operations”
and the “Notes to Consolidated Financial Statenfentsich are included elsewhere in this Form 10-K.

Recent Acquisitions
Prime Label

In October 2012, the Company acquired 100% of ltlaees of Prime Label and Screen Incorporated (‘®tiabel”) for a
purchase price of $20 million. Prime Label isader in specialty re-sealable labels, includingt@mted rigid lens closure
system. The newly added business is operated @dhgany’s Flexible Packaging reporting segmemtfifance the
purchase, the Company used cash on hand and gxistidit facilities. The Prime Label acquisiticastbeen accounted for
under the purchase method of accounting, and aogbydthe preliminary purchase price has beercatked to the
identifiable assets and liabilities based on es#@rhéair values at the acquisition date. The Camgeas recognized goodwill
on this transaction as a result of expected syeergh portion of the goodwill will not be dedudélor tax purposes.

Graphic Packaging

On September 30, 2013, the Company acquired Gr&aluikaging'’s flexible plastics and films businé&rgphic”) for a
purchase price of $62 million. Graphic is a pragtuaf wraps, films, pouches, and bags for the fawetical, industrial,
personal care, and pet food markets. The newlyigtibusiness will be operated in the Companyésible Packaging
Division. To finance the purchase, the Company usesh on hand and existing credit facilities. Tnaphic acquisition
will be accounted for under the purchase methaatobunting, and accordingly, the purchase pricebsibllocated to the
identifiable assets and liabilities based on es@héair values at the acquisition date.

Recent Developments
Initial Public Offering

In October 2012, the Company completed an initidilip offering and sold 29,411,764 shares of comstook at a public
offering price of $16.00 per share. In conjunctiath the initial public offering the Company exé¢ed a 12.25 for one stock
split of the Company’s common stock. The effedhefstock split on outstanding shares and earpiegshare has been
retroactively applied to all periods presentedariBaction fees totaling $33 million were includedPaid-in capital on the
Consolidated Balance Sheets. Proceeds, net sbtrtion fees, of $438 million and cash from operetiwere used to



repurchase $455 million of 11% Senior Subordinatetes due September 2016. As part of the repuedchasCompany
paid premiums of $13 million and wrote-off $3 nailli of deferred financing fees.

Tax Receivable Agreement

In connection with the initial public offering, tli@ompany entered into an income tax receivablecageat ("TRA") that
provides for the payment to pre-initial public offeg stockholders, option holders and holders ofsbock appreciation
rights, 85% of the amount of cash savings, if @myJ.S. federal, foreign, state and local incometiat are actually realized
(or are deemed to be realized in the case of agehaincontrol) as a result of the utilization of @nd our subsidiaries’ net
operating losses attributable to periods priohtinitial public offering. The Company expectpty between $313 million
and $360 million in cash related to this agreemdhis range is based on the Company's assumptfing various items,
including valuation analysis and current tax lallne Company recorded an obligation of $313 millidrich was recognized
as a reduction of Paid-in capital on the Consdadid&alance Sheets. Changes in the estimated TRfatdn will be
recorded as Other expense (income) in the Consatidétatement of Operations. Payments under theaf&not
conditioned upon the parties' continued ownershthe@Company’s common stock. The balance atrideoéfiscal 2013
was $308 million. During fiscal 2013, the Compangde $5 million of payments related to the TRA vaithadditional $32
million being paid in the first fiscal quarter dd24.

Incremental Term Loan

In February 2013, the Company entered into an imergal assumption agreement to increase the conemismander Berry
Plastics Corporation’s existing term loan credieagnent by $1.4 billion. Berry Plastics Corporatimmrowed loans in an
aggregate principal amount equal to the full amaditihte commitments on such date. The incremeertad toans bear
interest at LIBOR plus 2.50% per annum with a LIB@#®r of 1.00%, matures in February 2020 and algest to
customary amortization. The proceeds from the mergal term loan, in addition to borrowings under tevolving credit
facility, were used to (a) satisfy and dischargefBerry Plastics Corporation’s outstanding @c8nd Priority Senior
Secured Floating Rate Notes due 2014, (ii) Firstriy Senior Secured Floating Rate Notes due 2(i1)51014% Senior
Subordinated Notes due 2016 and (iv#8idFirst Priority Senior Secured Notes due 2015, which, in each case, were called

for redemption in February 2013 and the relatedritares and (b) pay related fees and expense€drpany recognized a
$48 million loss on extinguishment of debt relaiethis debt refinancing.

Interest Rate Swap

In February 2013, the Company entered into anesteate swap transaction to protect $1 billionwtanding variable rate
term loan debt from future interest rate volatilitye agreement swapped the greater of a threehraariable LIBOR
contract or 1.00% for a fixed three-year rate 868%, with an effective date in May 2016 and exjgrain May 2019. In
June 2013, the Company elected to settle thisatarévinstrument and received $16 million as altesithis settlement.
The offset is included in Accumulated other compredive loss and Deferred income taxes and wilhbereized to Interest
expense from May 2016 through May 2019, the orlgeran of the swap agreement.

Secondary Public Offerings

In April 2013, we completed a secondary public offg in which certain funds affiliated with Apoli@lobal
Management, LLC (“Apollo”) and Graham Partners @Bam”) sold 18,975,000 shares of common stock a0®1per
share, which included 2,475,000 shares purchasduebynderwriters upon the exercise in full of thgition to purchase
additional shares. The selling stockholders resmkjproceeds from the offering, which, net of undéimng fees, totaled
$311 million. The Company received no proceedsiacurred fees of $1 million related to this offegi

In July 2013, we completed a secondary public oféein which certain funds affiliated with Apollmé Graham sold
17,250,000 shares of common stock at $21.63 pee sivhich included 2,250,000 shares purchasedéwytiderwriters
upon the exercise in full of their option to pursbadditional shares. The selling stockholdersived proceeds from the
offering, which, net of underwriting fees, tota®860 million. The Company received no proceedsiacdtred fees of
$1 million related to this offering.

Option Modification

In August 2013, the Company recorded an $8 millilmtk compensation charge related to certain meatlifns to the Berry
Plastics Group Inc. 2006 Equity Incentive Plan gredBerry Plastics Group, Inc. 2012 Long-Term IntienPlan

(collectively, the "Plans"). The modifications inde (i) accelerated vesting of all unvested optiopon an employee's death
or termination by the Company by reason of an eygg@s permanent disability, (i) in the event ofemployee’s qualified
retirement, continuation of the normal vesting pe@pplicable to the retiree's unvested optiongjedisas an extension of

the exercise period to the end of the originalytear term of the retiree's vested options andallijinvested options and
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stock appreciation rights that were subject togrernce-based vesting criteria as of January 13 g&cluding certain IRR
performance-based options) were modified to tims=daesting.

2014 Cost Reduction Plan

In November, the Company initiated a cost redugtian designed to deliver meaningful cost savimgsaptimal equipment
utilization. This plan will result in several plamttionalizations. The costs associated withptas will primarily consist of
one-time costs associated with facility consolmatincluding severance and termination benefitefoployees of
approximately $6 million, other costs associateith wkiting facilities of approximately $30 millicand non-cash asset
impairment charges of approximately $11 million.atdition, as part of this cost reduction plan@eenpany estimates it
will incur capital expenditures of approximately3®illion. Overall these facility restructuringggrams are projected to
generate approximately $27 million of annual opegesavings when fully implemented. These amoarggpreliminary
estimates based on the information currently abiglto management. The plan is expected to bgifapplemented by the
end of fiscal 2014.

Product Overview
Rigid Packaging

Our Rigid Packaging business primarily consistsaftainers, foodservice items, closures, overdagities, prescription
containers, and tubes. The largest end uses fgrambkages are consumer-oriented end markets s'fob@and beverage,
retail mass marketers, healthcare, personal care@msehold chemical. Many of our products areufaatured from
proprietary molds that we develop and own, whichbeteve would result in significant costs to oustomers to switch to a
different supplier. In addition to a complete prodiine, we have sophisticated decorating cagegsiland in-house graphic
arts and tooling departments, which allow us tegrate ourselves into, and, we believe, add sigmifivalue to, our
customers’ packaging design processes. Our priotanpetitors include Airlite, Letica, PolytaineSlgan, Aptar Group,
and Reynolds. These competitors individually adynpete on certain of our products, whereas we thféeentire selection
of rigid products described below.

Containers. We manufacture a collection of nationally brandedtainer products and also seek to develop ciztdm
container products for niche applications by legera of our state-of-the-art design, decoration gragbhic arts capabilities.
We believe this mix allows us to both achieve sigant economies of scale, while also maintaining#ractive portfolio of
specialty products. Our container capacities rdiraya four ounces to five gallons and are offeresgarious styles with
accompanying lids, bails and handles, some of wihielproduce, as well as a wide array of decorapimpns. We have
long-standing supply relationships with many oftla¢ion’s leading food and consumer products colepgan

Foodservice.We believe that we are one of the largest prosidélarge size thermoformed polypropylene (“Pé&iy
injection-molded plastic drink cups in the UnitedtBs. Our thermoform process uses PP insteadref expensive

materials in producing deep draw drink cups to ggrea cup with a competitive cost advantage. #aidilly, we produce
injection-molded plastic cups that range in sipenfrl2 to 64 ounces. Primary markets for our mabink cups are quick
service and family dining restaurants, conveniesteees, stadiums and retail stores. Many of ops ewe decorated, often as
promotional items, and we believe we have a rejppatat the industry for innovative, state-of-thé-giraphics.

Closures and Overcap3Ve believe we are a leading producer of closanesovercaps across several of our product lines,
including continuous-thread and child-resistansctes, as well as aerosol overcaps. We curregitlpr closures into
numerous end markets, including vitamin/nutritiolemical, healthcare, food/beverage, specialfypgnsonal care. In
addition to traditional closures, we are a proviofea wide selection of custom closure solutiomduiding fitments and plugs
for medical applications, cups and spouts for idauindry detergent, and dropper bulb assemblieséadlical and personal
care applications. Further, we believe that welaedeading domestic producer of injection-moldetbsol overcaps. Our
aerosol overcaps are used in a wide variety ofuzors goods including spray paints, household anebpal care products,
insecticides and numerous other commercial anducoaisproducts. We believe our technical expedigemanufacturing
capabilities provide us a low-cost position that Akbowed us to become a leading provider of higality closures and
overcaps to a diverse set of leading companiesbéfeve our manufacturing advantage is drivenunypmsition on the
forefront of various technologies, including theekt in single- and bi-injection processes, pre@peoduction of colors,
automation and vision technology, and proprietagkng technology that minimizes freight cost aradetiouse space. A
majority of our overcaps and closures are manufedtirom proprietary molds, which we design, depebnd own. In
addition to these molds, we utilize state-of-thdiaing, assembly, and decorating equipment taenh the value and
performance of our products in the market.

Bottles and Prescription Container©ur bottle and prescription container businetsggt markets similar to our closure
business. We believe, based on management edjittetewe are the leading supplier of spice coataiin the United
States and have a leadership position in variood émd beverage, vitamin and nutritional marketsyell as selling bottles
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into prescription and pharmaceutical applicatioAdditionally, we believe we are a leading suppiiethe prescription
container market, supplying a complete line of andoatainers with both one-piece and two-piecedetgbistant closures.
We offer an extensive line of stock polyethyleneE") and polyethylene terephthalate (“PET”) botftasthe vitamin and
nutritional markets. Our design capabilities, glavith internal engineering strength give us thiéitptho compete on
customized designs to provide desired differewntiefiom traditional packages. We also offer owstemers decorated
bottles with hot stamping, silk screening and laigel We sell these products to personal care npdieeutical, food and
consumer product customers.

Tubes. We offer a complete line of extruded and lamitakees in a wide variety of sizes. We believe tiratre one of the
largest suppliers of extruded plastic squeeze tnbtbe United States. Our focus and investmeametsrende to ensure that we
are able to meet the increasing trend towards Biegeeter tubes with high-end decoration. We tsweral proprietary
designs in this market that combine tube and ciothat we believe are viewed as very innovativé boappearance and
functionality, as well as from a sustainabilityretpoint. The majority of our tubes are sold inpleesonal care market,
focusing on products like facial/cold creams, shaosp conditioners, bath/shower gels, lotions, suwa,dair gels, and anti-
aging creams. We also sell our tubes into therpaiegutical and household chemical markets. We\gethat our ability to
provide creative package designs, combined withnaptementary line of closures, makes us a prefeupglier for many
customers in our target markets.

Engineered Materials

Our Engineered Materials business primarily coagi§pipeline corrosion protection solutions, taped adhesives, PE-
based film products and can liners. Our primamgetitors include AEP, Canusa, Sigma and 3M. Thgireered
Materials business primarily includes the followjmgduct groups:

Corrosion Protection ProductsWe believe we are a leading global producer tfamrosion products to infrastructure,
rehabilitation and new pipeline projects throughbetworld. We believe our products deliver supepierformance across
all climates and terrains for the purpose of sgatboupling, and rehabilitation and corrosion petite of pipelines.
Products include heat-shrinkable coatings, siragtelmulti-layer sleeves, pipeline coating tapesdarsystems for cathodic
protection, visco-elastic, and epoxy coatings. sEtgroducts are used in oil, gas, and water sugplyconstruction
applications. Our customers primarily include cactiors managing discrete construction projectsratdhe world as well
as distributors and applicators.

Tape ProductsWe believe we are a leading North American mastufar of cloth and foil tape products. Other tape
products include high-quality, high-performanceimof splicing and laminating tapes, flame-retardapes, vinyl-coated
and carton sealing tapes, electrical, double-fat®ttl, masking, mounting, OEM, and medical and isitydapes. These
products are sold under the NationaNashua®, and Polyken® brands in the United Stalepe products are sold
primarily through distributors and directly to emsers and are used predominantly in industrial, BY&utomotive,
construction, and retail market applications. ddition to serving our core tape end markets, viel®we are also a
leading producer of tapes in the niche aerospacstruiction and medical end markets. We beliezedbr success in
serving these additional markets is principally thue combination of technical and manufacturingegtise leveraged in
favor of customized applications.

Retail Bags.We manufacture and sell a diversified portfoli¢’&-based film products to end users in the retaikets.
These products are sold under leading brands suRhffies® and Film-Gard®. Our products includemcloths and retail
trash bags. These products are sold primarilytiravholesale outlets, hardware stores and hontersgpaint stores, and
mass merchandisers.

PVC Films. We believe, based on management estimates, ¢hatera world leader in PVC films offering a breachy of
PVC meat film. Our products are used primarilywtap fresh meats, poultry, and produce for supekabapplications. In
addition, we offer a line of boxed products forda®ervice and retail sales. We service many olediging supermarket
chains, club stores, and wholesalers. We believare a leading innovator and specialize in lighserge sustainable
solutions like our recent Revolution™ product loféering.

Institutional Can Liners.We sell trash-can liners and food bags for afficestaurants, schools, hospitals, hotels,
municipalities, and manufacturing facilities. Wsocesell products under the Big City®, Hospi-TuffRlas-Tuff®, Rhino-
X®, and Steel-Flex® brands.

Stretch Films.We produce both hand and machine-wrap streteis fivhich are used by end users to wrap produdts an
packages for storage and shipping. We sell stfétotproducts to distributors, retail, and indigtend users under the
MaxTech® and PalleTech® brands.

Flexible Packaging



Our Flexible Packaging division consists of highriea, multilayer film products as well as finishBelxible packages such
as printed bags and pouches. The largest endarsas flexible products are consumer-oriented eradkets such as food
and beverage, medical, and personal care. Ouapricompetitors include Printpak, Tredegar, and Beffhe Flexible
Packaging division includes the following productups:

Barrier/Sealant Films.We manufacture and sell a wide range of high&cigized, made-to-order film products ranging
from mono layer to coextruded films having up eniayers, lamination films sold primarily to flelé packaging
converters and used for peelable lid stock, stanpewches, pillow pouches, and other flexible pgrigiformats. We also
manufacture barrier films used for cereal, cookiacker, and dry mix packages that are sold dyréatfood manufacturers.
We also manufacture films for specialized indukagaplications ranging from lamination film for get padding to films
used in solar panel construction.

Personal Care FilmsWe believe we are a major supplier of componedtpackaging films used for personal care hygiene
applications predominantly sold in North Americal damtin America. The end use applications inclddposable baby
diapers, feminine care, adult incontinence, hokgital tissue and towel products. Our “LifetimeSailutions™” approach
promotes an innovation pipeline that seeks to mtegboth product and equipment design into leaddue customer and
consumer solutions.

Printed Products We are a converter of printed bags, pouchesta@istbck. Our manufacturing base includes iraéspt
extrusion that combines with printing, laminatibggmaking, Innolok®, and laser-score convertinggsses. We believe
we are a leading supplier of printed film proddotsthe fresh bakery, tortilla, and frozen vegetamiarkets with brands such
as SteamQuick® Film, Freshview™ bags, and Billb&4rd

Coated and Laminated Packaging/e manufacture specialty coated and laminatedygts for a wide variety of packaging
applications. The key end markets and applicafionsur products include food, consumer, healcadustrial and
military pouches, roll wrap, multi-wall bags, aribdr drum packaging. Our products are sold urfteMarvelGuard™ and
MarvelSeal™ brands and are predominately sold twembers who transform them into finished goods.

Marketing and Sales

We reach our large and diversified base of ovedB¢customers through our direct field sales fofagedicated
professionals and the strategic use of distribut@ngr field sales, production and support stafétwéth customers to
understand their needs and improve our productioffe and services. Our scale enables us to dediedain sales and
marketing efforts to particular products, custonmergeographic regions, when applicable, which lersals to develop
expertise that we believe is valued by our custembr addition, because we serve common Custcacenss segments, we
have the ability to efficiently utilize our saleschmarketing resources to minimize costs. Higkilexl customer service
representatives are strategically located througboufacilities to support the national field saferce. In addition, inside
sales representatives, marketing managers, arglrsalieting executives oversee the marketing ded séorts.
Manufacturing and engineering personnel work cloggth field sales personnel and customer senépeasentatives to
satisfy customers’ needs through the productidmgif-quality, value-added products and on-timeveeigs.

We believe that we have differentiated ourselvesmfcompetitors by building a reputation for higtatijy products,
customer service and innovation. Our sales teanitare customer service in an effort to ensurewetemain the primary
supplier for our key accounts. This strategy nexguus to develop and maintain strong relationshifssour customers,
including end users as well as distributors andvedars. We have a technical sales team withfggni knowledge of our
products and processes, particularly in speciafzeducts. This knowledge enables our sales amkltirag team to work
closely with our research and development orgdoizaind our customers to co-develop products amdutations to meet
specific performance requirements. This partnprapproach enables us to further expand our redtips with our existing
customer base, develop relationships with new awte and increase sales of new products.

Research, Product Development and Design

We believe our technology base and research arelogement support are among the best in the plgstickaging industry.
Using three-dimensional computer-aided design w@oigies, our full-time product designers develapowative product
designs and models for the packaging market. Wesicaulate the molding environment by running pélgétems for
injection-molding, thermoform, compression blow ding machines and blown and cast film machinesdsearch and
development of new products. Production moldgher designed and outsourced for production byuarcompanies with
which we have extensive experience and establigiatibnships or built by our in-house tooling dien located in
Evansville, Indiana. Our engineers oversee thel+hollding process from start to finish. Many of @ustomers work in
partnership with our technical representativeseteetbp new, more competitive products. We haveuecdd our
relationships with these customers by providingiéietinical service needed to develop products awedbivith our internal
graphic arts support. We also utilize our in-hogrsghic design department to develop color andsstgr new rigid
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products. Our design professionals work direcitywur customers to develop new styles and useutengenerated
graphics to enable our customers to visualizeittighied product.

Additionally, at our major technical centers, irdihg the Berry Research and Design Center in Evdmdndiana, as well
as facilities in Lancaster, Pennsylvania; Franidientucky; and Chippewa Falls, Wisconsin; we prigietnew ideas,
conduct research and development of new produdtpratesses, and qualify production systems thdirgotly to our
facilities and into production. With this combiiett of manufacturing simulation and quality systesupport we are able to
improve time to market and reduce cost. We sp2Btillion, $25 million, and $20 million on resehrand development in
fiscal 2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively.

Sources and Availability of Raw Materials

The most important raw material purchased by piastic resin. Our plastic resin purchasing stratedo conduct business

with only high-quality, dependable suppliers. Véddve that we have maintained strong relationshifis our key suppliers
and expect that such relationships will continde the foreseeable future. The resin market i®bajlmarket and, based on
our experience, we believe that adequate quantitipstic resins will be available at market psicbut we can provide no

assurances as to such availability or the pricazti.

We also purchase various other materials, includatgral and butyl rubber, tackifying resins, cheats and adhesives,
paper and packaging materials, polyester staplecotton, linerboard and kraft, woven and non-woeleth, and foil. These
materials are generally available from a numbesugipliers.

Employees

At the end of fiscal 2013, we employed over 15,80(loyees. Approximately 12% of our employeescaxered by
collective bargaining agreements. One of our tgrements, covering approximately 30 employees;iwivas scheduled
for renegotiation in fiscal 2013 is still being egotiated. The remaining agreements expire afeslf2013. Our relations
with employees remain satisfactory and there haea Imo significant work stoppages or other labgputes during the past
three years.

Patents, Trademarks and Other Intellectual Property

We rely on a combination of patents, trade seanejsatented know-how, trademarks, copyrights ahdrantellectual
property rights, nondisclosure agreements and pitoéective measures to protect our proprietatytsig While we consider
our intellectual property to be important to ousimess in the aggregate, we do not believe thairaiyidual item of our
intellectual property portfolio is material to ozurrent business. The remaining duration of oterga ranges from one to
approximately 20 years.

We employ various methods, including confidentjadihd non-disclosure agreements with third paréiegloyees and
consultants, to protect our trade secrets and kmom- We have licensed, and may license in thedyupatents, trademarks,
trade secrets, and similar proprietary rights @ faom third parties.

Environmental Matters and Government Regulation

Our past and present operations and our past asdrgrownership and operations of real propertgutgect to extensive
and changing federal, state, local, and foreigrirenmental laws and regulations pertaining to tisetthrge of materials into
the environment, handling and disposition of wasied cleanup of contaminated soil and ground watestherwise
relating to the protection of the environment. Weédeve that we are in substantial compliance ajplicable environmental
laws and regulations. However, we cannot prediit any certainty that we will not in the futuresur liability, which could
be significant under environmental statutes andlatigns with respect to noncompliance with envinental laws,
contamination of sites formerly or currently owr@dperated by us (including contamination causegrior owners and
operators of such sites) or the off-site disposatgulated materials, which could be material.

We may from time to time be required to conductediation of releases of regulated materials abeured or operated
facilities. None of our pending remediation prtgeare expected to result in material costs. hikg manufacturer, we are
also subject to the possibility that we may receistices of potential liability in connection withaterials that were sent to
third-party recycling, treatment, and/or disposailfties under the Federal Comprehensive EnvirornialdResponse,
Compensation and Liability Act of 1980, as amen@&ERCLA”"), and comparable state statutes, whichase liability for
investigation and remediation of contamination withregard to fault or the legality of the condilett contributed to the
contamination, and for damages to natural resourdesility under CERCLA is retroactive, and, undertain
circumstances, liability for the entire cost ofl@anup can be imposed on any responsible partysudo notices are
currently pending which are expected to result &iamal costs.
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The Food and Drug Administration (“FDA”) regulatee material content of direct-contact food andygrackages,
including certain packages we manufacture purdoathe Federal Food, Drug and Cosmetics Act. @eofeour products
are also regulated by the Consumer Product Safatyntission (“CPSC”) pursuant to various federal lawsluding the
Consumer Product Safety Act and the Poison PrexreRt@ckaging Act. Both the FDA and the CPSC cquire the
manufacturer of defective products to repurchaseaall such products and may also impose fingepalties on the
manufacturer. Similar laws exist in some stati#igscand other countries in which we sell our prid. In addition, laws
exist in certain states restricting the sale okpgimg with certain levels of heavy metals, impgdines and penalties for
noncompliance. Although we believe that we use FEpproved resins and pigments in our productsdinattly contact
food and drug products and believe they are in mahtmpliance with all such applicable FDA redigdas, and we believe
our products are in material compliance with apilegable requirements, we remain subject to tHethat our products could
be found not to be in compliance with such requéaets

The plastics industry, including us, is subjeatxesting and potential federal, state, local andigm legislation designed to
reduce solid wastes by requiring, among other fhiptastics to be degradable in landfills, minimlerels of recycled
content, various recycling requirements, disposaéfand limits on the use of plastic productgalticular, certain states
have enacted legislation requiring products paak&melastic containers to comply with standarderided to encourage
recycling and increased use of recycled materialsddition, various consumer and special intagesiips have lobbied
from time to time for the implementation of thesel @ther similar measures. We believe that thisllgn promulgated to
date and such initiatives to date have not hadtariabadverse effect on us. There can be no asseithat any such future
legislative or regulatory efforts or future inifisgs would not have a material adverse effect on us

Available Information

We make available, free of charge, our annual temor Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Qremnt reports on
Form 8-K and amendments, if any, to those repbrtaigh our internet website as soon as practiedtgethey have been
electronically filed with or furnished to the SEQur internet address is www.berryplastics.come ififiormation contained
on our website is not being incorporated herein.

Item 1A. RISK FACTORS
Our substantial indebtedness could affect our atyilio meet our obligations and may otherwise redtour activities.

We have a significant amount of indebtedness. fAlsenend of 2013 fiscal year, we had total indeébéss (including current
portion) of $3,946 million with cash and cash egléwts totaling $142 million. We would have bebledo borrow a
further $531 million under the revolving portiona@ir senior secured credit facilities, subjecti® olvency of our lenders
to fund their obligations and our borrowing badewdations. We are permitted by the terms of ebtdnstruments to incur
substantial additional indebtedness, subject togseictions therein. Our inability to generatéfisient cash flow to satisfy
our debt obligations, or to refinance our obligasi@n commercially reasonable terms, would havatenil adverse effect
on our business, financial condition and resultsparations.

Our substantial indebtedness could have importamerjuences. For example, it could:

« limit our ability to borrow money for our workingapital, capital expenditures, debt service requaresor other
corporate purposes;

e require us to dedicate a substantial portion ofcash flow to payments on our indebtedness, whalldweduce the
amount of cash flow available to fund working cabitapital expenditures, product development ahdraorporate
requirements;

e increase our vulnerability to general adverse esonand industry conditions; and

« limit our ability to respond to business opportigsif including growing our business through actjoiss.

In addition, the credit agreements and indentuogerging our current indebtedness contain, andwgnye debt instruments
would likely contain, financial and other restneticovenants, which will impose significant opergtand financial
restrictions on us, including restrictions on obitiy to, among other things:

¢ incur or guarantee additional debt;

¢ pay dividends and make other restricted payments;

* create or incur certain liens;

« make certain investments;

¢ engage in sales of assets and subsidiary stock;

e enter into transactions with affiliates;

« transfer all or substantially all of our assetgiier into merger or consolidation transactiond; an
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* make capital expenditures.

As a result of these covenants, we will be limitethe manner in which we conduct our businessyenchay be unable to
engage in favorable business activities or findattge operations or capital needs. Furthermofailae to comply with
these covenants could result in an event of defahith, if not cured or waived, could have a naterdverse effect on our
business, financial condition, and results of ojana.

Increases in resin prices or a shortage of availaiesin could harm our financial condition and refts of operations.

To produce our products, we use large quantitiggastic resins. Plastic resins are subject wedtuctuations, including
those arising from supply shortages and changéeiprices of natural gas, crude oil and othempbgmical intermediates
from which resins are produced. Over the pastrakyears, we have at times experienced rapidigasing resin prices. If
rapid increases in resin prices continue, our nezemd profitability may be materially and adveysdfected, both in the
short term as we attempt to pass through chandhs price of resin to customers under currenteagests and in the long
term as we negotiate new agreements or if our cwes®seek product substitution.

We source plastic resin primarily from major indystuppliers. We have long-standing relationshiji certain of these
suppliers but have not entered into a firm supphtiact with any of them. We may not be able tarage for other sources
of resin in the event of an industry-wide genenalrtage of resins used by us, or a shortage oomtistiation of certain types
of grades of resin purchased from one or more psoppliers. In addition, the largest supplietr& Company’s total resin
material requirements represented approximately @@tirchases during fiscal 2013. Any such shertagy materially
negatively impact our competitive position versampanies that are able to better or more cheapkgsaesin.

We may not be able to compete successfully andocostomers may not continue to purchase our products

We face intense competition in the sale of our patgland compete with multiple companies in eadbuofproduct lines.

We compete on the basis of a number of considestincluding price, service, quality, product etaeristics and the
ability to supply products to customers in a timsignner. Our products also compete with metassgigaper and other
packaging materials as well as plastic packagingniads made through different manufacturing preees Some of these
competitive products are not subject to the impachanges in resin prices which may have a sigamtiand negative
impact on our competitive position versus subgtifroducts. Our competitors may have financial@hdr resources that
are substantially greater than ours and may bertsgite than us to withstand higher costs. Inteoidiour success may
depend on our ability to adapt to technologicahges, and if we fail to enhance existing products@develop and introduce
new products and new production technologies imaly fashion in response to changing market canitand customer
demands, our competitive position could be matgréaid adversely affected. Furthermore, some otastomers do and
could in the future choose to manufacture the prisdihey require for themselves. Each of our prolifoes faces a different
competitive landscape. Competition could resutiinproducts losing market share or our havingduce our prices, either
of which would have a material adverse effect onbmusiness and results of operations and finanoiadiition. In addition,
since we do not have long-term arrangements witlyrofour customers, these competitive factorsccoalise our
customers to shift suppliers and/or packaging riziguickly.

We may pursue and execute acquisitions, which coattversely affect our business.

As part of our growth strategy, we plan to consttieracquisition of other companies, assets ardbptdines that either
complement or expand our existing business andeceganomic value. We cannot assure you that Wéevable to
consummate any such transactions or that any fatqeisitions will be consummated at acceptableprand terms.

We continually evaluate potential acquisition oppoities in the ordinary course of business, inclgdhose that could be
material in size and scope. Acquisitions involveuenber of special risks, including:

» the diversion of management's attention and regsuethe assimilation of the acquired companidsfaeir employees
and to the management of expanding operations;

» the incorporation of acquired products into ourdoict line;

» problems associated with maintaining relationshijpls employees and customers of acquired businesses

» the increasing demands on our operational systems;

» ability to integrate and implement effective distloe controls and procedures and internal corfvofnancial
reporting within the allowable time frame as petedtby Sarbanes-Oxley Act;

*  possible adverse effects on our reported operegsgts, particularly during the first several repm periods after such
acquisitions are completed; and

» the loss of key employees and the difficulty ofgerging a unified corporate image.
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We may become responsible for unexpected lialsilttiat we failed or were unable to discover indherse of performing
due diligence in connection with historical acdigsis and any future acquisitions. We have typiaaiquired selling
stockholders to indemnify us against certain uno$sd liabilities. However, we cannot assure yai indemnification
rights we have obtained, or will in the future abtavill be enforceable, collectible or sufficientamount, scope or duration
to fully offset the possible liabilities associateith the business or property acquired. Any ekthliabilities, individually or
in the aggregate, could have a material adversetedh our business, financial condition and resaflbperations.

In addition, we may not be able to successfullggrate future acquisitions without substantial fadlays or other
problems. The costs of such integration could lzeneterial adverse effect on our operating reanitsfinancial condition.
Although we conduct what we believe to be a prutiargl of investigation regarding the businessepurehase, in light of
the circumstances of each transaction, an unaJeitial®l of risk remains regarding the actual cbodiof these businesses.
Until we actually assume operating control of sbakinesses and their assets and operations, waaghbg able to ascertain
the actual value or understand the potential ltasiof the acquired entities and their operatiofsrthermore, we may not
realize all of the cost savings and synergies vpeebto achieve from our current strategic inNiesi due to a variety of risks,
including, but not limited to, difficulties in ingeating shared services with our business, higtaer expected employee
severance or retention costs, higher than expestthead expenses, delays in the anticipated tiofiagtivities related to
our cost-saving plans and other unexpected costeiated with operating our business. If we agbieto achieve the cost
savings or synergies that we expect to achieve fnanstrategic initiatives, it could adversely affeur business, financial
condition and results of operations.

We may not be successful in protecting our intetlesl property rights, including our unpatented projetary know-how
and trade secrets, or in avoiding claims that wéringed on the intellectual property rights of othe

In addition to relying on patent and trademarktsgive rely on unpatented proprietary know-how @ade secrets, and
employ various methods, including confidentialigr@ements with employees and consultants, custandrsuppliers to
protect our know-how and trade secrets. Howekliesa methods and our patents and trademarks mafforat complete
protection and there can be no assurance thasa#fienot independently develop the know-how aradlé secrets or
develop better production methods than us. Fyriinemay not be able to deter current and formgi@yees, contractors
and other parties from breaching confidentialitye@gnents and misappropriating proprietary inforamaénd it is possible
that third parties may copy or otherwise obtain asel our information and proprietary technologyhaitt authorization or
otherwise infringe on our intellectual propertyhtigs  Additionally, we have licensed, and may lgem the future, patents,
trademarks, trade secrets, and similar proprieighys to third parties. While we attempt to emstinat our intellectual
property and similar proprietary rights are pratdoivhen entering into business relationships, farties may take actions
that could materially and adversely affect our tighr the value of our intellectual property, samiproprietary rights or
reputation. In the future, we may also rely oigdition to enforce our intellectual property rightsd contractual rights, and,
if not successful, we may not be able to protezttidue of our intellectual property. Any litigati could be protracted and
costly and could have a material adverse effeciusrbusiness and results of operations regardféssautcome.

Our success depends in part on our ability to nptailicense from third parties, patents, tradémdrade secrets and
similar proprietary rights without infringing onelproprietary rights of third parties. Although baieve our intellectual
property rights are sufficient to allow us to coadour business without incurring liability to tHiparties, our products may
infringe on the intellectual property rights of Bymersons. Furthermore, no assurance can be thisewe will not be

subject to claims asserting the infringement ofitielectual property rights of third parties sisekdamages, the payment of
royalties or licensing fees and/or injunctions aghihe sale of our products. Any such litigatonld be protracted and
costly and could have a material adverse effectusrbusiness, financial condition and results afrations.

Current and future environmental and other governmigl requirements could adversely affect our finaatcondition
and our ability to conduct our business.

Our operations are subject to federal, state, lacal foreign environmental laws and regulatiomas itnpose limitations on
the discharge of pollutants into the air and wagstablish standards for the treatment, storageliapdsal of solid and
hazardous wastes and require cleanup of contardis@és. While we have not been required histllyita make significant
capital expenditures in order to comply with apgihie environmental laws and regulations, we capreatict with any
certainty our future capital expenditure requiretadrecause of continually changing compliance statsdand
environmental technology. Furthermore, violationsontaminated sites that we do not know aboutyding
contamination caused by prior owners and operafmsach sites or newly discovered information) daeisult in additional
compliance or remediation costs or other liabgitiwhich could be material. We have limited insgecoverage for
potential environmental liabilities associated witktoric and current operations and we do notguatie increasing such
coverage in the future. We may also assume signifienvironmental liabilities in acquisitions. dddition, federal, state,
local, and foreign governments could enact lawggulations concerning environmental matters thaease the cost of
producing, or otherwise adversely affect the dermandlastic products. Legislation that would Ipitwt, tax or restrict the
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sale or use of certain types of plastic and othatainers, and would require diversion of solid ieasuch as packaging
materials from disposal in landfills, has been ayrbe introduced in the U.S. Congress, state &gigls, and other
legislative bodies. While container legislatiors lieeen adopted in a few jurisdictions, similardkgion has been defeated in
public referenda in several states, local electamtsmany state and local legislative sessionthoAgh we believe that the
laws promulgated to date have not had a matenedrad effect on us, there can be no assuranckithet legislation or
regulation would not have a material adverse etinais. Furthermore, a decline in consumer pneéeréor plastic products
due to environmental considerations could havegathe effect on our business.

The Food and Drug Administration, which we refeasothe FDA, regulates the material content ottticentact food and
drug packages we manufacture pursuant to the Hee®rd, Drug and Cosmetic Act. Furthermore, sofreuo products are
regulated by the Consumer Product Safety Commissibich we refer to as the CPSC, pursuant to variederal laws,
including the Consumer Product Safety Act and thisdn Prevention Packaging Act. Both the FDA d&@@PSC can
require the manufacturer of defective productefmurchase or recall these products and may alsosirimes or penalties
on the manufacturer. Similar laws exist in soragest, cities and other countries in which we gellipcts. In addition, laws
exist in certain states restricting the sale okpgng with certain levels of heavy metals and isipg fines and penalties for
noncompliance. Although we use FDA-approved resitgspigments in our products that directly conttaotl and drug
products and we believe our products are in mamsiapliance with all applicable requirements, wmain subject to the
risk that our products could be found not to bedmpliance with these and other requirements. cAlref any of our
products or any fines and penalties imposed inection with noncompliance could have a materiallyesise effect on us.
See “Business—Environmental Matters and GoverniRegulation.”

In the event of a catastrophic loss of one of owgkmanufacturing facilities, our business would beversely affected.

While we manufacture our products in a large nunalbeliversified facilities and maintain insuranaering our facilities,
including business interruption insurance, a catphic loss of the use of all or a portion of ofiear key manufacturing
facilities due to accident, labor issues, weatbediions, natural disaster or otherwise, whethertsor long-term, could
have a material adverse effect on us.

Goodwill and other intangibles represent a signdict amount of our net worth, and a future write-ofould result in
lower reported net income and a reduction of ourteorth.

As of the end of our 2013 fiscal year, the netealfiour goodwill and other intangibles was $2,58ion. We are no
longer required or permitted to amortize goodveflected on our balance sheet. We are, howeguiresl to evaluate
goodwill reflected on our balance sheet when cistances indicate a potential impairment, or at i@asually, under the
impairment testing guidelines outlined in the stadd Future changes in the cost of capital, execash flows, or other
factors may cause our goodwill to be impaired, ltegpin a non-cash charge against results of dipgsto write off
goodwill for the amount of impairment. If a futuseite-off is required, the charge could have aamal adverse effect on
our reported results of operations and net worthérmperiod of any such write-off.

Disruptions in the overall economy and the finantimarkets may adversely impact our business.

Our industry is affected by current economic fagtorcluding the deterioration of national, regipaad local economic
conditions, declines in employment levels, andtshif consumer spending patterns. Disruptionséroverall economy and
volatility in the financial markets could reducensamer confidence in the economy, negatively a@ffgaonsumer spending,
which could be harmful to our financial positiordaresults of operations. As a result, decreassl ftaw generated from
our business may adversely affect our financiaitiposand our ability to fund our operations. bidition, macroeconomic
disruptions, as well as the restructuring of vasioammercial and investment banking organizaticosid adversely affect
our ability to access the credit markets. Theughson in the credit markets may also adverselgcfthe availability of
financing for our operations. There can be norasse that government responses to the disrugtiahe financial markets
will restore consumer confidence, stabilize thekaia;, or increase liquidity and the availabilityooédit.

We had net losses in recent years and we may ngirbtable in the future.

We generated net income in three of our last fs@af years, and during the remaining two fiscalrgewe incurred net
losses of over $100 million per year. We may naiegate net income from operations in the futurd,@mtinuing net losses
may limit our ability to execute our strategy. fas contributing to our financial performance ira# non-cash impairment
charges, depreciation/amortization on our longliitangible and intangible assets, interest expenseir debt obligations as
well as other factors more fully disclosed in “Mgaaent’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Ctodiand Results of
Operations.”

We are a holding company and rely on dividends arttler payments, advances and transfers of fundsyrour
subsidiaries to meet our obligations and pay divids.
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Berry Plastics Group, Inc. has no direct operatans no significant assets other than ownershi0%s of the stock of
Berry Plastics Corporation. Because Berry Plagicaip, Inc. conducts its operations through itslilries, it depends on
those entities for dividends and other paymentet®rate the funds necessary to meet its finaolsiigations, and to pay
any dividends with respect to our common stockalegd contractual restrictions in the agreemeo¥eming current and
future indebtedness of Berry Plastics Group, Ireuissidiaries, as well as the financial conditiod aperating requirements
of Berry Plastics Group, Inc.’s subsidiaries, mayt|Berry Plastics Group, Inc.’s ability to obtatash from its subsidiaries.
The earnings from, or other available assets afyB#&astics Group, Inc.’s subsidiaries may nosuiicient to pay
dividends or make distributions or loans to en&8aey Plastics Group, Inc. to pay dividends goiogvard.

Apollo controls us, and its interests may confligith or differ from your interests.

Funds affiliated with our equity sponsor, ApollooBal Management, LLC (“Apollo”) indirectly benefidly own
approximately 29% of our common stock. Under tinersded and restated stockholders agreement thettered into in
connection with our initial public offering, so lgras Apollo and its affiliates continue to inditgawn a significant amount
of our equity, even at its current ownership letredy will continue to be able to strongly influenar control our business
decisions, including through the designation ofafour director nominees and the requirementdhetain matters,
including mergers and acquisitions, issuance oitegnd incurrence of debt, be approved by a nigjofithe directors
nominated by Apollo voting on the matter so long\asllo beneficially owns at least 25% of our oatgling common stock.
Therefore, Apollo effectively has the ability teepent any transaction that requires the approvalipBoard of Directors or
our stockholders, including the approval of sigmifit corporate transactions such as mergers aisdithef substantially all
of our assets. Thus, Apollo will continue to beestol significantly influence or effectively contralir decisions which could
conflict with the interests of other users of thtigsm 10-K.

The requirements of having a class of publicly tredlequity securities may strain our resources afgtrdct management.

As a company with publicly traded equity securjti#e are subject to additional reporting requiretsiefithe Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, or the Exchange Act and trb&hes-Oxley Act of 2002, which we refer to as‘8arbanes-Oxley
Act.” The Sarbanes-Oxley Act requires that we na@ineffective disclosure controls and proceduresiaternal control for
financial reporting. In future years, our indepemidpublic accountants auditing our financial stegets will be required to
attest to the effectiveness of our internal corax@r financial reporting. In order to continuenaintain the effectiveness of
our disclosure controls and procedures and inteoratol over financial reporting significant resoes and management
oversight is required. Furthermore, if we are Um#d conclude that our disclosure controls andguares and internal
control over financial reporting are effective jfoour independent public accounting firm is unatalgrovide us with an
ungualified report as to management'’s assessmémé @fffectiveness of our internal control oveafinial reporting in future
years, investors may lose confidence in our fireneports and our stock price may decline.

In addition, the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform &whsumer Protection Act, which we refer to as “Dédank” and which
amended the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and other fedeva) lzas created uncertainty for public companied vée cannot predict
with any certainty the requirements of the regatatithat will ultimately be adopted under Dodd-kranhow such
regulations will affect the cost of compliance éocompany with publicly traded common stock. Theiikely to be
continuing uncertainty regarding compliance matbersause the application of these laws and regnfativhich are subject
to varying interpretations, may evolve over timanew guidance is provided by regulatory and goveribiodies. We intend
to invest resources to comply with these evolvawsl and regulations, which will result in increagederal and
administrative expenses and divert management&saimd attention from other business concerns h&umbre, if our
compliance efforts differ from the activities tmagulatory and governing bodies expect or intereltdlambiguities related
to interpretation or practice, we may face legatpedings initiated by such regulatory or goveriodies and our business
may be harmed. In addition, new rules and reguiatmay make it more difficult for us to attractiamtain qualified
directors and officers and will make it more expem$or us to obtain director and officer liabilitysurance.

We are required to pay our existing owners for @t tax benefits, which amounts are expected tonheterial.

We have entered into an income tax receivable agpeewith our pre-initial public offering stockhels, option holders and
holders of our stock appreciation rights that pilesifor the payment by us to such stockholder&%f 8f the amount of
cash savings, if any, in U.S. federal, foreigntestand local income tax that we and our subsidiaatually realize as a result
of the utilization of our net operating lossesibtitable to periods prior to our initial public effng.

These payment obligations are our obligations andbligations of any of our subsidiaries. The akttuilization of net
operating losses as well as the timing of any paysnender the income tax receivable agreementaiijl depending upon a
number of factors, including the amount, charaatef timing of our and our subsidiaries’ taxableome in the future.

We expect that the payments we make under thisriadex receivable agreement will be material. Assgmo material
changes in the relevant tax law, and that we andwhsidiaries earn sufficient income to realiz=fthil tax benefits subject
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to the income tax receivable agreement, we expatfuture payments under the income tax receivadpieement will
aggregate to between $313 million and $360 millfoough 2017.

During fiscal 2013, we made $5 million of paymemsted to the TRA with an additional $32 millioaigh in the first fiscal
quarter of 2014.

Any future changes in the realizability of our nperating loss carry forwards that were generatied { our initial public
offering will impact the amount of the liabilityahwill be paid to our pre-initial public offerirghareholders, option holders
or holders of our stock appreciation rights. Charigghe realizability of these tax assets arerdsmbin income tax expense
(benefit) and any changes in the obligation unideiricome tax receivable agreement is recordethar tncome (expense).
Based on our current taxable income estimates xpeceto repay the majority of this obligation bg tend of our 2016
fiscal year.

In addition, the income tax receivable agreememnitiges that upon certain mergers, stock and aatest, ®ther forms of
business combinations or other changes of coiti®income tax receivable agreement will termiaaig we will be
required to make a payment equal to the presené vdlfuture payments under the income tax recehadreement, which
payment would be based on certain assumptionsidimg) those relating to our and our subsidiariggire taxable income.
In these situations, our obligations under thenmedax receivable agreement could have a substaatjative impact on our
liquidity and could have the effect of delayingfeteing or preventing certain mergers, asset satbgr forms of business
combinations or other changes of control.

For tax reasons, special timing rules will applyp&yments associated with stock options and stogkeaiation rights. Such
payments will generally be deemed invested in nat account rather than made on the schedulesgratydates, and the
account will be distributed on the fifth annivessaf the initial public offering.

Our counterparties under this agreement will niohlberrse us for any payments previously made urigeincome tax
receivable agreement if such benefits are subséguisallowed (although future payments would bgisted to the extent
possible to reflect the result of such disallowands a result, in certain circumstances, paymenittd be made under the
income tax receivable agreement in excess of alr e savings.

Our international sales and operations are subjéatapplicable laws relating to trade, export conspand foreign corrupt
practices, the violation of which could adverselffexct our operations.

We must comply with all applicable internationade, export and import laws and regulations ofthiéed States and other
countries. We are subject to export controls ati@nic sanctions laws and embargoes imposed ly.eGovernment.
Changes in trade sanctions laws may restrict osinbas practices, including cessation of businetsstees in sanctioned
countries or with sanctioned entities, and mayltésunodifications to compliance programs. We also subject to the
Foreign Corrupt Practices Act and other anti-bgibaws that generally bar bribes or unreasonalfie tgi foreign
governments or officials. We have implemented s&deds and policies to discourage these practicesibgmployees and
agents. However, our existing safeguards and pslici assure compliance and any future improvennesiysprove to be
less than effective and our employees or agentsemgage in conduct for which we might be held rasjide. If employees
violate our policies, we may be subject to regulasanctions. Violations of these laws or regulaicould result in
sanctions including fines, debarment from expdxtilpges and penalties and could adversely affecbosiness, financial
condition and results of operations.

We may not be able to achieve cost savings asultreSour restructuring efforts and productivityad cost reduction
initiatives.

From time to time we enter into cost reduction pldasigned to deliver cost savings and improvepeagnt utilization. Our
ability to achieve the anticipated cost savings@thér benefits from these initiatives within thgpected time frame is
subject to many estimates and assumptions. Adéltigrthere are many factors which affect our &ptib achieve savings as
a result of productivity and cost reduction initias, such as difficult economic conditions, inseghcosts in other areas, the
effects of and costs related to newly acquirediestimistaken assumptions, and the other riskfactkt forth herein. In
addition, any actual savings may be balanced bginental costs that were not foreseen at the tirtreeaestructuring or
cost reduction initiatives. As a result, anticipbsavings may not be achieved on the timetableetksi at all. Additionally,
while we execute these restructuring activitieadbieve these savings, it is possible that ountiite may be diverted from
our ongoing operations which may have a negatiy@a@non our ongoing operations.
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ltem 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
None
ltem 2. PROPERTIES

We lease or own our principal offices and manufamtufacilities. We believe that our property aguipment is well-
maintained, in good operating condition and adexjfaatour present needs. As of the end of fis6aB2the locations of our
principal manufacturing facilities, by country, @®follows: United States—68 locations (39 Rigatkaging, 17
Engineered Materials, 12 Flexible Packaging); Canad locations (1 Rigid Packaging, 2 Engineered Nl 1 Flexible
Packaging); Mexico—3 locations (2 Engineered Matsyil Flexible Packaging); India, The Netherlazod Belgium
(Engineered Materials); Germany and Australia (Regied Materials); and Brazil and Malaysia (Rigidliaging). The
Evansville, Indiana facility serves as our worldtguarters.

We lease our facilities in the following locationSvansville, Indiana; Louisville, Kentucky; Lawie® Kansas; Peosta,
lowa; Phoenix, Arizona; Quad Cities, lowa; Philbpsg, New Jersey; Bloomington, Indiana; Chicagmdis; Bowling
Green, Kentucky; Syracuse, New York; Jackson, Tesees Anaheim, California; Aurora, lllinois; CrampuNew Jersey;
Charlotte, North Carolina; Easthampton, Massacksjdeithrop, California; Hanover, Maryland; Tacoié&ashington;
Baltimore, Maryland; Chippewa Falls, Wisconsin;ahtla, Georgia; Mexico City, Mexico; and Dunkirk,wW¥ork.

Item 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

We are party to various legal proceedings involvimgfine claims which are incidental to our businédthough our legal
and financial liability with respect to such prode®s cannot be estimated with certainty, we belidat any ultimate
liability would not be material to the businessaficial condition, results of operations or castvél

Item 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES
Not applicable.
PART I
Item 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED ST OCKHOLDER

Our common stock commenced trading on the New ®tokk Exchange under the symbol “BERY” on Octohet042.
The following table sets forth, for the periodsigaded, the high and low sales prices per shaoeio€ommon stock reported
on the New York Stock Exchange.

Fiscal 2013
High Low
1st quarter (since October 4, 2012).......... $16.01 $13.48
2nd quArEr.....cooveieceeeeee e 19.77 16.15
3rd quarter ........cccceeevvvvee e 2415 17.0z
Ath qUANET ..o 24.99 19.71

In conjunction with the initial public offering tttompany executed a 12.25 for one stock split@fGbmpany’s common
stock.

As of the date of this filing there were approxietatl59 record holders of the common stock butestanate the number of
beneficial stockholders to be much higher as a murobour shares are held by brokers or dealerthé&r customers in street
name.

During fiscal 2013 we did not declare or pay arshadividends on our common stock. Any future detesition as to the
declaration and payment of dividends, if any, Wélat the discretion of our board of directors aillddepend on then
existing conditions, including our financial conalit, operating results, contractual restrictiorgitl requirements, business
prospects, and other factors our board of directarg deem relevant.

Purchases of Equity Securities by the Issuer and Aliated Purchasers
There were no shares of our common stock repurdithging the fourth fiscal quarter.

Item 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA
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Fiscal 2013 Fiscal 2012 Fiscal 2011 Fiscal 2010 Fiscal 2009
Statement of Operations Data:
Net sales $ 4,647 4,766 4,561 $ 4,257 $ 3,187
Cost of goods sold 3,835 3,984 3,908 3,705 2,659
Selling, general and administrai 307 317 284 280 23E
Amortization of intangibles 105 109 106 107 96
Restructuring and impairment charges (a) 14 31 221 41 11
Operating incom 386 32t 42 124 18¢
Debt extinguishment 64 — 68 — —
Other income @ () ) (27) (373)
Net interest expen 244 32¢ 321 31z 304
Net income (loss) from continuing operations

before income taxes 85 4 (346) (162) 255
Income tarexpensebenefi) 28 2 (47) (49) 9¢
Discontinued operations, net of tax — — — — 4
Net income (loss) $ 57 2 (299) $ (113) $ 152
Comprehensive income (loss) % S€ 3 (324 $ (112 $ 12¢
Net income (loss) available to Common
Stockholders:

Basic $ 050 0.02 $  (355) $ (134 $ 1.80
Diluted 0.48 0.02 (3.55) (1.34) 1.79
Balance Sheet Data (at period end):
Cash and cash equivalents $ 142 87 42 $ 148 $ 10
Property, plant and equipment 1,266 1,216 1,250 1,146 875
Total assets 5,135 5,106 5,217 5,344 4,216
Long-term debt obligations, less current portion 3,875 4,431 4,581 4,397 3,422
Total liabilities 5,331 5,558 5,668 5,474 4,236
Redeemable shares — 23 16 11 —
Stockholders’ equity (deficit) (196) (475) (467) (1412) (20)
Cash Flow and other Financial Data:
Net cash from operating activities $ 464 479 327 $ 112 $ 413
Net cash from investing activiti (24%) (255, (523, (852 (195,
Net cash from financing activities (164) (179) 90 878 (398)

(a) Includes a goodwill impairment charge of $165 miilin fiscal 2011

Iltem 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF

OPERATIONS

You should read the following discussion in cogjiom with the consolidated financial statementBerfry Plastics Group,
Inc. and its subsidiaries and the accompanyingsithiereto, which information is included elsewhssgein. This
discussion contains forward-looking statementsiamdlves numerous risks and uncertainties, inclgdbut not limited to,
those described in the “Risk Factors” section. @utual results may differ materially from thos@&@ined in any forward-

looking statements.

Overview

Berry Plastics Group, Inc. (“Berry” or the “Compé&hig a leading provider of value-added plasticsuimer packaging and
engineered materials with a track record of deligehigh-quality customized solutions to our custesn Our products
utilize our proprietary research and developmesaif@im, which includes a continually evolving libyaf Berry-owned
molds, patents, manufacturing techniques and téabies. We sell our solutions predominantly inbmsumer-oriented end-
markets, such as food and beverage, healthcangeasonal care. We believe our customers look forusolutions that
have high consumer impact in terms of form, funcod branding. Representative examples of owlyate include drink
cups, thin-wall containers, bottles, specialty ates, prescription vials, specialty films, tapedarcts and corrosion

protection solutions.

We believe that we have created one of the laggesiuct libraries in our industry, allowing us te & comprehensive
solution provider to our customers. We have mioaa 113,000 customers, which consist of a diverseofrieading national,
mid-sized regional and local specialty busines3é® size and scope of our customer network all®wountroduce new
products we develop or acquire to a vast audidratad familiar with, and we believe partial toy dwand. In fiscal 2013, no
single customer represented more than 3% of rnet sald our top ten customers represented 18% sélest We believe
our manufacturing processes and our ability torkaye our scale to reduce expenses on items, sueaklvasaterials, position
us as a low-cost manufacturer relative to our caitagpe. For example, we believe based on manageestéimates that we
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are one of the largest global purchasers of plestios, at more than 2 billion pounds per yeaickvgives us scaled
purchasing savings.

Executive Summary

Business.We operate in the following four segments: RiQigen Top, Rigid Closed Top (together our Rigid Raahg
business), Engineered Materials, and Flexible Ryca The Rigid Packaging business sells primadiytainers,
foodservice items, closures, overcaps, bottlescpipion containers, and tubes. Our Engineerettiidds segment
primarily sells pipeline corrosion protection saass, tapes and adhesives, PE-based film prododtsan liners. The
Flexible Packaging segment sells high barrier, itay#r film products as well as finished flexiblaegkages such as printed
bags and pouches.

Raw Material TrendsOur primary raw material is plastic resin. Pobylene and polyethylene account for the majafty
our plastic resin purchases. Plastic resins djeatto price fluctuations, including those anisfrom supply shortages and
changes in the prices of natural gas, crude oilatiner petrochemical intermediates from which resire produced. The
average industry prices, as published in Chem [Patgpound were as follows by fiscal year:

Polyethylene Butene Film Polypropylene
2013 2012 2011 2013 2012 2011
ISt quUArter.......occoeeveeeeeeeeeeeveereeeeeee $.69 $.68 $.68 $.76 $.79 $.78
2nd quarter 74 .76 72 .96 .88 .95
3rd quarter 77 Ny 7S .84 .8t 1.0¢
Ath quarter........ccceeeveeeeeee e .79 .68 .73 .89 71 .98

Due to differences in the timing of passing throvegin cost changes to our customers on escaletesfchlator programs,
segments are negatively impacted in the shortweren plastic resin costs increase and are positinglacted when plastic
resin costs decrease. Recently, the Company hdes pnagress towards shortening these timing lagsyé still have a
number of customers whose prices adjust quartetss frequent based on various index pricess flining lag in passing
through raw material cost changes could affecresults as plastic resin costs fluctuate.

Outlook. The Company is impacted by general economic ahakirial growth, plastic resin availability andcaflability,
and general industrial production. Our businessbiuth geographic and end market diversity, whictuces the effect of
any one of these factors on our overall performar@er results are affected by our ability to ptassugh raw material cost
changes to our customers, improve manufacturindymtovity and adapt to volume changes of our custsmWe seek to
improve our overall profitability by implementingst reduction programs associated with our manufiagf, selling and
general and administrative expenses.

In November 2013, the Company initiated a costetdn plan designed to deliver meaningful costrsgsiand optimal
equipment utilization. This plan will result in sFal plant rationalizations. The costs associaiédthis plan will primarily
consist of one-time costs associated with faaildgsolidation, including severance and terminabienefits for employees of
approximately $6 million, other costs associateith wkiting facilities of approximately $30 millicand non-cash asset
impairment charges of approximately $11 million.atdition, as part of this cost reduction plan@eapany estimates it
will incur capital expenditures of approximately3®illion. Overall these facility restructuringggrams are projected to
generate approximately $27 million of annual opegasavings when fully implemented. These amoargspreliminary
estimates based on the information currently abiglto management. The plan is expected to bgifapplemented by the
end of fiscal 2014.

Recent Developments
Initial Public Offering

In October 2012, the Company completed an initidlip offering and sold 29,411,764 shares of comstonk at a public
offering price of $16.00 per share. In conjunctigth the initial public offering the Company exéed a 12.25 for one stock
split of the Company’s common stock. The effedhefstock split on outstanding shares and earpiegshare has been
retroactively applied to all periods presentedariBaction fees totaling $33 million were includedPaid-in capital on the
Consolidated Balance Sheets. Proceeds, net sbrtion fees, of $438 million and cash from operetiwere used to
repurchase $455 million of 11% Senior Subordinatetes due September 2016. As part of the repuedhasCompany
paid premiums of $13 million and wrote-off $3 nali of deferred financing fees.

Tax Receivable Agreement
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In connection with the initial public offering, tli@ompany entered into an income tax receivablecageat ("TRA") that
provides for the payment to pre-initial public offegy stockholders, option holders and holders ofstock appreciation
rights, 85% of the amount of cash savings, if @amyJ.S. federal, foreign, state and local incometiat are actually realized
(or are deemed to be realized in the case of agehaincontrol) as a result of the utilization of @nd our subsidiaries’ net
operating losses attributable to periods priohtinitial public offering. The Company expectpty between $313 million
and $360 million in cash related to this agreemdis range is based on the Company's assumptfing various items,
including valuation analysis and current tax lallne Company recorded an obligation of $313 millidrich was recognized
as a reduction of Paid-in capital on the Consdaid&alance Sheets. Changes in the estimated TRfatdn will be
recorded as Other expense (income) in the Congatidstatement of Operations. Payments under theaf&not
conditioned upon the parties' continued ownershth@Company. The balance at the end of fiscaB2@as $308 million.
During fiscal 2013, the Company made $5 milliopajments related to the TRA with an additional 8#on being paid
in the first fiscal quarter of 2014.

Incremental Term Loan

In February 2013, the Company entered into an imergal assumption agreement to increase the conemismander Berry
Plastics Corporation’s existing term loan credieagnent by $1.4 billion. Berry Plastics Corporatimmrowed loans in an
aggregate principal amount equal to the full amaditihte commitments on such date. The incremeertad toans bear
interest at LIBOR plus 2.50% per annum with a LIB@#®r of 1.00%, matures in February 2020 and algest to
customary amortization. The proceeds from the mergal term loan, in addition to borrowings under tevolving credit
facility, were used to (a) satisfy and dischargefBerry Plastics Corporation’s outstanding @c8nd Priority Senior
Secured Floating Rate Notes due 2014, (ii) Firstriy Senior Secured Floating Rate Notes due 2(i151014% Senior
Subordinated Notes due 2016 and (iVi8dFirst Priority Senior Secured Notes due 2015, which, in each case, were called

for redemption in February 2013 and the relatedritares and (b) pay related fees and expense€drpany recognized a
$48 million loss on extinguishment of debt relaiethis debt refinancing.

Interest Rate Swap

In February 2013, the Company entered into anesteate swap transaction to protect $1 billionwbtanding variable rate
term loan debt from future interest rate volatilitye agreement swapped the greater of a threehraariable LIBOR
contract or 1.00% for a fixed three-year rate 868%, with an effective date in May 2016 and exjgrain May 2019. In
June 2013, the Company elected to settle thisaterévinstrument and received $16 million as altesithis settlement.
The offset is included in Accumulated other compredive loss and Deferred income taxes and wilhberéized to Interest
expense from May 2016 through May 2019, the orlgeran of the swap agreement.

Secondary Public Offerings

In April 2013, we completed a secondary public iffg in which certain funds affiliated with Apollend Graham sold
18,975,000 shares of common stock at $17.00 pee sivhich included 2,475,000 shares purchasedéwytiderwriters
upon the exercise in full of their option to pursbadditional shares. The selling stockholdersived proceeds from the
offering, which, net of underwriting fees, tota811 million. The Company received no proceedsiaadrred fees of
$1 million related to this offering.

In July 2013, we completed a secondary public oféein which certain funds affiliated with Apollmd Graham sold
17,250,000 shares of common stock at $21.63 pee sivhich included 2,250,000 shares purchasedéwytiderwriters
upon the exercise in full of their option to pursbadditional shares. The selling stockholdemsived proceeds from the
offering, which, net of underwriting fees, tota®860 million. The Company received no proceedsiacdtred fees of
$1 million related to this offering.

Option Modification

In August 2013, the Company recorded an $8 millimtk compensation charge related to certain meadidns to the Berry
Plastics Group Inc. 2006 Equity Incentive Plan gredBerry Plastics Group, Inc. 2012 Long-Term IntienPlan

(collectively, the "Plans™). The modifications linde (i) accelerated vesting of all unvested ogtiopon an employee's death
or termination by the Company by reason of an eygg@s permanent disability, (i) in the event ofemployee’s qualified
retirement, continuation of the normal vesting pe@pplicable to the retiree's unvested optiongjedisas an extension of

the exercise period to the end of the originalytear term of the retiree's vested options andallijinvested options and
stock appreciation rights that were subject togrerince-based vesting criteria as of January 13 g&cluding certain IRR
performance-based options) were modified to timsedaesting.

Recent Acquisitions
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We have a long history of acquiring and integratogipanies. We maintain an opportunistic acqaisiitrategy, which is
focused on improving our long-term financial penfiance, enhancing our market positions and expamdingroduct lines
or, in some cases, providing us with a new or cemghtary product line. In our acquisitions, wekdeebtain businesses
for attractive post-synergy multiples, creatingueador our stockholders from synergy realizatienekaging the acquired
products across our customer base, creating néfomtes for future growth, and assuming best prastftom the businesses
we acquire.

The Company has included the expected benefitsgpfigition integrations within our unrealized sygies, which are in turn
recognized in earnings after an acquisition has bdly integrated. While the expected benefitseamings is estimated at
the commencement of each transaction, once theixeof the plan and integration occur, we aresgaity unable to
accurately estimate or track what the ultimateatfféave been due to system integrations and masmgactivities to
multiple facilities. As historical business comdgiions have not allowed us to accurately sepaealezed synergies
compared to what was initially identified, we measilne synergy realization based on the overathsegprofitability post
integration. In connection with our acquisitiong have in the past and may in the future incurgdsarelated to reductions
and rationalizations.

We also include the expected impact of our reatrirgy plans within our unrealized synergies whidhia turn recognized
in earnings after the restructuring plans are cetagl While the expected benefits on earningstimated at the
commencement of each plan, due to the nature ohétters we are generally unable to accuratelgnasti or track what the
ultimate effects have been due to movements ofiteesi to multiple facilities.

Prime Label

In October 2012, the Company acquired 100% oflaees of Prime Label and Screen Incorporated (‘®tiabel”) for a
purchase price of $20 million. Prime Label isader in specialty re-sealable labels, includingt@mted rigid lens closure
system. The newly added business is operated @ahgany’s Flexible Packaging reporting segmeuat fifance the
purchase, the Company used cash on hand and gxistidit facilities. The Prime Label acquisiticastbeen accounted for
under the purchase method of accounting, and dogtydthe preliminary purchase price has beercatked to the
identifiable assets and liabilities based on es@rhéair values at the acquisition date. The Camgeas recognized goodwill
on this transaction as a result of expected syeergh portion of the goodwill will not be dedudélfor tax purposes.

Graphic Packaging

On September 30, 2013, the Company acquired Gr&aluikaging'’s flexible plastics and films businé&rphic”) for a
purchase price of $62 million. Graphic is a praguaf wraps, films, pouches, and bags for the fowelical, industrial,
personal care, and pet food markets. The newlyigtibusiness will be operated in the Companyésible Packaging
Division. To finance the purchase, the Companyg ussh on hand and existing credit facilities. Tnaphic acquisition
will be accounted for under the purchase methaatobunting, and accordingly, the purchase pricebsibllocated to the
identifiable assets and liabilities based on es@rhéair values at the acquisition date.

Discussion of Results of Operations for Fiscal 20X3ompared to Fiscal 2012

Net Sales Net sales decreased from $4,766 million in fi204.2 to $4,647 million in fiscal 2013. This dease is primarily
attributed to lower selling prices of 1% and a wetudecline of 2% related to soft customer demasak-gver-year adverse
change in weather and reductions in raw materigtiect partially offset by acquisition volume rethte Stopaq and Prime
Label and volume gains in certain of our produstdi The following discussion in this section fles a comparison of net
sales by business segment.

Fiscal Year
2013 2012 $ Change % Change
Net sales:
Rigid Open Top ....c.coeeveeveeeeeceee e $ 1,127 $ 1,229 $ (102) (8%)
Rigid Closed TOP .....ccccceeiveeiveeieee e 1,387 1,438 (51) (4%)
Rigid Packagin..................... $ 2,51« $ 2,661 $ (153 (6%)
Engineered Materials 1,397 1,362 35 3%
Flexible Packaging.........cccccovvveiviiuerneennnnn, 736 737 1) —
Total net sales ........cccceveeriinviceeneeeneen, $ 4,647 $ 4,766 $ (119) (2%)
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Net sales in the Rigid Open Top business decrdeseds1,229 million in fiscal 2012 to $1,127 miltion fiscal 2013 as a
result of net selling price decreases of 3%, ameldecline of 2% and product realignment of 3%e Yblume decline is
primarily related to soft customer demand and ys@r-year adverse change in weather. Net sateg iRigid Closed Top
business decreased from $1,438 million in fiscdl2® $1,387 million in fiscal 2013 as a resulhef selling price decreases
of 2% and a volume decline of 2%. The volume dedls primarily attributed to general market safsand a reduction in
raw material content. The Engineered Materialsrigss net sales increased from $1,362 millionsicali 2012 to $1,397
million in fiscal 2013. Product realignment of 3ft selling price increases of 1% and acquisitmome related to Stopaq
were partially offset by 2% volume declines atttéalito soft customer demand. Net sales in theliéeRackaging business
decreased from $737 million in fiscal 2012 to $WdBion in fiscal 2013 as a result of a 2% volunezkhe attributed to
factors discussed above partially offset by actjoisvolume related to our Prime Label acquisition.

Operating Income Operating income increased from $325 million @Rfet sales) in fiscal 2012 to $386 million (8%net
sales) in fiscal 2013. This increase is primaatlyibuted to $5 million from the relationship dtrselling price to raw
material costs, $12 million decrease in depreaiatigpense excluding the impact from acquisitioBsnllion decrease in
amortization expense excluding the impact from &itipns, $8 million decrease in selling, generad administrative
expenses, $30 million decrease in business integr&3 million from acquisitions and a $11 millidecrease in non-cash
impairment charges related to exited businesséialpaoffset by $1 million decline in operatingnfermance in
manufacturing and $15 million from sales volumelides described above. The following discussiothig section
provides a comparison of operating income by bsgsisegment.

Fiscal Year
2013 2012 $ Change % Change
Operating incorr:

Rigid Open TOP ....ccevveriereereeiie e smeemere e, $ 123 $ 159 $ (36) (23%)
Rigid Closed TOpP.......ceeuerieieie et 130 95 35 37%

Rigid Packaging...........ccccceveeveuecvmemenn. $ 253 $ 254 $ 1%
Engineered Materia...........cccccvcrrvinvnnenn, 11¢€ 70 46 66%
Flexible Packaging ...........ccccevvveneinnnnnene 17 1 16 —

Total operating inCOmMe..........cccvevvenene $ 386 $ 325 $ 61 19%

Operating income for the Rigid Open Top businessedsed from $159 million (13% of net sales) indi2012 to $123
million (11% of net sales) in fiscal 2013. Thicdease is primarily attributed to a $8 million deelin the relationship of net
selling price to raw material costs, $7 millionrfreales volume declines described above, $11 millexline in operating
performance in manufacturing, $4 million increateealling, general and administrative expenses amilynattributed to
costs associated with new product innovation, $Bomiincrease in business integration expensespardillion increase in
depreciation and amortization expense. Operattmmne for the Rigid Closed Top business incre&sed $95 million (7%
of net sales) in fiscal 2012 to $130 million (9%net sales) in fiscal 2013. This increase is prilgnattributed to a $24
million decline in business integration expensésyfilion improvement in the relationship of nelliag price to raw
material costs, $6 million reduction of depreciatamd amortization expense, $2 million of improwpérating performance
in manufacturing and $6 million decrease in sejlgeneral and administrative expenses partiallyesfs4 million from sales
volume declines described above. Operating indome Engineered Materials business increased $60 million (5%
of net sales) in fiscal 2012 to $116 million (8%nef sales) in fiscal 2013. This increase is prilgnattributed to a $11
million decrease in non-cash impairment chargegedito exited businesses, $3 million from acdaisst $9 million
improvement in the relationship of net selling prio raw material costs, $9 million of improved @iimg performance in
manufacturing, $7 million decrease in selling, gahand administrative expenses, $5 million de@éaslepreciation and
amortization expense excluding the impact from &iipns and a $5 million decrease in businesgat®n expenses
partially offset by $3 million from sales volumedtiaes described above. Operating income for tbgilble Packaging
business improved from $1 million in fiscal 201257 million (2% of net sales) in fiscal 2013. §hiprovement is
primarily attributed to a $6 million reduction afifiness integration expense, $10 million reduatiotepreciation and
amortization expense and a $3 million improvemerhé relationship of net selling price to raw miatecosts partially
offset by $1 million increase of selling, genenadladministrative expenses, $1 million declineperating performance in
manufacturing and $1 million from sales volume bexs described above.

Debt ExtinguishmentDebt extinguishment was $64 million during fisc@ll3 as a result of loss on extinguishment of debt
attributed to $37 million of call premium and petiea, $19 million of deferred financing fees andnfiion of debt discount
related to the debt extinguishment that resultechfour incremental term loan capital restructueingd the use of the
proceeds from our initial public offering.

Other Income, NeDther income was $7 million in fiscal 2013 and4dis2012, respectively. These gains are attribtatede
fair value adjustment for our interest rate swaps.

20



Interest Expense, Neinterest expense decreased from $328 milliorsaaf 2012 to $244 million in fiscal 2013 primardg
the result of the interest savings that resultechfour incremental term loan capital restructuiiaitial public offering,
which proceeds were used to payoff indebtedness.

Income Tax Expenséiscal 2013, we recorded an income tax expensg®f#llion or an effective tax rate of 33%
compared to an income tax expense of $2 millioaroeffective tax rate of 50% in fiscal 2012. THedaive tax rate is
impacted by the relative impact of discrete itemd eertain international entities for which a fedluation allowance is
recognized.

Discussion of Results of Operations for Fiscal 20X2ompared to Fiscal 2011

Net Sales Net sales increased from $4,561 million in fist@l1 to $4,766 million in fiscal 2012. This ieasse is primarily
attributed to net sales from acquired business&8%f partially offset by a volume decline of 6%heTfollowing discussion
in this section provides a comparison of net dayelsusiness segment.

Fiscal Year
2012 2011 $ Change % Change
Net sales
Rigid Open Top ....c.cceeeeeeeeeeeee e $ 1,229 $ 1261 $ (32 (3%)
Rigid Closed TOp ......ccccvrverunenen 1,438 1,053 385 37%
Rigid Packaging . $ 2,667 $ 2314 $ 353 15%
Engineered Materia............cccoevrvrriviiincnncens 1,36 1,451 (89) (6%)
Flexible Packaging.........cccccovveeiviiverieennnnn, 737 796 (59) (7%)
Total Net SAIES ....coccvveeeeeeiee e, $ 4,766 $ 4561 $ 205 4%

Net sales in the Rigid Open Top business decrdeseds1,261 million in fiscal 2011 to $1,229 miltion fiscal 2012 as a
result of a volume decline of 4% partially offsgtdnet selling price increases of 1%. The volaedine is primarily
attributed to the Company pursuing a strategy fmrave profitability in products with historicallpWer margins. Net sales
in the Rigid Closed Top business increased fror@3@Lmillion in fiscal 2011 to $1,438 million in &ial 2012 primarily as a
result of net sales attributed to the Rexam SBQiattipn of 41% partially offset by a volume dediof 4%. The volume
decline is primarily attributed to general markeftisess. The Engineered Materials business res galcreased from $1,451
million in fiscal 2011 to $1,362 million in fisc&012 as a result of a volume decline of 8% paytiafiiset by net selling price
increases of 1% and net sales from acquired bisgises 1%. The volume decline is primarily atttéslito a decrease in
sales volumes due to the strategy we implementésical 2011 to improve profitability in productstivhistorically lower
margins. Net sales in the Flexible Packaging lassimecreased from $796 million in fiscal 20117487&million in fiscal
2012 as a result of a volume decline of 10% péyrtidfset by 3% net selling price increases. Thkime decline is
primarily due to a decrease in sales volumes dtfeetstrategy implemented in fiscal 2011 discusdenle.

Operating Income Operating income increased from $42 million (1Paet sales) in fiscal 2011 to $325 million (7%nett
sales) in fiscal 2012. This increase, excludimgithpact from acquisitions, is primarily attributed$59 million from the
relationship of net selling price to raw materiasts, $29 million decrease of depreciation expebkEmillion decrease in
amortization expense, $188 million decrease inf@ssi integration and impairment charges, and $Bi&mnf improved
manufacturing efficiencies partially offset by $2lion from volume declines described above, $4ioni of increased
selling, general and administrative expenses armtilin of operating loss from acquisitions. Ttygerating income from
acquisitions for periods without comparable priearactivity was negative $8 million which includ29 million of selling,
general and administrative expenses, $28 millidousfness integration expenses, $37 million of el@ption expense and
$14 million of amortization expense. The followidigcussion in this section provides a comparig@perating income by
business segment.

Fiscal Year
2012 2011 $ Change % Change
Operating income (loss):

Rigid Open TO ....ccvoveeeeeceeee e, $ 15¢ $  15E $ 4 3%
Rigid Closed Top.......cccecverueenen. 95 77 18 23%

Rigid Packaging...........ccccceveevenecvmemen. $ 254 $ 232 $ 22 9%
Engineered Materials.............cccovvessmennene 70 (71) 141 199%
Flexible Packaging .........c.cccooverveneinennncnn 1 (119) 120 101%

Total operating iNnCOMe..........ccccvevvenene $ 325 $ 42 $ 283 674%
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Operating income for the Rigid Open Top businessemsed from $155 million (12% of net sales) indi2011 to $159
million (13% of net sales) in fiscal 2012. Thisriease is primarily attributed to a $26 million irmpement in the
relationship of net selling price to raw materiasts and $12 million reduction of depreciation antbrtization expense
partially offset by a decline in manufacturing efffncies of $6 million, $17 million increase in mess integration expenses,
volume declines described above of $7 million afdrfilion increase of selling, general and admiaiste expenses.
Operating income for the Rigid Closed Top busimesseased from $77 million (7% of net sales) icdis2011 to $95
million (7% of net sales) in fiscal 2012. Thisiiease is primarily attributed to a $28 million iease of manufacturing
efficiencies, $5 million reduction of selling, geakand administrative expense, $4 million fromusitjon volume and $9
million reduction of depreciation and amortizatexpense partially offset by $2 million decreasthirelationship of net
selling price to raw material costs, $9 millionrfréhe volume decline described above and $17 mitiiancreased business
integration expense. Operating income for the Ewyed Materials business improved from a loss bfréiiflion (-5% of net
sales) in fiscal 2011 to $70 million (5% of netesalin fiscal 2012. This increase is primarilyibtited to a $18 million
improvement in the relationship of net selling prio raw material costs, $14 million of improvecggiing performance in
manufacturing, $4 million reduction of depreciatamd amortization expense and $127 million decrieelsesiness
integration and impairment charges partially offse$8 million of volume decline described abovi2 $nillion loss from
acquisition volume and $2 million increase in sgjligeneral and administrative expenses. Openatisgor the Flexible
Packaging business improved from a loss of $11m{-15% of net sales) in fiscal 2011 to $1 ioifl (0% of net sales) in
fiscal 2012. This improvement is primarily attribd to a $17 million improvement in the relatiomsbf net selling price to
raw material costs, $96 million reduction of busmetegration and impairment charges and $16omitieduction of
depreciation and amortization expense partiallgeifby $4 million from the volume decline descrilabdve, $4 million
increase of selling, general and administrativeeagp, and a $1 million decline in manufacturingcigficies.

Debt ExtinguishmentDebt extinguishment decreased by $68 million dufiscal 2012 as a result of loss on extinguishment
of debt of $68 million in fiscal 2011 attributedttte write-off of deferred fees, debt discount #relpremiums paid related to
the debt extinguishment of the Company/&8 Second Priority Senior Secured Notes.

Other Income, NeDther income was $7 million in fiscal 2012 anddis2011, respectively. These gains are attribtatede
fair value adjustment for our interest rate swaps.

Interest Expense, Netnterest expense increased slightly from $32%aniin fiscal 2011 to $328 million in fiscal 2012.

Income Tax Expense (Benefiiscal 2012, we recorded an income tax expensg ofifion or an effective tax rate of 50%
compared to an income tax benefit of $47 milliormpreffective tax rate of 14% in fiscal 2011 du¢herelative impact of
permanent items on the pre-tax income and estafdishof valuation allowance for certain foreignsies where benefits are
not expected to be realized.

Income Tax Matters

The Company had unused United States federal amptass carryforwards to offset future taxableoime of $824 million
which begin to expire in 2025 through 2031. Afisifal year end 2013, the Company had foreign petating loss
carryforwards of $117 million, which will be avdile to offset future taxable income. Alternativenimum tax credit
carryforwards of $9 million are available to thengmany indefinitely to reduce future years’ U.S e income taxes. The
net operating losses are subject to an annuabliit under guidance from the Internal Revenue Caoleever, all of the
Company’s Federal net operating loss carryforwahtsild be available for use within the next fivarge As part of the
effective tax rate calculation, if we determinetthaeferred tax asset arising from temporary iffees is not likely to be
utilized, we will establish a valuation allowanaaast that asset to record it at its expectedzadae value. The Company
has not provided a valuation allowance on its eééfal net operating loss carryforwards in the édh$tates because it has
determined that future reversals of its temporaxgible differences will occur in the same periau$ are of the same nature
as the temporary differences giving rise to thedtetl tax assets. Our valuation allowance agdefstred tax assets was
$59 million and $51 million at the end of fiscallBand 2012, respectively, related to certain §preind state deferred tax
assets.

In connection with the initial public offering, tl@mpany entered into an income tax receivablecageat that provides for
the payment to pre-initial public offering stocktiets, option holders and holders of our stock aj¢gien rights, 85% of the
amount of cash savings, if any, in U.S. federakifm, state and local income tax that are actuallfized (or are deemed to
be realized in the case of a change of contrad) r@sult of the utilization of our and our subgigisl net operating losses
attributable to periods prior to the initial pubtiffering. The Company expects to pay between $8ill®n and $360

million in cash related to this agreement. Thigyais based on the Company's assumptions usimgisdiems, including
valuation analysis and current tax law. The Corgpanorded an obligation of $313 million which wasognized as a
reduction of Paid-in capital on the ConsolidatethBee Sheets. The balance at the end of fisca 2@% $308 million.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources
Senior Secured Credit Facility

Through our wholly owned subsidiary Berry Plastisporation, we have senior secured credit faslitonsisting of $2.5
billion of term loans and a $650 million asset-lwh®/olving line of credit Credit Facility’). $1.1 billion of the term loan
matures in April 2015, $1.4 billion of the term foaatures in February 2020 and the revolving lineredit matures in June
2016, subject to certain conditions. The avaiighilnder the revolving line of credit is the lese€$650 million or a defined
borrowing base which is calculated based on availatrounts receivable and inventory. The revgilime of credit allows
up to $130 million of letters of credit to be isdupestead of borrowings under the revolving lineedit. At the end of fiscal
2013, the Company had no outstanding balance artiodving credit facility, $44 million outstandietters of credit and a
$75 million borrowing base reserve providing unusedowing capacity of $531 million under the rexng line of credit.
The Company was in compliance with all covenanteeend of fiscal 2013.

Our fixed charge coverage ratio, as defined irrélvelving credit facility, is calculated based onwamerator consisting of
Adjusted EBITDA less pro forma adjustments, incdmess paid in cash and capital expenditures, alghaminator
consisting of scheduled principal payments in respkindebtedness for borrowed money, intereseese and certain
distributions. We are obligated to sustain a mummfixed charge coverage ratio of 1.0 to 1.0 utigerevolving credit
facility at any time when the aggregate unusedappander the revolving credit facility is lessath10% of the lesser of the
revolving credit facility commitments and the baming base (and for 10 business days following tite dpon which
availability exceeds such threshold) or duringdbitinuation of an event of default. At the endigtal 2013, the Company
had unused borrowing capacity of $531 million urttierrevolving credit facility and thus was not jgabto the minimum
fixed charge coverage ratio covenant. Our fixeatgh coverage ratio was 2.2 to 1.0 at the engalf2013.

Despite not having financial maintenance covenantsgdebt agreements contain certain negative emsn The failure to
comply with these negative covenants could resirictability to incur additional indebtedness, effecquisitions, enter into
certain significant business combinations, makeibigions or redeem indebtedness. The term laaifitfy contains a
negative covenant first lien secured leverage mtienant of 4.0 to 1.0 on a pro forma basis forogosed transaction, such
as an acquisition or incurrence of additional fiest debt. Our first lien secured leverage ratis 3.2 to 1.0 at the end of
fiscal 2013.

A key financial metric utilized in the calculatiofi the first lien leverage ratio is Adjusted EBITRA& defined in the
Company’s senior secured credit facilities. THe¥ng table reconciles (i) our Adjusted EBITDA et income under
GAAP and (ii) our Adjusted Free Cash Flow to cdstvfifrom operating activities under GAAP.

Quarterly Period Ended

Fiscal 2013 September 28, 2013
Adjusted EBITDA ........ooiiieeeeeie e $ 79C $ 1¢5
Net interest expen.........ccccvvveevevenniennn (244, (56)
Depreciation and amortization (341) (83)
INCOMELAX EXPENS ... eeieeiee ettt e see e e seee e (28) (9)
Business optimization and other expense ....ccccceecveeneee. 27) (13)
Restructuring and impairmeé............coovveerveeeiieniee e (14 @)
Extinguishment of debt...........cccccoviiiiinenii (64) —
Pro forma acquISItior..........cccevieeveiiirne e 2 —
Unrealized COSt SAVINGS .....ccoveeiiiiiiieereiiee e (13) (1)
NELINCOME ...ttt $ 57 $ 26
Cash flow frorroperating activiti€ ............ccceeeeveveesieneeeee. $ 464 $ 167
Net additions to property, plant and equipment................. (221) (47)
Adjusted free cash flow ...........cccceevveeeeeccecice e $ 243 $ 120
Cash flow from investing activiti...........ccccccceevvrrrinencneenns (24%) (47)
Cash flow from financing activities ...........ccccecveevvenieeennee. (164) 4)

Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted Free Cash Flow, as@néd in this document, are supplemental finanwégsures that are
not required by, or presented in accordance wihetplly accepted accounting principles in the éthBtates (“GAAP”).
Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted Free Cash Flow are®@AAP financial measures and should not be consitlas an
alternative to operating or net income or cash $lénom operating activities, in each case deterchineccordance with
GAAP. We define “Adjusted EBITDA” as net incomegs) before depreciation and amortization, incarekpense
(benefit), interest expense (net) and certainuestring and business optimization charges andljastad for unrealized cost
reductions and acquired businesses, including liredasynergies, which are more particularly defiireour credit
documents and the indentures governing our noejssfed EBITDA is used by our lenders for debt cawrg compliance
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purposes and by our management as one of sevealires to evaluate management performance. Whilgetiermination
of appropriate adjustments in the calculation ofuateéd EBITDA is subject to interpretation undex tarms of the Credit
Facility, management believes the adjustments ithestabove are in accordance with the covenarteiCredit Facility.
Adjusted EBITDA eliminates certain charges thatbeeve do not reflect operations and underlyingragional
performance. Although we use Adjusted EBITDA amarfcial measure to assess the performance ofusimdss, the use of
Adjusted EBITDA has important limitations, includithat (1) Adjusted EBITDA does not represent fuasilable for
dividends, reinvestment or other discretionary useaccount for one-time expenses and chargefdjsted EBITDA
does not reflect cash outlays for capital expenetor contractual commitments; (3) Adjusted EBITE@es not reflect
changes in, or cash requirements for, working ag§#) Adjusted EBITDA does not reflect the intrexpense or the cash
requirements necessary to service interest oripahpayments on indebtedness; (5) Adjusted EBITdAs not reflect
income tax expense or the cash necessary to paypétaxes; (6) Adjusted EBITDA excludes depreamtiaod amortization
and, although depreciation and amortization areaamh charges, the assets being depreciated amtizachevill often have
to be replaced in the future, and Adjusted EBITDRsInot reflect cash requirements for such replantsnand (7)
Adjusted EBITDA does not reflect the impact of éags or charges resulting from matters we considéeto be indicative
of our ongoing operations.

We define “Adjusted Free Cash Flow” as cash floanfroperating activities less additions to propegstgnt and equipment.
We use Adjusted Free Cash Flow as a measure dfitigbecause it assists us in assessing our coytgoability to fund its
growth through its generation of cash. We belied@isted Free Cash Flow is useful to an investewvaiuating our liquidity
because Adjusted Free Cash Flow and similar meaaueenidely used by investors, securities anadystisother interested
parties in our industry to measure a company'sdiguwithout regard to revenue and expense redimgniwhich can vary
depending upon accounting methods. Although wetdiested Free Cash Flow as a liquidity measuressess our ability to
generate cash, the use of Adjusted Free Cash Eswuniportant limitations, including that: (1) Adjed Free Cash Flow
does not reflect the cash requirements necessagtae principal payments on our indebtedness{2nAdjusted Free
Cash Flow removes the impact of accrual basis atitmon asset accounts and non-debt liability aot

Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted Free Cash Flow mayaleulated differently by other companies, inclgdather
companies in our industry, limiting their usefulaes comparative measures. Because of these longayou should
consider Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted Free Casiwfétongside other performance measures and ligquidéasures,
including operating income, various cash flow nestrnet income and our other GAAP results.

Contractual Obligations and Off Balance Sheet Teations

Our contractual cash obligations at the end 0&fi2013 are summarized in the following table whides not give any
effect to the tax receivable agreement and incexestpayable as we cannot reasonably estimatiening of future cash
outflows associated with those commitments.

Payments due by period as of the end of fiscal 23

Total <1year 1-3years 4-S5years _>5years
Long-term debt, excluding capital
leases $3,842 $ 46 $1,141 $528 $2,127
Capital leases ( 127 3C 53 23 21
Fixed interest rate payments (b) 793 129 251 237 6 17
Variable interest rate payments (c) 340 73 109 94 4 6
Operating leas: 301 44 8C 63 114
Funding of pension and other
postretirement obligations | 7 _ 7 — — —
Total contractual cash obligations $5,410 $329 $1,634 $945 $2,502
(a) Includes anticipated interest of $15 million ovee tife of the capital leases.
(b) Includes variable rate debt subject to interestsatap agreements.
(c) Based on applicable interest rates in effect eridadl 2013.
(d) Pension and other postretirement contributions baea included in the above table for the nexafigear. The amount is the estimated

contributions to our defined benefit plans. Theuasptions used by the actuary in calculating tgeption includes weighted average
return on pension assets of approximately 8% $0afi2013. The estimation may vary based on tuala@turn on our plan assets. See
Note 9 to the Consolidated or Combined Financiie®tents of this Form 10-K for more informationtioese obligations.
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Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Net cash from operating activities was $464 milfionfiscal 2013 compared to $479 million of cakiwk from operating
activities for fiscal 2012. The change is primaaittributed to additional working capital usedistal 2013 due to higher
raw material costs partially offset by improved ig|g performance and the settlement of an inteaés hedge for $16
million.

Net cash from operating activities was $479 milfionfiscal 2012 compared to $327 million of cakiwi provided by
operating activities for fiscal 2011. The chargyprimarily the result of improved profitabilityx@uding non-cash
charges.

Cash Flows from Investing Activities

Net cash used for investing activities was $24%ianiffor fiscal 2013 compared to net cash used265$million for fiscal
2012. The change is primarily as a result of dime@ acquisition activity partially offset bydneased capital expenditures.

Net cash used for investing activities was $25%ianiffor fiscal 2012 compared to net cash useds@B#million for fiscal
2011. The change is primarily a result of highgremditures to finance acquisitions in fiscal 2@attially offset by higher
capital expenditures in fiscal 2012.

Cash Flows from Financing Activities

Net cash used for financing activities was $164ionilfor fiscal 2013 compared to $179 million okbaused for financing
activities for fiscal 2012. This change is prirhaaittributed to proceeds from issuance of comntooksand incremental
term loan capital restructure, which we utilizeaddpurchase the 11% Senior Subordinated Notesn8d&riority Senior
Secured Floating Rate Notes, First Priority SeSiecured Floating Rate Notes, 404 Senior Subordinated and 814% First
Priority Senior Secured Notes.

Net cash used for financing activities was $17%anilfor fiscal 2012 compared to $90 million of bgzrovided by financing
activities for fiscal 2011. This change is prirhasttributed to the net cash used for repaymetti@fevolving line of credit
in fiscal 2012.

We expect to pay between $313 million and $360aniltelated to the TRA through 2017. The paymange is based on
the Company's assumptions using various itemgydivgy valuation analysis and current tax law. Raytsunder the TRA
are not conditioned upon the parties' continuedessinip of the Company. During fiscal 2013, we ndSlenillion of
payments related to the TRA with an additional 8Hon being paid in the first fiscal quarter cd®4.

Based on our current level of operations, we beltbat cash flow from operations and available casfether with available
borrowings under our senior secured credit faedjtwill be adequate to meet our short-term liguideeds over the next
twelve months. We base such belief on historigpbgence and the funds available under the sepitured credit facility.
In addition we believe that we have the businas¢esly and resources to generate free cash flow dgerations in the long
term. We do not expect this free cash flow tolféicient to cover all long-term debt obligationsdaintend to refinance
these obligations prior to maturity. However, vaarot predict our future results of operations @mdability to meet our
obligations involves numerous risks and uncer@gniincluding, but not limited to, those describethe “Risk Factors”
section in this Form 10-K. In particular, increagethe cost of resin which we are unable to gassigh to our customers
on a timely basis or significant acquisitions cosdgrerely impact our liquidity. At the end of #8013, our cash balance
was $142 million, and we had unused borrowing aapat$531 million under our revolving line of afit.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

We disclose those accounting policies that we dengod be significant in determining the amountseautilized for
communicating our consolidated financial positi@sults of operations and cash flows in the fioderio our consolidated
financial statements included elsewhere herein. dBgussion and analysis of our financial conditod results of
operations are based on our consolidated finasizisd ments, which have been prepared in accordéticaccounting
principles generally accepted in the United Stalése preparation of financial statements in camfyr with these principles
requires management to make estimates and assosiiat affect amounts reported in the financatkshents and
accompanying notes. Actual results are likelyitiedfrom these estimates, but management doebeligive such
differences will materially affect our financial @ton or results of operations. We believe thatfbllowing accounting
policies are the most critical because they hagegythatest impact on the presentation of our fiashoondition and results of
operations.
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Revenue RecognitiorRevenue from the sales of products is recograzéue time title and risks and rewards of owniersh
pass to the customer (either when the product$ teadree-on-board shipping point or destinatiepehding on the
contractual terms), there is persuasive evidenems afrangement, the sales price is fixed andmietable and collection is
reasonably assured.

Accrued RebatesWe offer various rebates to our customers itnamge for their purchases. These rebate prognams a
individually negotiated with our customers and eimt variety of different terms and conditionsert@in rebates are
calculated as flat percentages of purchases, wtthikrs include tiered volume incentives. Thesatesmay be payable
monthly, quarterly, or annually. The calculatidritee accrued rebate balance involves significaantagement estimates,
especially where the terms of the rebate invoklret volume levels that require estimates of exgestnual sales. These
provisions are based on estimates derived froneotprogram requirements and historical experiefif¢e.use all available
information when calculating these reserves. @arual for customer rebates was $55 million andrBi&n as of the end
of fiscal 2013 and 2012, respectively.

Impairments of Long-Lived Asset® accordance with the guidance from the FASBHe impairment or disposal of long-
lived assets we review long-lived assets for impairt whenever events or changes in circumstandesia the carrying
amount of such assets may not be recoverable. irimgat losses are recorded on long-lived assetsinsgperations when
indicators of impairment are present and the undisied cash flows estimated to be generated by tEsets are less than
the assets’ carrying amounts. The impairmenti®sgeasured by comparing the fair value of thetdsses carrying
amount. We recognized non-cash asset impairmédotgflived assets of $5 million, $20 million an@3bmillion in fiscal
2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively.

Goodwill and Other Indefinite Lived Intangible AlsseéWe evaluate goodwill using a qualitative assesgro determine
whether it is more likely than not that the faifugof any reporting unit is less that the carryamgount. If we determine that
the fair value of the reporting unit may be lesmtits carrying amount, we evaluate goodwill usirigro-step impairment
test. Otherwise, we conclude that no impairmeintd&ated and we do not perform the two-step immpant test.

We conduct our business through four operating setgnRigid Open Top, Rigid Closed Top (collectMgigid
Packaging), Engineered Materials and Flexible Rgioka For purposes of conducting our annual golbdtwpairment test,
we have determined that we have five reportingsuigid Open Top, Rigid Closed Top, Engineeredavals, Flexible
Packaging and Tapes. Engineered Materials andsTaations comprise Engineered Materials opgraggment. We
determined that each of the components within egpective reporting units have similar economicattaristics and
therefore should be aggregated and tested atdpeative level as one reporting unit. We reachidconclusion because
within each of our reporting units, we have simgaoducts and production processes which allove share assets and
resources across the product lines. We regulesflign our production equipment and manufactuiéeiities in order to
take advantage of cost savings opportunities, istaiergies and create manufacturing efficiendiesddition, we utilize
our research and development centers, design ctygkshops, and graphics center which all probieleefits to each of the
reporting units and work on new products that aatronly benefit one product line, but can benefiltiple product lines.
We also believe that the goodwill is recoverabtarfthe overall operations of the unit given theilgirity in production
processes, synergies from leveraging the combegulirces, common raw materials, common researctiexetbpment,
similar margins and similar distribution methodaésy There were no indicators of impairment inftheth quarter that
required us to perform a test for the recoverahiiftgoodwill.

In conducting a qualitative assessment, the Compaalyzes a variety of events or factors that méyence the fair value
of the reporting unit, including, but not limiteat tthe results of prior quantitative tests perfedichanges in the carrying
amount of the reporting unit; actual and projedpdrating results, primarily focused on revenuevndrends and earnings;
relevant market data for both the company andeiés pompanies; industry outlooks; macroeconomiditions; liquidity;
changes in key personnel; and the Company’s cotimggiosition. Significant judgment is used tolease the totality of
these events and factors to make the determinatiaether it is more likely than not that the feédue of the reporting unit
is less than its carrying value.

If the qualitative assessment concludes that thestep impairment test is necessary, we first coentbee book value of a
reporting unit, including goodwill, with its fairalue. The fair value is estimated based on a rhagqgoach and a
discounted cash flow analysis, also known as tbene approach, and is reconciled back to the dumarket capitalization
for Berry Plastics to ensure that the implied colrgremium is reasonable. If the book value cd@orting unit exceeds its
fair value, we perform the second step to estimatenplied fair value of the reporting unit's godtiy allocating the fair
value of the reporting unit to all of the assetd Eabilities other than goodwill (including anyr@tognized intangible
assets). The difference between the total fairevaf the reporting unit and the fair value oftlaé assets and liabilities other
than goodwill is the implied fair value of that ghwall. The amount of impairment loss is equaltie excess of the book
value of the goodwill over the implied fair valuktiat goodwill.
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Based on the favorable results of the qualitatsgeasment conducted on the first day of our fiecath quarter, there was
no goodwill impairment charge recorded in 2013.0ill as of September 28, 2013, by reporting isés follows:

Goodwill as of
September 28, 2013

Rigid Open Top.......... $ 681
Rigid Closed To......... 831
Engineered Films....... 54
Tape:....ccoooovieieeeeinens, 19
Flexible Packaging..... 49
$ 1,634

Based on our estimated evaluation of the eventsaatols outlined above for each of our reportings) we believe that the
value of each of our reporting units is either équiar higher than last year as supported by thesth in our overall market
capitalization and total enterprise value. Furtlreconnection with our initial public offering,enare required to make
payments to our former shareholders of cash saweggenerate from use of our tax assets that dxister to our initial
public offering. The allocation of this obligatitm each of the reporting units reduced the cagrymlue of each unit in the
current year. Further, each of our reporting usitserienced growth in the market multiples usedhtoe the respective
reporting unit based on the overall growth of oarket capitalization and that of our competitord paers. Our Closed
Top, Engineered Films and Tapes reporting unite ladi\seen sales growth consistent with or in exoésur forecasts.
Further, earnings have increased as seen in otalbeperating results for the Company as moreg fudiscribed in our
management discussion and analysis. Our Rigid @pprreporting unit has seen a decline in the otrear related to
some volume losses, selling price to raw mategalides and manufacturing performance issues. elthedlines in
operating performance have been offset by the dprent and launch of the Company’s Versalite proaiich will
generate future revenues which were not contentpiatieistorical forecasts for the reporting uriturther, the Company has
undertaken certain restructuring activities whigh eonsolidate facilities and reduce costs whidh benefit long-term cash
flows from this reporting unit. Finally, the matkaultiples for the Rigid Open Top peers contimuéé strong which
continues to support that the historical valuatifmmghis reporting unit are still substantiallyescess of the carrying value.
Finally, the Flexible Packaging reporting unit séw strongest growth in market multiples across fyer group leading to
implied higher valuations. The Company has expegd lower sales and earnings estimates than altigiorecast but
given the capital expenditure investments beli¢hasearnings potential exists in this reporting.uGiven the overall
growth in our market capitalization since our alipublic offering, we believe that this suppohattit is more likely than not
that the fair value of our reporting units is mtran their carrying value.

We also performed our annual impairment test fwdli 2013 of our indefinite lived intangible assetsich relates to our
Rigid Packaging business. The cash flow assumptgnowth rates and risks to these cash flowsianitas to those used in
our analysis to determine the fair value of our leorad Rigid Packaging businesses. The annual impat test did not
result in any impairment as the fair value excedbedarrying value.

Deferred Taxes and Effective Tax Ratié¢e estimate the effective tax rateETR) and associated liabilities or assets for
each of our legal entities of ours in accordandh aithoritative guidance. We use tax planninguitimize or defer tax
liabilities to future periods. In recording ETR®darelated liabilities and assets, we rely upomeges, which are based upon
our interpretation of United States and local taxd as they apply to our legal entities and ouraMeax structure. Audits
by local tax jurisdictions, including the Unitedats Government, could yield different interpretadi from our own and
cause the Company to owe more taxes than origirediyrded. For interim periods, we accrue ouptaxision at the ETR
that we expect for the full year. As the actualits from our various businesses vary from oumeses earlier in the year,
we adjust the succeeding interim periods’ ETR&tiect our best estimate for the year-to-date tesuid for the full year.
As part of the ETR, if we determine that a defeteedasset arising from temporary differences idikely to be utilized, we
will establish a valuation allowance against tieset to record it at its expected realizable valnenultiple foreign
jurisdictions, the Company believes that it wilk generate sufficient future taxable income toizeahe related tax benefits.
The Company has provided a full valuation allowaagainst its foreign net operating losses includithin the deferred tax
assets in multiple foreign jurisdictions. The Ce@mp has not provided a valuation allowance oreiiefal net operating
losses in the United States because it has detdrthiat future reversals of its temporary taxafffer@nces will occur in the
same periods and are of the same nature as theremyplifferences giving rise to the deferred teseds. Changes in our
valuation allowance could also impact our TRA aditign. Our valuation allowance against deferrechtsets was $59
million and $51 million as of the end of fiscal Z04nd 2012, respectively.

Based on a critical assessment of our accountiticjggoand the underlying judgments and unceresdndiffecting the
application of those policies, we believe that camsolidated financial statements provide a me#wmiiagd fair perspective
of the Company and its consolidated subsidiariéss is not to suggest that other risk factors saghhanges in economic
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conditions, changes in material costs, our aliitgass through changes in material costs, andsotbeld not materially
adversely impact our consolidated financial positi@sults of operations and cash flows in futeéauals.

Item 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MA RKET RISK
Interest Rate Sensitivity

We are exposed to market risk from changes inéstaates primarily through our senior secureditfadilities. Our
senior secured credit facilities are comprised)d$Z.6 billion of term loans and (ii) a $650 nlii revolving credit
facility. At September 28, 2013, the Company hadutstanding balance on the revolving credit fi3cilThe net
outstanding balance of the term loans was $2.Bhidt September 28, 2013. Borrowings under oniosesecured credit
facilities bear interest, at our option, at eitharalternate base rate or an adjusted LIBOR rate éme-, two-, three- or
six month interest period, or a nine- or twelve-thoperiod, if available to all relevant lendersgach case, plus an
applicable margin. A 0.25% change in LIBOR woutd have a material impact on our interest expense.

In November 2010, the Company entered into tworsépanterest rate swap transactions to protedilfidn of the
outstanding variable rate term loan debt from ®iinterest rate volatility. The first agreemend laanotional amount of
$500 million and became effective in November 20TBe agreement swaps three month variable LIBOfacts for a
fixed three year rate of 0.8925% and expires inévaver 2013. The second agreement had a notiowairdamf $500
million and became effective in December 2010. d@peement swaps three month variable LIBOR catstfaca fixed
three year rate of 1.0235% and expires in Nover2b&B. The counterparties to these agreementsitrghabal financial
institutions. In August 2011, the Company begdlizung 1-month LIBOR contracts for the underlyisgnior secured credit
facility. The Company’'s change in interest raec®n caused the Company to lose hedge accoumtitpth of the
interest rate swaps. The Company recorded subsecfuznges in fair value in the Consolidated Stateraf Operations and
will amortize the unrealized losses to Interestesge through the end of the respective swap agreemé .25% change in
LIBOR would not have a material impact on the Yailue of the interest rate swaps.

In February 2013, the Company entered into angsteate swap transaction to manage cash flowbititsiaassociated with
$1 billion of outstanding variable rate term loabt The agreement swapped the greater of a thwathnaariable LIBOR
contract or 1.00% for a fixed three-year rate 868%, with an effective date in May 2016 and exjgirein May 2019. In
June 2013, the Company elected to settle thisatarévinstrument and received $16 million as altesithis settlement.
The offset is included in Accumulated other compredive loss and Deferred income taxes and wilhbereized to Interest
expense from May 2016 through May 2019, the orlgeran of the swap agreement.

Resin Cost Sensitivity

We are exposed to market risk from changes inipleetin prices that could impact our results aragions and financial
condition. Our plastic resin purchasing strategipideal with only high-quality, dependable suggli We believe that we
have maintained strong relationships with theseskgypliers and expect that such relationshipsowiitinue into the
foreseeable future. The resin market is a glolzaket and, based on our experience, we believatiegjuate quantities of
plastic resins will be available at market pridas, we can give you no assurances as to such laNigilar the prices thereof.
If the price of resin increased or decreased bys&6wvould result in a material change to our abgfoods sold.
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Item 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

Index to Financial Statements

Report of Independent Registered Public Accourfang 33
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of fiscal 2013 a@h@ 2 34
Consolidated Statements of Operations and Compseleeimcome (Loss) for fiscal 2013, 2012 and 2011 5 3
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholgtsty as of fiscal 2013, 2012 and 2011 36
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for fiscaB2@012 and 2011 37
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 38

Index to Financial Statement Schedules

All schedules have been omitted because they a@ppticable or not required or because the requim®rmation is
included in the consolidated financial statementsotes thereto.

Item 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL
DISCLOSURE

None.
Item 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Evaluation of disclosure controls and procedures.

We maintain “disclosure controls and procedures Such term is defined in Rule 13a-15(e) undeEstwhange Act, that are
designed to ensure that information required tdielosed by us in reports that we file or submiier the Exchange Act is
recorded, processed, summarized and reported wlitditime periods specified in SEC rules and foans, that such
information is accumulated and communicated tonsamagement, including our Chief Executive Officed &hief

Financial Officer, as appropriate to allow timeBcisions regarding required disclosure. In desgyaind evaluating our
disclosure controls and procedures, managemergmaes that disclosure controls and procedurematter how well
conceived and operated, can provide only reasonadii@bsolute, assurance that the objectiveseadidtiosure controls and
procedures are met. Additionally, in designing ldisare controls and procedures, our managemensserdyg was required
to apply its judgment in evaluating the cost-berrefationship of possible disclosure controls pratedures. Based on their
evaluation at the end of the period covered byRbisn 10-K, our Chief Executive Officer and Chié@h&ncial Officer have
concluded that our disclosure controls and proe=iwere effective at the reasonable assurance level

Management’s Report on Internal Control over Finaia Reporting

Management is responsible for establishing and taiaing adequate internal control over financiglaing. Because of its
inherent limitations, internal control over finaaldieporting may not prevent or detect misstatemexiso, projection of any
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods Igjet to the risk that controls may become inadigbeacause of changes in
conditions, or that the degree of compliance withfolicies or procedures may deteriorate.

Management assessed the effectiveness of the Cgimjpaiernal control over financial reporting asS#ptember 28, 2013.
The scope of management’s assessment of the effieetis of internal control over financial reporiimgjudes all of the
Company’s businesses. In making this assessmenagement used the criteria set forth by the Coramitf Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COStiernal Control — Integrated Framework. Based uifon
assessment, management believes that as of Sep@8n2013, the Company’s internal controls oveafficial reporting
were effective.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reportm

There have been no changes in our internal comiral financial reporting occurred during the fougtharter of fiscal 2013
that have materially affected, or are reasonakéhfito materially affect, our internal control ei@mancial reporting.

ltem 9B. OTHER INFORMATION
Option Modification
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In August 2013, the Company implemented certainifications to the Berry Plastics Group Inc. 20061EgIncentive Plan
and the Berry Plastics Group, Inc. 2012 Long Teroehtive Plan. See “Item 1. Business—Recent Dpugmts—Option
Modification,” which is incorporated by referencrd this ltem.

Disclosure Pursuant to Section 219 of the Iran ThteReduction and Syria Human Rights Act

Apollo has provided notice to us that, as of Oatdlgke 2013, certain investment funds managed llasgt of Apollo
Global Management, LLC (“Apollo”) beneficially owdeapproximately 22% of the limited liability compaimterests of
CEVA Holdings, LLC (“CEVA”). Under the limited liility company agreement governing CEVA, certawvestment
funds managed by affiliates of Apollo hold a majodf the voting power of CEVA and have the righetect a majority of
the board of CEVA. CEVA may be deemed to be ursdermon control with us, but this statement is neant to be an
admission that common control exists. As a reidppears that we are required to provide discEsas set forth below
pursuant to Section 219 of the Iran Threat Rednaitd Syria Human Rights Act of 2012 (“ITRA”) andcHon 13(r) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

Apollo has informed us that CEVA has provided ithithe information below relevant to Section 18fjhe Exchange Act.
The disclosure below does not relate to any ae#vitonducted by us and does not involve us omaumagement. The
disclosure relates solely to activities conducte€BVA and its consolidated subsidiaries. We havandependently
verified or participated in the preparation of tigclosure below.

“Through an internal review of its global operap CEVA has identified the following transactiansn Initial Notice of
Voluntary Self-Disclosure that CEVA filed with théS. Treasury Department Office of Foreign Asseist®l| (“OFAC”)
on October 28, 2013. CEVA's review is ongoing. V@Ewill file a further report with OFAC after comgling its review.

The internal review indicates that, in December2@EVA Freight Italy Srl (“CEVA ltaly”) providedustoms brokerage
and freight forwarding services for the exportremlof two measurement instruments to the IraniishOre Engineering
Construction Company, a joint venture between tatgies that are identified on OFAC's list of Sply Designated
Nationals (“SDN”"). The revenues and net profitstfeese services were approximately $1,260.64 Ug$451.30 USD,
respectively. In February 2013, CEVA Freight Holgh (Malaysia) SDN BHD (“CEVA Malaysia”) providedstoms
brokerage for export and local haulage servicea &tipment of polyethylene resin to Iran shippe @essel owned and/or
operated by HDS Lines, also an SDN. The revenu@set profits for these services were approxirg&élr9.54 USD and
$311.13 USD, respectively. In September 2013, CBi&aysia provided customs brokerage servicesdhiirhport into
Malaysia of fruit juice from Alifard Co. in Iran &HDS Lines. The revenues and net profits foretsesvices were
approximately $227.41 USD and $89.29 USD, respalgtiv

These transactions violate the terms of internaf £Eompliance policies, which prohibit transactiangolving Iran. Upon

discovering these transactions, CEVA promptly ldu@atcan internal investigation, and is taking act@hlock and prevent
such transactions in the future. CEVA intendsaoperate with OFAC in its review of this matter.”
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PART IlI

Item 10. DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRA NT

The information required by this Item, with the egtion of the Code of Ethics disclosure belownisorporated herein by
reference to our definitive Proxy Statement toileel fin connection with the 2014 Annual MeetingSdbckholders.

Code of Ethics

We have a Code of Business Ethics that appliel éorployees, including our Chief Executive Offi@rd senior financial
officers. These standards are designed to detargdping and to promote the highest ethical, marad,legal conduct of all
employees. Our Code of Business Ethics can bengtairee of charge, by contacting our corporaselearters or can be
obtained from the Corporate Governance sectioheoCompany’s internet site.

ltem 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required by this Item is incorpeherein by reference to our definitive Proxy &tant to be filed in
connection with the 2014 Annual Meeting of Stockleos.

Item 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AN D MANAGEMENT AND
RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The information required by this Item, is incorgiad herein by reference to our definitive Proxat&nent to be filed in
connection with the 2014 Annual Meeting of Stockleos.

Item 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS AN D DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

The information required by this Item is incorperaherein by reference to our definitive Proxyt&teent to be filed in
connection with the 2014 Annual Meeting of Stockleos.

Item 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES

The information required by this Item is incorpedherein by reference to our definitive Proxy Stant to be filed in
connection with the 2014 Annual Meeting of Stockleos.
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PART IV

Item 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

1. Financial Statements

The financial statements listed under Item itee as part of this report.

2. Financial Statement Schedules

Schedules have been omitted because they laee edt applicable or the required information
has been disclosed in the financial statementstasrihereto.

3. Exhibits

The exhibits listed on the Exhibit Index immesig following the signature page of
this annual report are filed as part of this report
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Berry Plastics Group, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidatechtisheets of Berry Plastics Group, Inc. as ofeédeiper 28, 2013 and
September 29, 2012, and the related consolidadézhstnts of operations and comprehensive incorsg)(lchanges in
stockholders' equity (deficit), and cash flowsdach of the three years in the period ended Septed®)2013. These
financial statements are the responsibility of@eenpany’s management. Our responsibility is to @span opinion on these
financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstas of the Public Company Accounting Oversightri8dUnited
States). Those standards require that we plan enfiohm the audit to obtain reasonable assuranaat abdtether the financial
statements are free of material misstatement. We wet engaged to perform an audit of the Compaimggsnal control
over financial reporting. Our audits included cdesation of internal control over financial repodias a basis for designing
audit procedures that are appropriate in the cistantes, but not for the purpose of expressing @niom on the
effectiveness of the Company’s internal controlrdirancial reporting. Accordingly, we express nets opinion. An audit
also includes examining, on a test basis, evidenggporting the amounts and disclosures in the ¢iahrstatements,
assessing the accounting principles used and is@gmifestimates made by management, and evaluhgngverall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our apditgde a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referredabove present fairly, in all material respedis, ¢onsolidated financial
position of Berry Plastics Group, Inc. at Septengr 2013 and September 29, 2012, and the conglidasults of its
operations and its cash flows for the three yaathe period ended September 28, 2013, in confpmwith U.S. generally
accepted accounting principles.

/sl Ernst and Young LLP

Indianapolis, Indiana

December 11, 2013
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Berry Plastics Group, Inc.

Consolidated Balance Sheets
(in millions of dollars, except share data)

Asset:
Current assets:

Cash and cash equivale

Accounts receivab, ne

Inventories

Deferred income tax

Prepaid expenses and other current ¢
Total current assets
Property, plant and equipm, ne
Goodwill, intangible assets and deferred ¢, net
Other assets
Total asse’

Liabilities and stockholders' equity (deficit)
Current liabilities
Accounts payab
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities
Current portion of lon-term dek
Total current liabilitie
Long-term debt, less current portion
Deferred income tax
Other lon+-term liabilities
Total liabilities
Commitments and contingenc
Redeemable shau
Stockholders' equity (deficit):

September 2, 2013

September 29, 20

Common stock($0.01 par value; 400,000,000 shares authoriZes/895,927 shares issued and
115,825,443 shares outstanding as of Septemb2028; 84,696,218 issued and 83,209,232

outstanding as of September 29, 2012)

Additional paid-in capital

Notes receivable-common stock

Non controlling intere:

Accumulated deficit

Accumulated other comprehensive loss
Total stockholders' equity (defic
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity (defjcit

See notes to consolidated financial statements.

$ 14z $ 87
44¢ 45E

575 535

13¢ 114

32 42
1,337 1,233

1,26¢ 1,21¢

2,52( 2,63¢

12 21

$ 513 $ 5,10¢
$ 337 $ 30€
276 300

71 40

684 64€

3,875 4,431

385 31¢

387 16€

5,331 5,558

- 23

1 1

322 131

- 2

3 3
(504) (561)

(18) (47)

(196) (475,

$ 5135 $ 5,106
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Net sale
Costs and expens
Cost of goods sold
Selling, general and administrat
Amortization of intangible
Restructuring and impairment charges
Operating incorr

Debt extinguishment

Other incom, ne

Interest expen, ne

Income (loss) before income taxes
Income tax expense (bene

Net income (los:

Comprehensive income (los
Currency translatic
Interest rate hedges

Berry Plastics Group, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehsive Income (Loss)

(in millions of dollars, except share data)

Fiscal years ended

September 28, 2013 September 29, 2012 October 1, 2011

Defined benefit pension and retiree health bepédits

Provision for income taxes related to other

comprehensive income ite
Comprehensive income (loss)

Net income (loss) per she
Basic
Diluted

Outstanding weighted-average shagesiousands)

Basic
Diluted

$ 4647 $ 4,766  $ 4,561
3,835 3,984 3,908

307 317 284

10 10¢ 10€

14 31 221

386 32t 42

64 - 68

) (7) (7)

244 32¢ 327

85 (346)

28 47

$ 57 $ $ (299
) 6 (10

20 4 8

34 (14) (14)

(20) 5 7
$ 86 $ 3 % (324)
$ 050 $ 0.0z $ (3.55
$ 048  $ 0.02 $ (3.55
113,486 83,435 84,121

119,454 86,64« 84,12

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Balance at October 2, 2010
Stock compensation expense
Non controlling intere:

Fair value adjustment of redeemable stock

Net los:

Currency translation

Interest rate hedges, net of tax

Berry Plastics Group, Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stocktlers' Equity (Deficit)
(in millions of dollars)

Defined benefit pension and retiree health

benefit plans, net of tax
Balance at October 1, 2C
Stock compensation expense

Interest rate hedge, net of tax

Fair value adjustment of redeemable s

Treasury stock, net

Net incom

Currency translatic

Defined benefit pension and retiree health

benefit plans, net of tax
Balance at September 29, 2012
Stock compensation expense
Repayment of note receivable

Proceeds from issuance of common stock

Termination of redeemable shares

Proceeds from initial public offering

Obligation under TRA

Derivative amortization, net of tax

Interest rate hedge, net of tax

Net incom«

Currency translation

Defined benefit pension and retiree health

benefit plans, net of tax

Balance at September 28, 2013

Notes Accumulated
Additional  Receivable- Other
Common Paid-in Common Comprehensive  Accumulated
Stock Capital Stock Loss Deficit Total

$ 13 147 $ ®) $ 23 $ (264) $ (141
- 2 - - - 2
- - - - - 3
- @) - - - o
- - - - (299) (299
- - - (10) - (10)
- - - (6) - )
- - - @) - (€)]
$ 1% 14z $ 2 $ 48) $ (563, $ (467,
- 2 - - - 2
- - - 3 - 3
- (13) - - - (13)
- - - - 2 2
- - - 6 - 6
- - - (8 - ()
$ 13 131$ s 47 3% (561) $ (475
- 16 - - - 1€
- - 2 - - 2
- 27 - - - 27
- 23 - - - 23
- 438 - - - 43¢
- (313) - - - (313
- - - 3 - 3
- - - 10 - 1C
- - - - 57 57
- - - ®) - ®)
- - - 21 - 21
$ 1$ 322% - (18) $ (504) $ (196)

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Berry Plastics Group, Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(in millions of dollars)

Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Net income (los:

Fiscal years ende

September 28, 2013

September 29, 2012

October 1, 2011

Adjustments to reconcile net cash from operatirtiyidies:

Depreciatiol

Amortization of intangibles

Nor-cash interest exper

Debt extinguishme

Settlement of interest rate hedge
Stock compensation expel

Deferred income tax

Impairment of long-lived assets and goodwill
Other nor-cast items

Changes in operating assets and liabil
Accounts receivable, net

Inventorie:

Prepaid expenses and other a
Accounts payable and other liabilities
Net cash from operating activit

Cash Flows from Investing Activities:
Additions to property, plant and equipnm
Proceeds from disposal of as:

Acquisitions of business, net of cash acquired
Net cash from investing activiti

Cash Flows from Financing Activities:
Proceeds from lor-term borrowing
Repayment of lor-term borrowing
Proceeds from issuance of common stock
Purchass of common stoc

Payment of tax receivable agreen
Proceeds from initial public offering
Repayment of notes receiva

Debt financini fees

Net cash from financing activiti

Effect of currency translation on ci

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equis

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period

Cash and cash equivalents at end of p

$ 57 $ 2 (299)
23€ 24¢€ 23¢
105 109 106

14 24 21
64 - 68
16 - -
16 2 2
22 1 (51)
6 20 200
©) 3 ©
3 95 (11)
(43) 37 59
15 @) 25
(41) (53) (22)
464 47¢ 327
(239) (230, (160
18 30 5
(24) (55) (368)
(245) (255 (523,
1,391 2 99t
(1,979 (175, (880
27 - -
- (6) (2
(5) - -
438 - -
2 - -
(39 - (23)
(164) (179) 90
55 45 (106,
87 42 148
$ 142 $ 87 42

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Berry Plastics Group, Inc.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(in millions of dollars, except as otherwise noted)

1. Basis of Presentation and Summary of Significaiccounting Policies
Background

Berry Plastics Group, Inc. (“Berry” or the “Compé&hig a leading provider of value-added plasticsuimer packaging and
engineered materials with a track record of deligehigh-quality customized solutions to our custosn Representative
examples of our products include drink cups, thatheontainers, bottles, specialty closures, pipson vials, specialty
films, adhesives and corrosion protection materigi® sell our solutions predominantly into consuomented end-
markets, such as food and beverage, healthcangeasanal care.

Initial Public Offering, Stock Split and TRA

In October 2012, the Company completed an initidlip offering and sold 29,411,764 shares of comstonk at a public
offering price of $16.00 per share. In conjunctiath the initial public offering the Company exs¢ed a 12.25 for one stock
split of the Company’s common stock. The effedhefstock split on outstanding shares and earpiegshare has been
retroactively applied to all periods presentedariBaction fees totaling $33 million were includedaid-in capital on the
Consolidated Balance Sheets. Proceeds, net shtion fees, of $438 million and cash from operetiwere used to
repurchase $455 million of 11% Senior Subordinétetes due September 2016. As part of the repuedhasCompany
paid premiums of $13 million and wrote-off $3 nali of deferred financing fees.

In connection with the initial public offering, tl@mpany entered into an income tax receivablesageat ("TRA") that
provides for the payment to pre-initial public offeg stockholders, option holders and holders ofsbock appreciation
rights, 85% of the amount of cash savings, if @myJ.S. federal, foreign, state and local incometiat are actually realized
(or are deemed to be realized in the case of egehaincontrol) as a result of the utilization of @end our subsidiaries’ net
operating losses attributable to periods priohtinitial public offering. The Company expectpty between $313 million
and $360 million in cash related to this agreem@his range is based on the Company's assumptfing various items,
including valuation analysis and current tax lallne Company recorded an obligation of $313 millidrich was recognized
as a reduction of Paid-in capital on the Consdadid&alance Sheets. Changes in the estimated TRfatdn will be
recorded as Other expense (income) in the Congatidetatement of Operations. Payments under theaf&not
conditioned upon the parties' continued ownershtheCompany.

Secondary Public Offerings

In April 2013, we completed a secondary public offg in which certain funds affiliated with Apoli@lobal
Management, LLC (“Apollo”) and Graham Partners @Bam”) sold 18,975,000 shares of common stock a081per
share, which included 2,475,000 shares purchasduebynderwriters upon the exercise in full of thegition to purchase
additional shares. The selling stockholders resmkjproceeds from the offering, which, net of undéimng fees, totaled
$311 million. The Company received no proceedsiacurred fees of $1 million related to this offegi

In July 2013, we completed a secondary public oféein which certain funds affiliated with Apollmd Graham sold
17,250,000 shares of common stock at $21.63 pee sivhich included 2,250,000 shares purchasedéwytiderwriters
upon the exercise in full of their option to pursbadditional shares. The selling stockholdersived proceeds from the
offering, which, net of underwriting fees, tota®860 million. The Company received no proceedsiacdtred fees of
$1 million related to this offering.

Basis of Presentation

Periods presented in these financial statementsdi@discal periods ending September 28, 2013cfi2013"), September
29, 2012 (*fiscal 2012"), and October 1, 2011 ¢&652011"). Berry, through its wholly-owned subaries operates in four
primary segments: Rigid Open Top, Rigid Closed, Fomineered Materials, and Flexible Packaginge Chmpany’s
customers are located principally throughout théddnStates, without significant concentrationfity ane region or with
any one customer. The Company performs perioéuitcevaluations of its customers’ financial coiditand generally
does not require collateral. The Company’s figealr is based on fifty-two or fifty-three week pel$. The Company has
evaluated subsequent events through the datendecfal statements were issued.

Reclassification Adjustments
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Certain amounts in the prior year financial statetséave been reclassified to conform to the ctirear presentation.
The Company historically presented Other operagxpenses in its Consolidated Statements of Opestiohich
consisted predominately of business optimizatiostcand management fees to affiliates of Apollo@nmaham. The
Company has eliminated separate presentation @r@tberating expenses from its Consolidated Statesmoé
Operations to better align with the way the Compiamgviewing its operating results. The Comparouired business
optimization costs of $16 million, $32 million a881 million in fiscal 2013, fiscal 2012 and fis@il11, respectively and
are included in Cost of goods sold. The Compangnded management fees of $9 million in fiscal 2868 fiscal 2011,
respectively and are included in Selling, genenal administrative expense. The Company’s managef@eragreement
with Apollo and other investors terminated upon ptetion of the initial public offering.

Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include doewnts of Berry and its subsidiaries, all of whimtiudes our wholly
owned and majority owned subsidiaries. Intercompatpunts and transactions have been eliminateahsolidation.
Where our ownership of consolidated subsidiariéssis than 100% the non-controlling interests efleated in
stockholders’ equity.

Revenue Recognition

Revenue from the sales of products is recognizétedtme title and risks and rewards of ownergiaigs to the customer
(either when the products reach the free-on-bdappmg point or destination depending on the @witral terms), there is
persuasive evidence of an arrangement, the satesipfixed and determinable and collection isoeably assured.
Provisions for certain rebates, sales incentivadetpromotions, coupons, product returns and aligsdo customers are
accounted for as reductions in gross sales toesatinet sales. In accordance with the RevenuegRéimn standards of the
Accounting Standards Codification (“Codification’”'®\SC"), the Company provides for these itemsestuctions of

revenue at the later of the date of the sale odalte the incentive is offered. These provisiordased on estimates derived
from current program requirements and historicpbeeence.

Shipping, handling, purchasing, receiving, inspegtivarehousing, and other costs of distributienpresented in Cost of
goods sold in the Consolidated Statements of Opagat The Company classifies amounts charged tugtomers for
shipping and handling in Net sales in the Constddi&tatements of Operations.

Vendor Rebates, Purchases of Raw Materials and Coawtration of Risk

The Company receives consideration in the fornebétes from certain vendors. The Company acchess @s a reduction
of inventory cost as earned under existing programg reflects as a reduction of cost of goods aoilde time that the
related underlying inventory is sold to customers.

The largest supplier of the Company'’s total resattamal requirements represented approximately @0ptirchases in fiscal
2013. The Company uses a variety of suppliersaetiits resin requirements.

Research and Development

Research and development costs are expensed vadueresh The Company incurred research and developm
expenditures of $28 million, $25 million, and $20lion in fiscal 2013, 2012, and 2011, respectively

Stock-Based Compensation

The compensation guidance of the FASB requireshieatompensation cost relating to share-based graytnansactions be
recognized in financial statements based on aligentair value models. The share-based compemsatist is measured
based on the fair value of the equity or liabilitgtruments issued. The Company’s share-basedesmafion plan is more
fully described in Note 12. The Company recordedl stock compensation expense of $16 millionyfion, and $2
million for fiscal 2013, 2012 and 2011, respecivel

In August 2013, the Company recorded an $8 millilmtk compensation charge related to certain rcatlins to the Berry
Plastics Group Inc. 2006 Equity Incentive Plan tnedBerry Plastics Group, Inc. 2012 Long-Term IntisenPlan
(collectively, the "Plans"), and amended outstapdion-qualified stock option agreements to refiech modifications. The
modifications, include (i) accelerated vesting lbtiavested options upon an employee's death engreent disability (ii) in
the event of an employee's qualified retirememtinaation of the normal vesting period applicablé¢he retiree's unvested
options, as well as an extension of the exercisgeg® the end of the original ten-year term & thtiree's vested options
and (iii) all unvested options and stock appreoiatights that were subject to performance-basstingecriteria as of
January 1, 2013 (excluding certain IRR performarased options) were modified to time-based vesting.

39



The Company utilizes the Black-Scholes option viadmamodel for estimating the fair value of thecbtoptions. The model
allows for the use of a range of assumptions. Ebgoevolatilities utilized in the Black-Scholes nebdre based on implied
volatilities from traded stocks of peer compan&imilarly, the dividend yield is based on historiesperience and the
estimate of future dividend yields. The risk-fieterest rate is derived from the U.S. Treasuridygerve in effect at the
time of grant. The Company'’s options have a ter gentractual life. For purposes of the valuatimdel in fiscal 2013,
the Company used the simplified method for deteéngithe granted options expected lives. The falue for options
granted has been estimated at the date of grang asBlack-Scholes model, with the following weightiverage
assumptions:

Fiscal year
2013 2012 2011
Risk-freeinterest rat 0.€ % 0.6-0.€ % 1.:c %
Dividend yielc 0.0 % 0.C % 0.C %
Volatility factor .38 .38 32-.34
Expected option lif 7 years 5 year: 5 year

Foreign Currency

For the non-U.S. subsidiaries that account in atfanal currency other than U.S. Dollars, assetsliabilities are translated
into U.S. Dollars using period-end exchange raades and expenses are translated at the avexdgnge rates in effect
during the period. Foreign currency translatioimgiand losses are included as a component of Adeted other
comprehensive income (loss) within stockholdersiityg Gains and losses resulting from foreign ency transactions, the
amounts of which are not material in any periodented are included in the Consolidated Statenoé@perations.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

All highly liquid investments purchased with a nrétjuof three months or less from the time of pa®d are considered to be
cash equivalents.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

The Company’s accounts receivable and related aticesfor doubtful accounts are analyzed in detad quarterly basis
and all significant customers with delinquent be&mare reviewed to determine future collectibilifhe determinations are
based on legal issues (such as bankruptcy stpast)history, current financial and credit agereports, and the experience
of the credit representatives. Reserves are esdtatllin the quarter in which the Company makesi#termination that the
account is deemed uncollectible. The Company miamadditional reserves based on its historicdldedt experience.
The following table summarizes the activity foicB$2013, 2012 and 2011 for the allowance for doulatcounts:

2013 2012 2011
Allowance for doubtful accounts, beginn $ 3 $ 4 $ 4
Bad debt expense 1 1 1
Write-offs against allowant (2) (2) (1)
Allowance for doubtful accounts, end $ 3 $ 3 $ 4

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or eteaikd are valued using the first-in, first-out lneet. Management
periodically reviews inventory balances, using nt@and future expected sales to identify slow-mgwnd/or obsolete items.
The cost of spare parts inventory is charged toufisaturing overhead expense when incurred. Weuatabur reserve for
inventory obsolescence on a quarterly basis aridwdnventory on-hand to determine future salabilVe base our
determinations on the age of the inventory aneiperience of our personnel. We reserve inveritatywe deem to be not
salable in the quarter in which we make the deteaition. We believe, based on past history angbolizies and
procedures, that our net inventory is salableemory as of fiscal 2013 and 2012 was:

Inventories: 2013 2012
Finished goods $ 335 $ 30¢
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Raw materials 240 229

$ 578 $ 53¢

Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at dspreciation is computed primarily by the straitihe- method over the
estimated useful lives of the assets ranging frérto225 years for buildings and improvements, twvtQ years for
machinery, equipment, and tooling and over the tafrthe agreement for capital leases. Leasehgddanements are
depreciated over the shorter of the useful lifthefimprovement or the lease term. Repairs andterance costs are
charged to expense as incurred. The Company kagitanterest of $5 million, $5 million, and $3lfian in fiscal 2013,
2012, and 2011, respectively. Property, plantemdpment as of fiscal 2013 and 2012 was:

Property, plant and equipment: 2013 2012
Land, buildings and improvements $ 302 $ 281
Equipment and construction in progress 2241 2 01¢

2,543 2,300
Less accumulated depreciation (1,277) (1,084)
$ 1,266 $ 1,21¢

Long-lived Assets

Long-lived assets, including property, plant andipapent and definite lived intangible assets aveereed for impairment at
the product line level in accordance with the Prigp@lant and Equipment standard of the ASC whentacts and
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount muye recoverable. Specifically, this processlives comparing an
asset’s carrying value to the estimated undiscounitere cash flows the asset is expected to genevar its remaining life.
If this process were to result in the conclusiat the carrying value of a long-lived asset wowdtllve recoverable, a write-
down of the asset to fair value would be recortiedugh a charge to operations. Fair value is déted based upon
discounted cash flows or appraisals as appropriaiag-lived assets that are held for sale arertepgat the lower of the
assets’ carrying amount or fair value less costsa® to the assets’ disposition. We recorded immnt charges totaling $5
million, $20 million, and $35 million to write-dowiong-lived assets to their net realizable valusigring fiscal years 2013,
2012, and 2011 respectively.

Goodwill

The Company follows the principles provided by @modwill and Other Intangibles standard of the AGGodwill is not
amortized but rather tested annually for impairm&he Company performs their annual impairmentdaghe first day of
the fourth quarter in each respective fiscal yéan purposes of conducting our annual goodwillampent test, the
Company determined that we have five reportingsu@pen Top, Rigid Closed Top, Engineered FilmsxiBle Packaging
and Tapes. Tapes and Engineered Films compridentieeered Materials operating segment. We détechthat each of
the components within our respective reportingsimétve similar economic characteristics and thezefbould be
aggregated. We reached this conclusion becausmwich of our reporting units, we have similardorcts and production
processes which allow us to share assets and cescagross the product lines. We regularly rexraligr production
equipment and manufacturing facilities in ordetace advantage of cost savings opportunities, mtaiergies and create
manufacturing efficiencies. In addition, we utiliaur research and development centers, desiger ceval shops, and
graphics center which all provide benefits to eafcthe reporting units and work on new products tlaa not only benefit
one product line, but can benefit multiple prodirets. We also believe that the goodwill is recatde from the overall
operations of the unit given the similarity in puotlon processes, synergies from leveraging thebowed resources,
common raw materials, common research and develupsimilar margins and similar distribution metbémbies. In fiscal
2013, the Company applied the quantitative assegsmeetermine whether it is more likely than it the fair value of
the reporting unit may be less than the carryinguath Based on our review of prior quantitativetechanges in the
carrying values, operating results, relevant mattké and other factors we determined that no inmgait is indicated and
we did not perform a two-step impairment testfidoal 2012, we completed step 1 of the impairmestt which indicated no
impairment in any of our reporting units. In fise811 the Company completed the annual impairmedtdetermined the
carrying value of the Specialty Films division, winis now included in the Engineered Materials Bledible Packaging
exceeded its fair value. The Company performeddoend step of its evaluation to calculate theaimpent and as a result
recorded a goodwill impairment charge of $165 onillin Restructuring and impairment charges on thesGlidated
Statement of Operations. This impairment was milyntne result of a base volume decline of 11%um Engineered
Materials and Flexible Packaging segments. Thig lalume decline of 11% occurred because of apgratrategy that we
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implemented in the second fiscal quarter of 20MHe $165 million impairment charge incurred in &is2011 is the
Company’s only goodwill impairment charge.

The changes in the carrying amount of goodwillépartable segment are as follows:

Rigid Open Rigid Closed Engineered Flexible

Top Top Materials Packaging Total
Balanceas of fisca2011 $ 681 $  8i1¢ $ 55 $ 4C $ 1,69
Foreign currency translation adjustrr - 2 - - 2
Acquisitions(divestitures) goodwill, net - 11 18 - 29
Balanceas of fisal 201: $ 681 $ 832 $ 73 $ 4C $ 1,62¢
Foreign currency translation adjustment - Q) 1 - -
Acquisitions(divestitures) goodwill, net - - (1) 9 8
Balance as of fiscal 2013 $ 681 $ 831 $ 73 $ 49 $ 1,634

Deferred Financing Fees

Deferred financing fees are being amortized ta@steexpense using the effective interest methed the lives of the
respective debt agreements.

Intangible Assets

Customer relationships are being amortized usirgcaelerated amortization method which correspuaviithsthe customer
attrition rates used in the initial valuation o tintangibles over the estimated life of the retathips which range from 11 to
20 years. Trademarks that are expected to remaise, which are indefinite lived intangible assats required to be
reviewed for impairment annually. Technology igfiiafes are being amortized using the straight+ireghod over the
estimated life of the technology which is 11 yedrizense intangibles are being amortized usingtraéght-line method
over the life of the license which is 10 yearsteR&intangibles are being amortized using thegttdine method over the
shorter of the estimated life of the technologyher patent expiration date ranging from 10 to 2&rgewith a weighted-
average life of 15 years. The Company evaluateseimaining useful life of intangible assets oraqulic basis to
determine whether events and circumstances wana@vision to the remaining useful life. We congiethe annual
impairment test of our indefinite lived tradenaraed noted no impairment. As discussed in Not¢hE)Company recorded
a $5 million and $17 million impairment charge tetato the exit of certain operations in fiscal 2@hd fiscal 2012,
respectively.

Customer Other Accumulated

Relationships ~ Trademarks Intangibles Amortization Total
Balanceas of fisce 2011 $  1,17¢ $ 28¢ $ 82 $ (502 $ 1,04
Adjustment for income taxes - - 4 - 4
Write-off of fully amortized intangible - - ©) 7 -
Amortization expens - - - (209 (209
Impairment of intangibles (37) - - 20 a7)
Acquisition intangible 12 3 28 - 43
Balance as of fiscal 20 $ 1,15: $ 28¢ $ 99 $ (584 $ 957
Adjustment for income tax (7) 1) 5 2 (5)
Foreign currency translation adjustn - - 2 - 2
Write-off of fully amortized intangibles - (5) 1) 6 -
Amortization expens - - - (105) (105)
Impairment of intangible (22) (2) - 17 (5)
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Acquisition intangibles 9 1 2 - 12

Balance as of fiscal 20 $ 1134 $ 283 $ 1C7 $ (668) $ 85¢€

Insurable Liabilities

The Company records liabilities for the self-ingup®rtion of workers’ compensation, health, prodgeneral and auto
liabilities. The determination of these liabilgiand related expenses is dependent on claimsiexper For most of these
liabilities, claims incurred but not yet reportae astimated by utilizing actuarial valuations lospon historical claims
experience.

Income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes under thet asd liability approach, which requires the rettign of deferred tax
assets and liabilities for the expected futurectansequence of events that have been recognized @ompany’s financial
statements or income tax returns. Income taxeseaognized during the period in which the undedyiransactions are
recorded. Deferred taxes, with the exception ofdeductible goodwill, are provided for temporaiffestences between
amounts of assets and liabilities as recordedriantial reporting purposes and such amounts asureghby tax laws. If
the Company determines that a deferred tax assigtgafrom temporary differences is not likely te btilized, the Company
will establish a valuation allowance against trested to record it at its expected realizable valllee Company recognizes
uncertain tax positions when it is more likely thrat that the tax position will be sustained upranaination by relevant
taxing authorities, based on the technical mefite@position. The amount recognized is measusatelargest amount of
benefit that is greater than 50% likely of beinglimed upon ultimate settlement. The Company'satiffe tax rate is
dependent on many factors including: the impaenaicted tax laws in jurisdictions in which the Qamy operates; the
amount of earnings by jurisdiction, due to varyiag rates in each country; and the Company’s ghdiutilize foreign tax
credits related to foreign taxes paid on foreigmiegs that will be remitted to the United States.

Comprehensive Income (Loss)

Comprehensive income (loss) is comprised of netinme(loss) and other comprehensive income (Id3)er
comprehensive losses include net unrealized gailosges resulting from currency translations oéign subsidiaries,
changes in the value of our derivative instrumant adjustments to the pension liability.

The accumulated balances related to each compohettiter comprehensive income (loss) were as fa@l(amounts below
are net of taxes):

Defined Benefit

Currency Pension and Retiree  Interest Rat Accumulated Other
Translatiol Health Benefit Plar Hedge Comprehensive Lo

Balance as cfiscal 201( $ (12) $ 12 $ - $ (23)
Other comprehensive loss (10) (14) (8) (32)
Tax expense (benefit) - 5 2 7

Balance as of fiscal 2011 $ (21) $ (21) $ (6) $ (48)
Other comprehensive income (loss) 6 (14) 4 4)
Tax expense (benefit) - 6 (1) 5

Balance as of fiscal 20 $ (15) $ (29) $ 3) $ (47
Other comprehensive income (loss) 5) 34 20 49
Tax expense (benefit) - (13) @) (20)
Balance as of fiscal 2013 $ (20) $ (8) $ 10 $ (18)

Accrued Rebates

The Company offers various rebates to customeredo@s purchases. These rebate programs are indliyichegotiated
with customers and contain a variety of differemirts and conditions. Certain rebates are calclédlat percentages of
purchases, while others included tiered volumenitices. These rebates may be payable monthlytarlyaor annually.
The calculation of the accrued rebate balance wegadignificant management estimates, especiakyewvine terms of the
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rebate involve tiered volume levels that requitéresgtes of expected annual sales. These provigiensased on estimates
derived from current program requirements and héstbexperience. The accrual for customer rebatess$55 million and
$68 million at the end of fiscal 2013 and 2012peesively and is included in Accrued expenses dhdraurrent

liabilities.

Pension

Pension benefit costs include assumptions for ifednt rate, retirement age, and expected retupiam assets. Retiree
medical plan costs include assumptions for theodistrate, retirement age, and health-care-coud tr@es. Periodically, the
Company evaluates the discount rate and the expegttan on plan assets in its defined benefitiparend retiree health
benefit plans. In evaluating these assumptioesCthmpany considers many factors, including aruetiain of the discount
rates, expected return on plan assets and théoeal-cost trend rates of other companies; histbeissumptions compared
with actual results; an analysis of current madeetditions and asset allocations; and the vievegloisers.

Net Income (Loss) Per Share

The Company calculates basic net income (loss3hme based on the weighted-average number oandisg common
shares. The Company calculates diluted net in¢tes) per share based on the weighted-averageanwhbutstanding
common shares plus the effect of dilutive secwitie

Use of Estimates

The preparation of the financial statements in aonity with U.S. generally accepted accounting gigles requires
management to make extensive use of estimatessanthptions that affect the reported amount of eisset liabilities and
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities thiedreported amounts of sales and expenses. |Aetudts could differ
materially from these estimates. Changes in egsrare recorded in results of operations in thiegh¢hat the event or
circumstances giving rise to such changes occur.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

In February 2013, the FASB issued Accounting Stedelelpdate No. 2013-02: Comprehensive Income (T2pW),
Reporting of Amounts Reclassified Out of Accumula@ther Comprehensive Income (“ASU 2013-02"). Tuglance
requires companies to report, in one place, inftiomabout reclassifications out of accumulatecgpttomprehensive
income (AOCI). Companies also are required to prieselassifications by component when reportinranges in AOCI
balances. For significant items reclassified dulA©CI to net income in their entirety in the patjcompanies must report
the effect of the reclassifications on the respedine items in the statement where net inconpedsented. In certain
circumstances, this can be done on the face ofthagment. Otherwise, it must be presented indkes. For items not
reclassified to net income in their entirety in fregiod (e.g., pension amounts that are capitalizéd/entory), companies
must cross-reference in a note to other requirstlatiures. The adoption of ASU 2013-02 in fi@€dl3 did have an impact
on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

In July 2013, the FASB issued Accounting Standahodate No. 2013-11: Income Taxes (Topic 740), Ptatien of an
Unrecognized Tax Benefit When a Net Operating l@asyforward, a Similar Tax Loss, or a Tax Credir@forward
Exists (a consensus of the FASB Emerging Issuds Aaee) (“ASU 2013-11"). An entity is requiren present
unrecognized tax benefits as a decrease in a pedtogy loss, similar tax loss or tax credit cavryfard if certain criteria are
met. The determination of whether a deferred tagrtds available is based on the unrecognizeddagfth and the deferred
tax asset that exists at the reporting date arslipres disallowance of the tax position at the tepdate. The guidance
will eliminate the diversity in practice in the pemtation of unrecognized tax benefits but will alegr the way in which
entities assess deferred tax assets for realizal#ilsU 2013-11 will be effective for the compamyfiscal 2014. The
Company is currently assessing the impact to thealmlated financial statements.

2. Acquisition
Prime Label

In October 2012, the Company acquired 100% of llages of Prime Label and Screen Incorporated (‘®tiabel”) for a
purchase price of $20 million. Prime Label isadler in specialty re-sealable labels, includingt@mted rigid lens closure
system. The newly added business is operated @dhgany’s Flexible Packaging reporting segmetfifance the
purchase, the Company used cash on hand and gxistidit facilities. The Prime Label acquisiticastbeen accounted for
under the purchase method of accounting, and gogbydthe preliminary purchase price has beercatked to the
identifiable assets and liabilities based on es@rhéair values at the acquisition date. The Cameas recognized goodwill
on this transaction as a result of expected syeergh portion of the goodwill will not be dedudélor tax purposes.
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Stopaq®

In June 2012, the Company acquired 100% of theestadrFrans Nooren Beheer B.V. and its operatimgpamies

(“Stopaq”) for a purchase price of $65 million ($®&lion, net of cash acquired). Stopag is thesimor and manufacturer of
patented visco-elastic technologies for use inosion prevention, sealing and insulation appliceticanging from pipelines
to subsea piles to rail and cable joints. The newllyed business is operated in the Company’s EergiddViaterials
reporting segment. To finance the purchase, thlep@oy used cash on hand and existing credit fasilitThe Stopaq
acquisition has been accounted for under the psedmethod of accounting, and accordingly, the @selprice has been
allocated to the identifiable assets and liabditiased on estimated fair values at the acquisiiém The Company has
recognized goodwill on this transaction as a resfudixpected synergies. A portion of the goodwill not be deductible for
tax purposes.

Rexam Specialty and Beverage Closures

In September 2011, the Company acquired 100% afdpigal stock of Rexam Closures Kentucky Inc.,d&eDelta Inc.,
Rexam Closures LLC, Rexam Closure Systems LLC, Red@Mexico S. de R.L. de C.V., Rexam Singapore BtiE
Rexam Participacoes Ltda. and Rexam Plasticos akilRitda. (collectively, “Rexam SBC”) pursuantaon Equity Purchase
Agreement by and among Rexam Inc., Rexam Closm€antainers Inc., Rexam Closure Systems Inc.aReXlastic
Packaging Inc., Rexam Brazil Closure Inc., RexawveBage Can South America S.A. and the Company.agpeegate
purchase price was $351 million ($340 million, oktash acquired). Rexam SBC's primary productiigfe plastic
closures, fitments and dispensing closure systentsjars. The newly added business is operatibd iompany’s Rigid
Closed Top reporting segment. To finance the @sehthe Company used cash on hand and existitigfaadlities. The
Rexam SBC acquisition has been accounted for uhdgiurchase method of accounting, and accorditiggypurchase price
has been allocated to the identifiable assetsiabitities based on estimated fair values at thypisition date.

The acquisition was accounted for as a businesbioation using the purchase method of accountihg. Gompany has
recognized goodwill on this transaction as a resfudixpected synergies. A portion of the goodwill not be deductible for
tax purposes. The following table summarizes tloeation of purchase price:

Working capital $ 80
Property and equipme 19¢
Intangible assets 43
Goodwill 60
Other lon-term liabilities (31)
Net assets acquir $ 351

Pro forma net sales was $4,996 million and unadgite forma net loss was $307 million for fiscall20 The pro forma net
sales and net loss assume that the Rexam SBCisioguisd occurred as of the beginning of the retype periods.

The pro forma information presented above is fiormational purposes only and is not necessardicative of the
operating results that would have occurred hadrRérvam SBC acquisition been consummated at theriagiof the
respective period, nor is it necessarily indicati¥éuture operating results. Further, the infaiiorareflects only pro forma
adjustments for additional interest expense, aaatiitin and closing expenses, net of the applidabtame tax effects.

3. Long-Term Debt

Long-term debt consists of the following as of diisgear-end 2013 and 2012:

Maturity Date 2013 2012
Term loar April 201E $ 1,125 $ 1,13¢
Term loat February 202 1,397 -
Revolving line of credit June 2016 - 73
9%% Second Priority Not January 20z 80C 80C
9',% Second Priority Not: May 201¢ 50C 50C
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Senior Unsecured Term Loan June 2014 18 39

First Priority Senior Secured Floating Rate N« February 201 - 681
8Y4a% First Priority Note November 201 - 37C
Second Priority Senior Secured Floating Rate Notes September 2014 - 210
10¥% SenioSubordinated Not March 201! - 127
11% Senior Subordinated N¢ September 20: - 45k
Debt discount, net (8) 9

Capital leases and otl Various 114 91
3,946 4,471

Less current portion of long-term debt (71) (40)
$ 3,87 $ 4,431

Berry Plastics Corporation Senior Secured Creditiky

Our wholly owned subsidiary Berry Plastics Corpiords senior secured credit facilities consist BfSbillion of term loans
and a $650 million asset-based revolving line efiitr(“Credit Facility”). In February 2013, the @pany entered into an
incremental assumption agreement to increase thendments under Berry Plastics Corporation’s exgsterm loan credit
agreement by $1.4 billion. Berry Plastics Corporatorrowed loans in an aggregate principal amegual to the full
amount of the commitments on such date. The predeech the incremental term loan, in addition torbwings under the
revolving credit facility, were used to (a) satisfyd discharge all of Berry Plastics Corporatiausstanding (i) Second
Priority Senior Secured Floating Rate Notes duet2(i) First Priority Senior Secured Floating Ratetes due 2015, (iii)
1014% Senior Subordinated Notes due 2016 and (iv)/8% First Priority Senior Secured Notes due 2015, which, in each
case, were called for redemption in February 20itBthe related indentures and (b) pay relatedgedexpenses. The
Company recognized a $48 million loss on extingmisht of debt related to this debt refinancing.1%dllion of the term
loan matures in April 2015, $1.4 billion of therteloan matures in February 2020 and the revoliimgdf credit matures in
June 2016, subject to certain conditions. Theatvitity under the revolving line of credit is thesser of $650 million or a
defined borrowing base which is calculated baseawvailable accounts receivable and inventory.

The borrowings under the senior secured crediitfesibear interest at a rate equal to an appkcatargin plus, as
determined at the Company’s option, either (a)sebate determined by reference to the higher)ahé&lprime rate of
Credit Suisse, Cayman Islands Branch, as admitingragent, in the case of the term loan facilitBank of America, N.A.,
as administrative agent, in the case of the rengleredit facility and (2) the U.S. federal fundgerplus 1/2 of 1% or (b)
LIBOR determined by reference to the costs of fundgurodollar deposits in dollars in the Londoterbank market for the
interest period relevant to such borrowing Bank @lisnce for certain additional costs. The applieabargin for LIBOR
rate borrowings under the revolving credit facilinge from 1.75% to 2.25%, term loan is 2.00%thadncremental term
loan is 2.50% per annum with a LIBOR floor of 1.00%he initial applicable margin for base rate baings under the
revolving credit facility is 0% and under the teloan is 1.00%.

The term loan facility requires minimum quarterhngipal payments of $7 million, with the remainiagount payable upon
maturity. In addition, the Company must prepaydhestanding term loan, subject to certain exceptiaith (1) beginning
with the Company'’s first fiscal year after the ahas 50% (which percentage is subject to a mininafi®6 upon the
achievement of certain leverage ratios) of excash tlow (as defined in the credit agreement);(@nd00% of the net cash
proceeds of all non-ordinary course asset salesasuhlty and condemnation events, if the Compaeg dot reinvest or
commit to reinvest those proceeds in assets ta&@ in its business or to make certain other pethibvestments within 15
months, subject to certain limitations.

In addition to paying interest on outstanding gpatunder the senior secured credit facilities, @ompany is required to
pay a commitment fee to the lenders under the vagtredit facilities in respect of the unutilizedmmitments thereunder
at a rate equal to 0.375% to 0.50% per annum dépgend the average daily available unused borrowapgcity. The
Company also pays a customary letter of creditifetjding a fronting fee of 0.125% per annum @& #tated amount of
each outstanding letter of credit, and customaeneaygfees.

The Company may voluntarily repay outstanding laamder the senior secured credit facilities attamg without premium
or penalty, other than customary “breakage” co#lts nespect to eurodollar loans. The senior setaredit facilities contain
various restrictive covenants that, among otheigghiand subject to specified exceptions, protikitGompany from
prepaying other indebtedness, and restrict itéybil incur indebtedness or liens, make investsentdeclare or pay any
dividends. All obligations under the senior sedueedit facilities are unconditionally guarantéstthe Company and,
subject to certain exceptions, each of the Comagwisting and future direct and indirect domestiosidiaries. The
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guarantees of those obligations are secured byesuiadly all of the Company’s assets as well aséof each domestic
subsidiary guarantor.

The Company'’s fixed charge coverage ratio, as défin the revolving credit facility, is calculatbdsed on a numerator
consisting of adjusted EBITDA less pro forma adjets, income taxes paid in cash and capital expees, and a
denominator consisting of scheduled principal paysa respect of indebtedness for borrowed manésrest expense and
certain distributions. We are obligated to sustaminimum fixed charge coverage ratio of 1.0 @under the revolving
credit facility at any time when the aggregate @ausapacity under the revolving credit facilityass than 10% of the lesser
of the revolving credit facility commitments anethorrowing base (and for 10 business days follguhe date upon which
availability exceeds such threshold) or duringdbitinuation of an event of default. At the endigtal 2013, the Company
had unused borrowing capacity of $531 million urttierrevolving credit facility subject to a borrmgibase and thus was
not subject to the minimum fixed charge coveragie mvenant. The fixed charge ratio was 2.2 @ 4t the end of fiscal
2013.

Despite not having financial maintenance covenantsgdebt agreements contain certain negative emien The failure to
comply with these negative covenants could resirictability to incur additional indebtedness, effecquisitions, enter into
certain significant business combinations, makeiligions or redeem indebtedness. The term laeititf contains a
negative covenant first lien secured leverage mtienant of 4.0 to 1.0 on a pro forma basis farogosed transaction, such
as an acquisition or incurrence of additional fiest debt. Our first lien secured leverage ratas 3.2 to 1.0 at the end of
fiscal 2013.

As of fiscal 2013, there was no outstanding balamcthe revolving line of credit and $44 millionletters of credit
outstanding. As of fiscal 2013, the Company haased borrowing capacity of $531 million under thealving line of
credit subject to the Company’s borrowing baseutatons.

Future maturities of long-term debt as of fiscalryend 2013 are as follows:

Fiscal Yea Maturities

201¢ $71
201¢ 1,156
2016 32
2013 24
201¢ 524
Thereafter 2,147
$3,554

Interest paid was $245 million, $288 million, arRD® million in fiscal 2013, 2012, and 2011, resjvety.

BP Parallel LLC (“BP Parallel”), a non-guarantobsigliary of the Company, invested $21 million addnillion to purchase
assignments from non-affiliated third parties artprevailing market prices of $21 million and $#lion of principal of the
Senior Unsecured Term Loan in fiscal 2013 and [fi8&2, respectively. We recognized a net gaiilofillion on the
repurchase of the Senior Unsecured Term LoandalfZ012, which is recorded in Other expense (irgdmour
Consolidated Statements of Operations. BP Padilgiot purchase assignments of the Senior Unsécilerm Loan in
2011.
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4. Financial Instruments and Fair Value Measuremerg

As part of the overall risk management, the Compes®g derivative instruments to reduce exposurhdnges in interest
rates attributed to the Company’s floating-raterdmwings. For those derivative instruments thatdasignated and qualify as
hedging instruments, the Company must designateatiging instrument, based upon the exposure beidged, as a fair
value hedge, cash flow hedge, or a hedge of awmestment in a foreign operation. To the extedghey relationships are
found to be effective, as determined by FASB guigachanges in fair value of the derivatives afsepby changes in the
fair value of the related hedged item are recotdeccumulated other comprehensive loss. Managebedisves hedge
effectiveness is evaluated properly in preparaticthe financial statements.

Cash Flow Hedging Strategy

For derivative instruments that are designatedgaradify as cash flow hedges, the effective portibthe gain or loss on the
derivative instrument is reported as a componeAiotimulated other comprehensive loss and redkedsifto earnings in
the same line item associated with the forecastedaction and in the same period or periods dwlhrigh the hedged
transaction affects earnings.

In November 2010, the Company entered into tworsé@énterest rate swap transactions to managefloaskariability
associated with $1 billion of the outstanding Vialearate term loan debt (the “2010 Swaps”). Ths figreement had a
notional amount of $500 million and became effextivNovember 2010. The agreement swaps threehmariable

LIBOR contracts for a fixed three year rate of @8% and expires in November 2013. The second awgmetehad a notional
amount of $500 million and became effective in Dalser 2010. The agreement swaps three month vatidBOR
contracts for a fixed three year rate of 1.0235%epires in November 2013. In August 2011, then@any began utilizing
1-month LIBOR contracts for the underlying seniecwgred credit facility. The Company’s change teriest rate selection
caused the Company to lose hedge accounting orobtib interest rate swaps. The Company recacdadges in fair
value in the Consolidated Statement of Operatiodsvéll amortize the previously recorded unrealifesses of $1 million,
net of tax as of fiscal year-end 2013 to Intergpease through the end of the respective swap mgres.

In February 2013, the Company entered into anesteate swap transaction to protect $1 billionwstanding variable rate
term loan debt from future interest rate volatilifhe agreement swapped the greater of a threéhmariable LIBOR
contract or 1.00% for a fixed three-year rate 868%, with an effective date in May 2016 and exjagrain May 2019. In
June 2013, the Company elected to settle thisaterévinstrument and received $16 million as altesithis settlement.
The offset is included in Accumulated other compredive loss and Deferred income taxes and wilhberized to Interest
expense from May 2016 through May 2019, the orlgeran of the swap agreement.

Liability Derivatives

Derivatives not designated as hedging
instruments under FASB guidance Balance Sheet Locatio 201% 2012

Interest rate swaj—- 2010 Swag Other lon-term liabilities $ 1 $ 7

The effect of the derivative instruments on the €&didated Statement of Operations are as follows:

Derivatives not designated as hedging

instruments under FASB guidance Statement of Operations Locatiol 2013 2012
Interest rate swaps — 2010 Swaps Other expense(@)c $ (6) $ -
Interest expense $ 4 $ 4

The Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures seatitire ASC defines fair value as the price thatilvde received to sell
an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an dgdgansaction between market participants anteasurement date, and
establishes a framework for measuring fair vallieis section also establishes a three-level hibyaficevel 1, 2, or 3) for
fair value measurements based upon the obseryaffilinputs to the valuation of an asset or liapiis of the measurement
date. This section also requires the considerafitine counterparty’s or the Company’s nonperforoearisk when
assessing fair value.

The Company'’s interest rate swap fair values weterchined using Level 2 inputs as other significdgervable inputs
were not available.
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The Company’s financial instruments consist pritgaf cash and cash equivalents, long-term detsrést rate swap
agreements and capital lease obligations. Thedhie of our long-term indebtedness exceeded baloie by $164 million
and $195 million as of fiscal 2013 and fiscal 20E8pectively. The Company’s long-term debt falues were determined
using Level 2 inputs as other significant observatbuts were not available.

Redeemable Common Stock

The Company had entered into agreements with foemgtoyees that required the Company to redeemic@@mmon
stock held by such former employees at pre-detexnitates. Redemption of this common stock wasit@séhe fair value
of the stock on the fixed redemption date andrddemption was out of the control of the Compa#fiscal year-end 2011
and 2012, this redeemable common stock was recettdeifair value in temporary equity and charigebe fair value were
recorded in additional paid in capital each peridthder the 2006 Equity Incentive Plan, the exerpisce for option awards
is the fair market value of common stock on the dditgrant. Historically, the fair market valueao$hare of common stock
was determined by the Board of Directors by apglyidustry-appropriate multiples to EBITDA. Thiglwation took into
account a level of net debt that excluded cashinestjfor working capital purposes. The categoriwabtf the framework
used to price these liabilities is considered ael8y due to the subjective nature of the unobsévaputs used to determine
the fair value. Upon completion of the initial pictoffering, the redemption requirement terminatesulting in the
Company reclassifying the shares into equity orCbesolidated Balance Sheets. The fair value #eaénd of fiscal 2012
was $23 million.

Non-recurring Fair Value Measurements

The Company has certain assets that are measueédvatiue on a non-recurring basis under theuorstances and events
described in Note 1 and Note 10. The assets @usted to fair value only when the carrying valegseed the fair

values. The categorization of the framework useatice the assets is considered a Level 3, dtieetsubjective nature of
the unobservable inputs used to determine thedhie (see Note 1 and 10 for additional discussion)

Included in the following table are the major caiges of assets measured at fair value on a namrieg basis along with
the impairment loss recognized on the fair valuasueement for the year then ended.
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As of the end of fiscal 2013

Level 1 Level Z Level &
Quoted Prices in ActiveSignificant Othe

Markets for Identical Observable Significant

Assets or Liabilities Inputs Unobservable Inputs Total Impairment Loss
Indefinite-lived trademars $ - $ - $ 207 $ 207 $ -
Goodwill - - 1,63¢ 1,63¢ -
Definite lived intangibles - - 649 649 5
Property, plant, and equipm - - 1,26¢ 1,26¢ -
Total $ - $ - $ 3,75€ $ 3,75€ $ 5

As of theend of fiscal 201

Level 1 Level 2 Level Z

Quoted Prices in Active Significant Othe

Markets for Identical Observable Significant

Assets or Liabilities Inputs Unobservable Inputs  Total Impairment Loss
Indefinite-lived trademark $ - $ - $ 22( $ 22 $ -
Goodwill 1,626 1,626 -
Definite lived intangibles - - 737 737 17
Property, plant, and equipm - - 1,21€ 1,21€ 3
Total $ - $ - $ 3,799 $ 3,799 $ 20

As of the end f fiscal 201:

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Quoted Prices in Active Significant Othe

Markets for Identical Observable Significant

Assets or Liabilities Inputs Unobservable Inputs  Total Impairment Loss
Indefinite-lived tracemark: $ - $ - $ 22( $ 22 $ -
Goodwill - - 1,595 1,595 165
Property, plant, and equipment - - 1,250 1,250 35
Total $ - $ - $ 3,065 $ 3,065 $ 20(

Valuation of Goodwill and Indefinite Lived Intangile Assets

ASC Topic 350 requires the Company to test gooduwilimpairment at least annually. The Companydcats the
impairment test on the first day of the fourth fisquarter, unless indications of impairment egtigting an interim period.
When assessing its goodwill for impairment, the @any utilizes a discounted cash flow analysis imlzimation with a
comparable company market approach to determinfaithealue of their reporting units and corrobertte fair values. The
Company utilizes a relief from royalty method tdueatheir indefinite lived trademarks and usesftihecasts that are
consistent with those used in the reporting uralysis. The Company has five reporting units niollg discussed in Note
1. Infiscal 2013 and fiscal 2012 the Companyqgrentd their annual impairment test and determimeihpairment existed.
In fiscal 2011, the Company recorded a goodwillamment charge of $165 million in Restructuring amgairment charges
on the Consolidated Statement of Operations. Tmpany did not recognize any impairment chargetherndefinitive
lived intangible assets in any of the years present

Valuation of Property, Plant and Equipment and Dafte Lived Intangible Assets

The Company periodically realigns their manufacgioperations which results in facilities beingseld and shut down and
equipment transferred to other facilities or equéptrbeing scrapped or sold. The Company utilippsaased values to
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corroborate the fair value of the facilities and hélized a scrap value based on prior facilitytsfowns to estimate the fair
value of the equipment, which has approximatectteal value that was received. When impairmetitators exist, the
Company will also perform an undiscounted cash #owalysis to determine the recoverability of thenpany’s long-lived
assets. The Company did not incur an impairmesatgehrelated to property, plant and equipmensitefi2013. The
Company wrote-down their property, plant, and eopgipt with a carrying value of $1,219 million tofésr value of $1,216
million, which resulted in an impairment charges8fmillion during fiscal 2012. The Company wrotach their property,
plant, and equipment with a carrying value of $%,28llion to its fair value of $1,250 million, whicresulted in an
impairment charge of $35 million during fiscal 201The Company recognized an impairment charg® ahilion and $17
million on definite long-lived assets related te thecision to exit certain businesses during fig6aB and fiscal 2012,
respectively.

5. Goodwill, Intangible Assets and Deferred Costs

The following table sets forth the gross carryingpant and accumulated amortization of the Compagytsiwill, intangible
assets and deferred costs as of the fiscal yea2@ttland 2012:

2013 2012 Amortization Period

Deferred financing fees $ 48 $ 104 Respective debt
Accumulated amortization (18) (51)
Deferred financing fees, net 3C 53
Goodwill 1,634 1,62¢ Indefinite lived
Customer relationships 1,134 1,153 11 — 20 years
Trademarks (indefinite lived) 207 290 Indefinite lived
Trademarks (definite lived) 76 69 8-15 years
Other intangibles 107 99 10-20 years
Accumulated amortization (668) (584
Intangible assets, net 856 957
Total goodwill, intangible assets and deferredscost

$ 2520 $ 2,636

The Company recorded a goodwill impairment changeé Engineered Materials and Flexible Packagrggrents in fiscal
2011. See Note 1 for further discussion. Futameréization expense for definite lived intangibéessof fiscal 2013 for the
next five fiscal years i$96 million, $88 million, $81 million, $69 millioand $49 million each year for fiscal years ending
2014, 2015, 2016, 2017, and 2018, respectively.

6. Lease and Other Commitments and Contingencies

The Company leases certain property, plant angewrit under long-term lease agreements. Projpatyt, and equipment
under capital leases are reflected on the Compaajésice sheet as owned. The Company enteredentcapital lease
obligations totaling $49 million, $7 million, an@$ million during fiscal 2013, 2012, and 2011, edtjvely, with various
lease expiration dates through 2020. The Compeoords amortization of capital leases in Cost adgosold in the
Consolidated Statement of Operations. Assets wmkrating leases are not recorded on the Comphaldace sheet.
Operating leases expire at various dates in thedutith certain leases containing renewal optioftse Company had
minimum lease payments or contingent rentals ofrillon and $15 million and asset retirement oafigns of $6 million
and $5 million as of fiscal 2013 and 2012, respelti Total rental expense from operating leasas $53 million, $56
million, and $59 million in fiscal 2013, 2012, a@@11, respectively.
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Future minimum lease payments for capital leasdshancancellable operating leases with initial eimmexcess of one year
as of fiscal year-end 2013, are as follows:

Capital Leases Operating Leases

2014 $ 3 $ 44
2015 33 41
2016 20 39
2017 12 34
Thereafter 21 114

127 $ 301
Less: amount representing interest (15)

Present value of net minimum lease payments $ 112

In September 2012, the Company entered into deaseback transaction pursuant to which it soldidehouse facility
located in Lawrence , Kansas. The Company receieegroceeds of $20 million and resulted in thenBany realizing a
deferred gain of $1 million which will be offsetaigst the future lease payments over the life @i¢hse.

The Company is party to various legal proceedingslving routine claims which are incidental tolitssiness. Although
the Company’s legal and financial liability withspeect to such proceedings cannot be estimatedteiithinty, the Company
believes that any ultimate liability would not baterial to its financial position, results of operas or cash flows. The
Company has various purchase commitments for raeriaks, supplies and property and equipment imtadeo the
ordinary conduct of business.

At the end of fiscal 2013, the Company employed d&000 employees. Approximately 12% of the Camfsaemployees
are covered by collective bargaining agreementse @ the ten agreements, covering approximaten3gloyees, which
was scheduled for renegotiation in fiscal 2013ilisteing renegotiated. The remaining agreemerysre after fiscal 2013.
The Company’s relations with employees remain featisry and there have been no significant worgsages or other
labor disputes during the past three years.

7. Accrued Expenses, Other Current Liabilities andOther Long-Term Liabilities

The following table sets forth the totals included\ccrued expenses and other current liabilitesfdiscal year-end 2013
and 2012.

2013 2012

Employee compensation, payroll and other taxes $ 8€ $ 95
Interest 45 60
Rebates 55 68

TRA obligation 32 )
Other 58 77
$ 276 $ 300

The following table sets forth the totals includedther long-term liabilities as of fiscal yearee013 and 2012.

2013 2012
Lease retirement obligation $ 22 $ 20

Sale-lease back deferred gain 32 34
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Pension liability 43 84

TRA obligation 277 -
Other 13 28
$ 387 $ 166

8. Income Taxes

The Company is being taxed at the U.S. corporaes &s a C-Corporation and has provided U.S. Fedgtiste and foreign
income taxes.

Significant components of income tax expense (li@rief the fiscal years ended 2013, 2012 and 20#las follows:

2013 2012 2011
Current
United States
Federal $ - (3) $ -
State 2 - 1
Non-U.S. 3
Current income tax provision 6 1 4
Deferred:
United States
Federal 26 3 (57)
State (©)] 1) 7
Non-U.S. @) 1) 1)
Deferred income tax expense (benefit) 22 1 (51)
Expense (benefit) for income taxes $ 28 $ 2 $ 47)

U.S. income (loss) from continuing operations befocome taxes was $77 million, $2 million, and4®Bmillion for fiscal
2013, 2012, and 2011, respectively. Non-U.S. ireloss) from continuing operations before incoax@$ was $8 million,
$2 million, and $(4) million for fiscal 2013, 2012nd 2011, respectively.

The reconciliation between U.S. Federal incomestatehe statutory rate and the Company’s bergfinEome taxes on
continuing operations for fiscal 2013, 2012, andi?@re as follows:

2013 2012 2011
U.S. Federal income tax expense (benefit) at tiatsty rate $ 29 $ 1 $ (121)
Adjustments to reconcile to the income tax prowvisio
U.S. State income tax expense, net of valuatianvalhce Q) 1) 8
Impairment of goodwill - - 58
Permanent differences - 1 1
Transaction costs - - 1
Changes in foreign valuation allowance 1 3
Rate differences between U.S. and foreign 2 1
Other 1 1) 2
Expense (benefit) for income taxes $ 28 $ 2 $ (47)
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Deferred income taxes result from temporary difiees between the amount of assets and liabilgesgnized for financial
reporting and tax purposes. The components aig¢hdeferred income tax liability as of fiscal 2GiR] 2012 are as
follows:

2013 2012
Deferred tax assets:
Allowance for doubtful accounts $ 3 $ 4
Deferred gain on sale-leaseback 14 15
Accrued liabilities and reserves 34 60
Inventories 9 8
Net operating loss carryforward 343 393
Alternative minimum tax (AMT) credit carryforward 9 9
Federal and state tax credits 14 -
Other 7 6
Total deferred tax assets 433 495
Valuation allowance (59 (59
Total deferred tax assets, net of valuation alla&an 374 444
Deferred tax liabilities:

Property, plant and equipment 187 190
Intangible assets 300 322
Debt extinguishment 132 132
Other 1 1

Total deferred tax liabilities 620 645
Net deferred tax liability $ (249 $ (201,

In the United Sates the Company had $824 millioRexferal net operating loss carryforwards, whidhhei available to
offset future taxable income. As of fiscal yead @013, the Company had foreign net operatingdasyforwards of $117
million, which will be available to offset futurextable income. If not used, the Federal net ojperagss carryforwards will
expire in future years beginning 2025 through 208MT credit carryforwards totaling $9 million asvailable to the
Company indefinitely to reduce future years’ Fetier@me taxes. The Company has $1 million of Faldeesearch and
Development tax credits that will expire in 2033.

In connection with the initial public offering, tfi@ompany entered into an income tax receivablecageat that provides for
the payment to pre-initial public offering stocktiets, option holders and holders of our stock ajégien rights, 85% of the
amount of cash savings, if any, in U.S. federakifm, state and local income tax that are actuallfized (or are deemed to
be realized in the case of a change of contrd) rasult of the utilization of our and our subgiiisl net operating losses
attributable to periods prior to the initial pubtiffering. The Company expects to pay between $3ill®n and $360

million in cash related to this agreement. Thigyais based on the Company's assumptions usimgisdiems, including
valuation analysis and current tax law. The Corgpanorded an obligation of $313 million which wasognized as a
reduction of Paid-in capital on the ConsolidatethBee Sheets. The balance at the end of fiscdl 2@% $308 million.

The Company believes that it will not generateisigffit future taxable income to realize the taxdfsin certain foreign
jurisdictions related to the deferred tax asséte Company also has certain state net operatisgdahat may expire before
they are fully utilized. Therefore, the Compang peovided a full valuation allowance against gertdi its foreign deferred
tax assets and a valuation allowance against cetdis state deferred tax assets included witinindeferred tax assets.
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Prior changes in ownership have created limitatiorder Sec. 382 of the internal revenue code onamusage of net
operating loss carryforwards. However, all of @@mpany’s Federal net operating loss carryforwahdsild be available for
use within the next five years. As part of theefifve tax rate calculation, if we determine thdeéerred tax asset arising
from temporary differences is not likely to beiméd, we will establish a valuation allowance agathat asset to record it at
its expected realizable value. The Company hapnoeided a valuation allowance on its Federaloperating loss
carryforwards in the United States because it bssrohined that future reversals of its temporaxgitée differences will
occur in the same periods and are of the sameenasgithe temporary differences giving rise to #fermled tax assets. Our
valuation allowance against deferred tax assets®d@snillion and $51 million as of fiscal year-eP@l3 and 2012,
respectively, related to the foreign and U.S. Stperations. The Company paid cash taxes of $®mi2 million and $2
million in fiscal 2013, 2012, and 2011, respectjvel

Uncertain Tax Positions

We adopted the provisions of the Income Taxes aranof the Codification. This interpretation cla¥ the accounting for
uncertainty in income taxes recognized in an eriteg financial statements in accordance withanae provide by FASB
and prescribes a recognition threshold of mordylikean-not to be sustained upon examination. @licyto include
interest and penalties related to gross unrecogjtézebenefits within our provision for income taxdd not change.

The following table summarizes the activity relate@ur gross unrecognized tax benefits from yedrfiscal 2012 to year-
end fiscal 2013:

2013 2012
Beginning unrecognized tax benefits $ 8 $ 33
Gross increases — tax positions in prior periods 6 2
Gross decreases — tax positions in prior periods - (25)
Gross increases — current period tax positions 1 -
Settlements (1) -
Lapse of statute of limitations - (2)
Ending unrecognized tax benefits $ 14 $ 8

The amount of unrecognized tax benefits that,dbgaized, would affect our effective tax rate wasi$llion and $5 million
for fiscal year-end 2013 and 2012.

As of fiscal year-end 2013, we had $1 million aecrfior payment of interest and penalties relatemlitaincertain tax
positions. Our penalties and interest relatechttertain tax positions are included in income tepease.

We and our subsidiaries are routinely examinedaripus taxing authorities. Although we file U.SdEeal, U.S. State, and
foreign tax returns, our major tax jurisdictiorthie U.S. The IRS has completed an examination 02003 tax year. The
Company is currently under examination by the IRS£.S. Federal tax years 2010 and 2011. Our 2Q009 tax years
remain subject to examination by the IRS. Theeevarious other on-going audits in various othesglictions that are not
material to our financial statements.

As of the end of fiscal 2013, we had unremittechiegs from foreign subsidiaries including earnitiget have been or are
intended to be permanently reinvested for contirugein foreign operations, accordingly, no pravidior US Federal or
State income taxes has been provided thereoristiifbadited, those earnings would result in addé@lancome tax expense at
approximately the U.S. statutory rate. Determaratif the amount of unrecognized deferred US inctamdiability is not
practicable due to the complexities associated igthypothetical calculation. We have identifiezh U.S. funds from India
that are not permanently reinvested and have rézedjdeferred tax liabilities for additional taxpexse that we expect to
incur upon repatriation of earnings that are natead from previously taxed income.
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9. Retirement Plan

The Company maintains three defined benefit penglenms which cover certain manufacturing faciliti@$he Company also
maintains a retiree health plan, which covers tehealthcare and life insurance benefits for aemetired employees and
their spouses. Each of the three defined berlafispand the retiree health plan are frozen plahg Company uses fiscal
year-end as a measurement date for the retirerfzaTd. p

The Company sponsors two defined contribution K0&tirement plans covering substantially all eogples. Contributions
are based upon a fixed dollar amount for employédes participate and percentages of employee cariwits at specified
thresholds. Contribution expense for these plaas$V million, $7 million, and $6 million for fisk2013, 2012, and 2011,
respectively.

The Company participates in one multiemployer p@antributions to the plan are based on specificgrgages of
employee compensation and are immaterial.

The projected benefit obligations of the Compaméss presented herein are equal to the accumddatesfit obligations of
such plans. The tables below exclude the obligatielated to the foreign plans. The net liabflityforeign plans is $3
million. The net amount of liability recognizediieluded in Other long-term liabilities on the Gofidated Balance
Sheets.

Defined Benefit Pension Plans Retiree Health Plan
2013 2012 2013 2012

Change in Projected Benefit Obligations (PBO)
PBO at beginning of period $ 207 $ 179 $ 3 $ 4
Service cost - - - -
Interest cost 7 8 - -
Actuarial loss (gain) 27) 29 - -
Benefits paid 9 9 (D) (1)
PBO at end of period $ 178 $ 207 $ 2 $ 3
Change in Fair Value of Plan Assets
Plan assets at beginning of period $ 129 $ 109 $ - $ -
Actual return on plan assets 14 20 - -
Company contributions 7 9 - 1
Benefits paid 9) 9 - (1)
Plan assets at end of period 141 129 - -
Net amount recognized $ (37 $ (78) $ 2 $ 3)

At the end of fiscal 2013 the Company had $20 arilbf net unrealized losses recorded in Accumulatieer
comprehensive loss on the Consolidated BalancesShéke Company expects $0 to be realized inlf&z4.

The following table presents significant weightegd@ge assumptions used to determine benefit dbligand benefit cost
for the fiscal years ended:

Defined Benefit Pension Plans Retiree Health Plan
(Percents 2013 2012 2013 2012
Weighte-average assumptiol
Discount rate for benefit obligation 4.5 3.6 3.1 2.4
Discount rate for net benefit cost 3.6 4.4 2.4 4.5
Expected return on plan assets for net benefiscost 8.0 8.0 8.0 8.0

In evaluating the expected return on plan assetsyBonsidered its historical assumptions compaitdactual results, an
analysis of current market conditions, asset diiogs, and the views of advisors. The return @m gissets is derived from
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target allocations and historical yield by asspetyHealth-care-cost trend rates were assumedrieeise at an annual rate of
7.0% in 2013 and thereafter. A one-percentagetjgbinge in these assumed health care cost trevswauld not have a
material impact on our postretirement benefit aiilan.

In accordance with the guidance from the FASB fopleyers’ disclosure about postretirement benddit pssets the table
below discloses fair values of each pension plaatasitegory and level within the fair value hiehgrin which it falls.
There were no material changes or transfers betlegeh3 assets and the other levels.

Fiscal 2013 Asset Category Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Cash and cash equivale $ 5 $ - $ - $ 5
U.S. large cap comingled equity funds - 46 - 46
U.S. mid cap equity mutual funds 15 - - 15
U.S. small cap equity mutual funds 8 - - 8
International equity mutual funds 12 - - 12
Real estate equity investment funds 4 - - 4
Corporate bond mutual funds 33 - - 33
Corporate bonds - 8 - 8
Guaranteed investment account - - 10 10
Other - - - -
Total $ 77 $ 54 $ 10 $ 141

Fiscal 2012 Asset Category Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Cash and cash equivale $ 4 $ - $ - $ 4
U.S. large cap comingled equity funds - 40 - 0 4
U.S. mid cap equity mutual funds 13 - - 13
U.S. small cap equity mutual funds 7 - - 7
International equity mutual funds 13 - - 13
Real estate equity investment funds 4 - - 4
Corporate bond mutual funds 22 - - 22
Corporate bonds - 15 - 15
Guaranteed investment account - - 11 11
Other - - - -
Total $ 63 $ 55 $ 11 $ 129

The following benefit payments, which reflect exigecfuture service, as appropriate, are expectbd fraid for the fiscal
years ending as follows:

Defined Benefit

Pension Plans Retiree Health Plan
2014 $ 9 $ -
2015 10 -
2016 10 -
2017 10 -
2018 10
2019-2023 54 1

Net pension and retiree health benefit expensaded the following components as of fiscal 2013 20P2:

2013 2012 2011
Defined Benefit Pension Ple
Service cost $ - $ - $ -
Interest cost 7 8 9
Amortization 3 2 1
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Expected return on plan (20) 8) 9)
Net periodic benefit cost $ - $ 2 $ 1

Our defined benefit pension plan asset allocaigsnsf fiscal year-end 2013 and 2012 are as follows:

2013 2012
Asset Category
Equity securities and equity-like 60% 59 %
Debt securities and debt-like 29 29
Other 11 12
Total 100% 100 %

The Company’s retirement plan assets are investedive objective of providing the plans the apitid fund current and
future benefit payment requirements while minimigamnual Company contributions. The plans’ adk®tadion strategy
reflects a long-term growth strategy with approxieha40-50% allocated to growth investments and@®%: allocated to
fixed income investments and 5-10% in other, inicigetash. The retirement plans held $1 millionhaf Company’s stock at
the end of fiscal 2013. The Company re-addre$gealiocation of its investments on a regular basis

10. Restructuring and Impairment Charges

The Company announced various restructuring platteei last three fiscal years which included shgttiown facilities in
all four of the Company’s operating segments.

During fiscal 2011, the Company announced the fimerio shut down two facilities within its Engirred Materials

division. The affected business accounted for@pprately $106 million of annual net sales with thajority of the
operations transferred to other facilities. Thenpany also announced its intention to shut dowmmaufacturing location
within its Flexible Packaging division. The affedtbusiness accounted for approximately $24 mitiibannual net sales
with the majority of the operations transferreatioer facilities. The Company also announcedhttnition to shut down a
manufacturing location within its Rigid Closed Tdipision. The affected business accounted for@pprately $14 million
of annual net sales with the majority of the operattransferred to other facilities. The Compesgorded $35 million of
non-cash asset impairment costs in fiscal 201 1ectl® these restructuring plans and has beenteepas Restructuring and
impairment charges in the Consolidated Statemér@@perations. These impairments were for buildiaigs equipment that
exceeded net realizable value as of the valuattesd

During fiscal 2012, the Company announced the fidero shut down three facilities one each in &iglosed Top,
Engineered Materials and Flexible Packaging dimsioThe affected Rigid Closed Top, Engineered Nédse and Flexible
Packaging businesses accounted for approximatdlyrfilion, $71 million, and $24 million of annuatnsales, with the
majority of the operations transferred to otheilifées. During the first fiscal quarter the Conmyamade the decision to exit
certain operations in the Engineered Materialssdivi. This decision resulted in non-cash impaitnebarges of $17 million
related to certain customer lists deemed to havianttver value and is recorded in Restructuring iamghirment charges on
the Consolidated Statement of Operations. Theexiperations were immaterial to the Company argingéered Materials
segment.

During fiscal 2013, the Company made the decisiaexit certain operations in the Engineered Mdtedavision. This
decision resulted in a non-cash impairment chast)#§ million related to certain intangible ass#gemed to have no further
value recorded in Restructuring and impairmentgdmon the Consolidated Statement of Operatiohs.eXited businesses
were immaterial to the Company and the Engineeratéihls segment.

The table below sets forth the Company’s estimatieeototal cost of the restructuring programs sig@07, the portion
recognized through fiscal year-end 2013 and thégooexpected to be recognized in a future period:

Cumulative charges To be Recognized in

Expected Total Cost through Fiscal 2013 Future
Severance and termination ben $ 39 $ 39 $ -
Facility exit costs 56 53 3
Asset impairment 106 106 -
Other 4 4 -
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Total $ 205 $ 202 $ 3

The tables below sets forth the significant comptmef the restructuring charges recognized fofiival years ended 2013
2012 and 2011, by segment:

Fiscal Year
2013 2012 2011
Rigid Open Top
Severance & termination benefits $ 1 $ - $ 2
Total $ 1 $ - $ 2
Rigid Closed Top
Severance & termination benefits $ 2 $ 3 $ 3
Facility exit costs 1 2 1
Nor-cash asset impairment - 4 4
Total $ 3 $ 9 $ 8
Engineered Materials
Severance & termination benefits $ 2 $ 4 $ 2
Facility exit costs 1 2 7
Non-cash asset impairment 6 16 22
Total $ 9 $ 22 $ 31
Flexible Packaging
Severance & termination benefits $ - $ - $ 4
Facility exit costs 1 - 2
Nor-cash asset impairment - - 9
Total $ 1 $ - $ 15
Consolidated
Severance & termination benefits $ 5 $ 7 $ 11
Facility exit costs 3 4 10
Non-cash asset impairment 6 20 35
Total $ 14 $ 31 $ 56
The table below sets forth the activity with reggedhe restructuring accrual as of fiscal 2018 2012:
Employee Facility
Severance Exit Non-cash
and Benefits Costs charges Total
Balanceas of fisca2011 $ 4 $ 3 $ - $ 7
Charges 7 4 20 31
Nor-cash asset impairment - - (20) (20)
Cash payments @) 4) - (112)
Balance as of fiscal 2012 4 3 - 7
Charges 5 3 6 14
Non-cash asset impairment - - (6) (6)
Cash payments ") 4) - (11)
Balance as of fiscal 2013 $ 2 $ 2 $ - $ 4
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The restructuring costs accrued as of fiscal yadr2013 will result in future cash outflows, whiate not expected to be
material.

11. Related Party Transactions
Management Fee

Prior to the initial public offering, the Companysvcharged a management fee by affiliates of AgolthGraham for the
provision of management consulting and advisoryises provided throughout the year. The managefeenwas the
greater of $3 million or 1.25% of adjusted EBITDAhe management fees are classified in Sellingergérand
administrative in the Statement of Operations. Ma@agement services agreement with Apollo andasnabrminated
upon completion of the initial public offering.

Total management fees charged by Apollo and Gratara $9 million in fiscal 2012 and 2011. The Comppaid $8
million and $6 million to entities affiliated witApollo and $1 million to entities affiliated withr@am for fiscal 2012 and
2011, respectively. In connection with the RexaC&cquisition, Berry management and the sponscesved a
transaction fee of $5 million in fiscal 2012.

Other Related Party Transactions

Certain of our management, stockholders and refsdibs and its affiliates have independently aedguand held financial
debt instruments of the Company. During fiscal20dterest expense related to this debt was Jbmil

BP Parallel LLC, a non-guarantor subsidiary of @enpany, invested $21 million to purchase assigtsnein$21 million
of unsecured term loan during the quarter endee@iber 29, 2012. Of the $21 million assignmentsipased, $14
million were purchased from third parties affilidteith Apollo.

In connection with our initial public offering ing@ober 2012, the Company paid a $1 million undemgifee to Apollo
Global Securities, LLC, an affiliate of Apollo thegrved as a manager of the offering.

In connection with the incremental term loan Berigstics Corporation entered into in February 2818 Company paid
a $1 million underwriting fee to Apollo Global Setties, LLC, an affiliate of Apollo that served asnanager of the
offering.

In connection with our secondary offerings in fis2@13, the selling stockholders, the Apollo Fund ¢he Graham Fund,
paid $1 million in underwriting fees to Apollo GlabSecurities, LLC, an affiliate of Apollo that sed as a manager of
the offerings, reflecting its pro rata portion bétaggregate underwriting fee.

12. Stockholders’ Equity
Equity Incentive Plans

In connection with Apollo’s acquisition of the Coenyy, we adopted an equity incentive plan pursuawhich options to
acquire up to 7,071,337 shares of the Company’sraamstock may be granted. Prior to fiscal 2014 pflan was amended
to allow for an additional 5,267,500 options togoanted.

In connection with the initial public offering, tl@mpany adopted the Berry Plastics Group, Inc22@hg-Term Incentive
Plan, which authorized the issuance of up to 9788'shares of common stock pursuant to the graexercise of
nonqualified stock options, incentive stock opticsieck appreciation rights, restricted stock rietsd stock units and other
equity-based awards.

In August 2013, the Company recorded an $8 miliitmtk compensation charge related to certain rocatlfns to the Berry
Plastics Group Inc. 2006 Equity Incentive Plan gredBerry Plastics Group, Inc. 2012 Long-Term IntienPlan

(collectively, the "Plans"). The modifications inde (i) accelerated vesting of all unvested optiopon an employee's death
or termination by the Company by reason of an eygals permanent disability, (i) in the event ofemployee's qualified
retirement, continuation of the normal vesting pe@pplicable to the retiree's unvested optiongjedisas an extension of

the exercise period to the end of the originalytear term of the retiree's vested options anda(lijinvested options and
stock appreciation rights that were subject togrernce-based vesting criteria as of January 13 g&cluding certain IRR
performance-based options) were modified to tineetasesting.

The Company recognized total stock-based compensafti$16 million, $2 million, and $2 million forstal 2013, 2012 and
2011. The intrinsic value of options exercisedash settled in fiscal 2013 was $40 million.
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Information related to the equity incentive plasoéthe fiscal year-end 2013 and 2012 is as falow

2013 2012
Weighted Weighted
Number Average Number Average
Of Exercise Of Exercise
Shares Price Shares Price
Options outstanding, beginning of pel 10,741,09 $ 7.76 10,826,23 $ 7.7C
Options granted 2,818,70( 16.01 695,898 10.57
Options exercised or cash settled (3,333,152 7.97 (175,412 7.33
Options forfeited or cancelled - (191,408 10.14 - (605,628 7.43
Options outstanding, end of period 10,035,22¢ $ 9.96 10,741,090 $ 7.76
Option price range at end of period $ 3.04-17.5 $ 3.04415.0¢
Options exercisable at end of period 5,182,027 7,327,612
Options available for grant at period end 8,076,291 1,597,240
Weighted average fair value of options granted $ 6.15 $ 271

during period

The fair value for options granted has been estichat the date of grant using a Black-Scholes mgeéekrally with the
following weighted average assumptions:

2013 2012 2011
Risk-free interest ra .6% .6-.9% 1.30%
Dividend yield 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%
Volatility factor .38 0.38 .32-.34
Expected option life 7 years 5 years 5 years

The following table summarizes information abowt tiptions outstanding as of fiscal 2013:

Range of Exercis Number Intrinsic Value Weighted Remaining Weighted Number Intrinsic Value Unrecognized Weighted
Prices Outstanding of Outstanding Contractual Life Exercise Price Exercisable of Exercisable Compensation Recognition Period

$3.04- $17.5¢ 10,035,22 $10¢ 6 year. $9.9¢ 5,182,02 $64 $15 2year:

13. Segment and Geographic Data

Berry's operations are organized into four repdetalegments: Rigid Open Top, Rigid Closed Top, Begjied Materials,
and Flexible Packaging. The Company has manufagtand distribution centers in the United Sta@amada, Mexico,
Belgium, Australia, Germany, Brazil, Malaysia, Netlnds and India. The North American operatigmegents 96% of the
Company’s net sales, 98% of total long-lived assetd 97% of the total assets. Selected informdajoreportable segment
is presented in the following table.

2013 2012 2011
Net saes
Rigid Open Top $ 1,127 $ 1,229 $ 1,261
Rigid Closed Top 1,387 1,438 1,053
Engineered Materials 1,397 1,362 1,451
Flexible Packaging 736 737 796
Total $ 4,647 $ 4,766 $ 4,561
Operating income (loss)
Rigid Open Top $ 123 $ 159 $ 155
Rigid Closed Top 130 95 77
Engineered Materials 116 70 (71)
Flexible Packaging 17 1 (119)
Total $ 386 $ 325 $ 42
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Depreciation and amortization

Rigid Open Top $ 90 $ 90 $ 102
Rigid Closed Top 129 135 95
Engineered Materials 71 71 72
Flexible Packaging 51 59 75
Total $ 341 $ 355 $ 344
Total assets 2013 2012
Rigid Open To $ 1,80¢ $ 1,777
Rigid Closed Top 1,964 1,959
Engineered Materials 817 873
Flexible Packaging 549 501
$ 5,13 $ 5,10¢
Goodwill 2013 2012
Rigid Open To $ 681 $ 681
Rigid Closed Top 831 832
Engineered Materials 73 73
Flexible Packaging 49 40
$ 1,634 $ 1,62¢

14. Net Income (Loss) Per Share

Basic net income or loss per share is calculatediViging the net income or loss attributable tonomon stockholders by the
weighted-average number of common shares outsgddiring the period, without consideration for coomstock
equivalents. Diluted netincome or loss per sieacemputed by dividing the net income or losstaitable to common
stockholders by the weighted-average number of comshare equivalents outstanding for the perioerdgted using the
treasury-stock method and the if-converted methamt. purposes of this calculation, stock optiorescmsidered to be
common stock equivalents and are only includetiércalculation of diluted net income or loss parstwhen their effect is
dilutive. The Company’s redeemable common stoahkcisided in the weighted-average number of comsfames
outstanding for calculating basic and diluted nebme or loss per share.

The following tables and discussion provide a rediation of the numerator and denominator of thsib and diluted net
loss per share computations. The calculation belmwides net income or loss on both basic andedilbasis for fiscal
2013, 2012, and 2011 (in thousands).

2013 2012 2011
Net income (los: $ 57 $ 2 $  (299)
Weighted average shares of common stock outstanbasic 113,486 83,435 84,121
Weighted average shares of common stock outstanding 113,486 83,435 84,121
Other common stock equivalents 5,968 3,209 -
Weighted average shares of common stock outstandiluged 119,454 86,644 84,121
Basic net income (loss) per share
Basic net income (loss) per share from continuperations $ 0.50 $ 0.02 $ (3.55)
Basic net income (loss) per share available to comshareholders $ 050 -$ 002 -%$ (355
Diluted net income (loss) per share
Diluted net income (loss) per share from continudpgrations $ 0.48 $ 0.02 $ (3.55)
Diluted net income (loss) per share available trmon shareholders $ 048 $ 0.02 $ (3.55)
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The conversion of stock options is not includethi calculation of diluted net loss per common slzerof the end of fiscal
2011 as the effect of these conversions would hdilative to the net loss available to common shatders. Thus, the
weighted-average common equivalent shares usguiifposed of computing diluted EPS are the sameoas used to
compute basic EPS for these periods. Shares ed:fuoim the calculation as the effect of their easion into shares of our
common stock would be antidilutive were 10,826,282f the end of fiscal 2011.

15. Guarantor and Non-Guarantor Financial Information

Berry Plastics Corporation (“Issuer”) has notestautding which are fully, jointly, severally, andoonditionally guaranteed
by substantially all of Berry’s domestic subsidigti Separate narrative information or financetleshents of the guarantor
subsidiaries have not been included because tkeh0896 owned by the parent company and the guarsuiitsidiaries
unconditionally guarantee such debt on a jointseweral basis. A guarantee of a guarantor ofgberiies will terminate
upon the following customary circumstances: the shthe capital stock of such guarantor if sugle somplies with the
indenture, the designation of such guarantor asegstricted subsidiary, the defeasance or disehafrthe indenture, as a
result of the holders of certain other indebtedf@sclosing on a pledge of the shares of a guaraabsidiary or if such
guarantor no longer guarantees certain other irdebss of the issuer. The guarantees are ald¢edias necessary to
prevent them from constituting a fraudulent convwegaunder applicable law and guarantees guaragtsebordinated debt
are subordinated to certain other of the Compaasfss. Presented below is condensed consolidatancial information
for the parent, issuer, guarantor subsidiariesnamdguarantor subsidiaries. Our issuer and guaréinancial information
includes all of our domestic operating subsidiames non-guarantor subsidiaries include our faraigbsidiaries and BP
Parallel, LLC. BP Parallel, LLC is the entity thae established to buyback debt securities of Belagtics Group, Inc. and
Berry Plastics Corporation. Berry Plastics Grdap, uses the equity method to account for its agmp in Berry Plastics
Corporation in the Condensed Consolidating Suppiah&inancial Statements. Berry Plastics Corjpamaises the equity
method to account for its ownership in the guanaaa non-guarantor subsidiaries. All consolidagntries are included in
the eliminations column along with the eliminatmfintercompany balances.

Condensed Supplemental Consolidated Statements op€rations

Fiscal 2013
Non-
Guarantor Guarantor
Parent Issuer Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations Total
Net sale $ - 571 $ 3,706 $ 370 $ - $ 4,647
Cost of sales - 506 3,021 308 - 3,835
Selling, general and administrative expenses - 58 314 40 - 412
Restructuring and impairment charges, net - 1 13 - - 14
Operating income - 6 358 22 - 386
Other income - 56 1 - - 57
Interest expense, net a7 24 201 (120) 92 244
Equity in net income of subsidiaries (132) (297) - - 429 -
Net income (loss) before income te 85 223 156 142 (521) 85
Income tax expense (benefit) 28 80 - 2 (82) 28
Net income (los: $ 57 143 $ 156 $ 140 $  (439) $ 57
Currency translation - - - 5) - (5)
Interest rate hedges - 20 - - - 20
Defined benefit pension and retiree benefit plans - 34 - - - 34
Provision for income taxes related to other
comprehensive income items - (20) - - - (20)
Comprehensive income (loss) $ 57 177 $ 156 $ 135 $ (439 $ 86
Fiscal 2012
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Non-

Guarantor Guarantor

Parent Issuer Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations Total
Net sale $ - 579 $ 3,829 $ 358 $ - $ 4,766
Cost of sales - 520 3,151 313 - 3,984
Selling, general and administrative expenses - 62 329 35 - 426
Restructuring and impairment charges, net - 1 29 1 - 31
Operating income (loss) - 4) 320 9 - 325
Other income - () - - - (@)
Interest expense, net 54 39 261 (110) 84 328
Equity in net income of subsidiaries (58) (173) - - 231 -
Net income (loss) before income ta 4 137 59 119 (315) 4
Income tax expense (benefit) 2 46 1 3 (50) 2
Net income (los: $ 2 91 $ 58 $ 116 $ (265 $ 2
Currency translation - - - 6 - 6
Interest rate hedges - 4 - - - 4
Defined benefit pension and retiree benefit plans - - (14) - - (24)
Provision for income taxes related to other
comprehensive income items - 1) 6 - - 5
Comprehensive income (loss) $ 2 94 $ 50 $ 122 $ (265 $ 3

Fiscal 2011
Non-
Guarantor Guarantor

Parent Issuer Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations Total
Net sale $ - 695 $ 3,503 $ 363 $ - $ 4561
Cost of sales - 617 2,948 343 - 3,908
Selling, general and administrative expenses - 65 295 30 - 390
Restructuring and impairment charges, net - 30 190 1 - 221
Operating income (loss) - 17) 70 (11) - 42
Other income - 62 Q) - - 61
Interest expense, net 50 49 249 77) 56 327
Equity in net income of subsidiaries 296 85 - - (381) -
Net income (loss) before income te (346) (213) 178) 66 325 (346)
Income tax expense (benefit) (47) 16 (29) 2 11 (47)
Net income (los: $ (299 (229, $ (149 $ 64 $ 314 $ (299
Currency translation - - - (20) - (10)
Interest rate hedges - (8) - - - (8)
Defined benefit pension and retiree benefit ¢ - - (14) - - (14)
Provision for income taxes related to other
comprehensive income ite - 2 5 - - 7
Comprehensive income (loss) $(299) (235) $ (158 $ 54 $ 314 $ (329

Condensed Supplemental Consolidated Balance Sheet
As of fiscal year-end 2013
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Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable, net of allowance

Intercompany receivable

Inventorie:

Deferred income taxes

Prepaid expenses and other cui
Total current assets

Property, plant and equipment, net
Intangible assets, n

Investment in subsidiaries

Other assets

Total asse

Liabilities and equity

Current liabilities:
Accounts payab
Accrued and other current liabilities
Intercompany payable

Long-term dek-current portiol
Total current liabilities

Long-term debt

Deferred tax liabilitie

Other long-term liabilities
Total long-term liabilities

Total liabilities

Redeemable shares
Other equity (deficit)
Total equity (deficit)
Total liabilities and equity (deficit)

Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable, net of allowance

Intercompany receivable

Non-

Guarantor Guarantor
Parent Issuer Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations Total
$ - $ 116 $ - $ 26 $ - $ 142
- 5 371 73 - 449
348 3,448 - 40 (3,836) -
- 52 482 4C - 578
139 - - - - 139
- 12 11 19 (10) 32
487 3,634 864 198 (3,846) 1,337
- 115 1,079 72 - 1,266
8 13¢ 227¢ 106 8) 252C
760 905 - - (1,665) -

- 10 2 631 (631) 12
$ 1,755 $ 483 $  422C $ 1,007 $ (6150 $ 513t
$ - $ 9 $ 262 $ 66 $ - $ 337

41 119 112 15 (11) 276

- - 3,837 - (3,837) -

- 6¢ - 2 - 71

41 197 4,211 83 (3,848) 684
740 3,855 - 2 (722) 3,875

38t - - - - 38t

285 64 44 4 (10) 387
1,410 3,919 44 (732) 4,647
1,451 4,116 4,255 89 (4,580) 5,331
(196) 687 (35) 918 (1,570) (196)
(196) 687 (35) 918 (1,570) (196)
$ 1255 $ 4803 $ 4220 $ 1,007 $ (61500 $ 5135

Condensed Supplemental Consolidated Balance Sheet
As of fiscal year-end 2012
Non-
Guarantor Guarantor

Parent Issuer Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations Total

$ - $ 66 $ - $ 21 $ - $ 87
- 60 336 59 - 455

243 3,800 74 - (4,117) -
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Inventorie: - 88 414 38 - 538
Prepaid expenses and other current 120 17 9 21 (11) 156
Total current assets 363 4,026 833 139 (4,128) 1,233
Property, plant and equipment, net - 113 1,023 80 - 1,216
Intangible assets, net 8 184 2,343 111 (10) 2,636
Investment in subsidiaries 254 615 - - (869) -
Other assets - 10 10 638 (637) 21
Total assets 625 4,948 4,209 968 $ (5644 $ 5,106
Liabilities and equity
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable - 84 195 27 $ - $ 306
Accrued and other current liabilities 18 159 120 16 (13) 300
Intercompany payable - - 3,966 151 (4,117) -
Long-term debt-current portion - 35 - 5 - 40
Total current liabilities 18 278 4,281 199 (4,130) 646
Long-term debt 736 4,542 - 3 (850) 4,431
Deferred tax liabilities 315 - - - - 315
Other long-term liabilities 8 37 119 5 (3) 166
Total long-term liabilities 1,059 4,579 119 8 (853) 4,912
Total liabilities 1,077 4,857 4,400 207 (4,983) 5,558
Redeemable shares 23 - - - 23
Other equit (deficit) (475 91 (191 761 (661) (475
Total equity (deficit) (452) 91 (191) 761 (661) (452)
Total liabilities and equity (deficit) 625 4,948 4,209 968 $ (5644 $ 5,106
Condensed Supplemental Consolidated Statements o&gh Flows
Fiscal 2013
Non-
Guarantor Guarantor
Parent Issuer Subsidiaries  Subsidiaries  Eliminations Total
Cash Flow from Operating Activities $ - $ (16) $ 417 $ 63 $ - $ 464
Cash Flow from Investing Activities
Additions to property, plant, and equipment - ) (218) (14) - (239)
Proceeds from disposal of assets - 1 17 - - 18
Investment in Parent - - - (21) 21 -
(Contributions) distributionto/from subsidiarie (462, 441 - - 21 -
Intercompany advances (repayments) - 210 - - (210) -
Investment in Issuer debt securities - - - - - -
Acquisition of business net of cash acquired - - (24) - - (24)
Net casHrom investing activitie (462 64t (225) (35) (168 (24%)
Cash Flow from Financing Activities
Proceeds from long-term debt - 1,391 - - - 1,391
IPO proceeds 438 - - - - 438
Payment of TRA (5) (5) - - 5 (5)
Proceed from issuance of common s 27 - - - - 27
Repayment of note receivable 2 2 - - 2) 2
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Repayment of long-term debt
Changes in intercompany balances
Contribution from Parent

Deferred financing costs

Net castrom financing activities
Netchange in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period

Cash Flow from Operating Activities

Cash Flow from Investing Activities
Additions to property, plant, and equipment
Proceeds from disposal of assets
Investment in Parent

(Contributions) distributions to/from subsidia
Intercompany advances (repayments)
Investment in Issuer debt securities
Acquisition of business net of cash acquired
Net castrom investing activitie

Cash Flow from Financing Activities
Proceeds from long-term debt
Equity contributions

Repayment of long-term debt
Changes in intercompany balances
Contribution from Parent

Deferred financing costs

Net cash fror financing activities

Netchange in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of p
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period

Cash Flow from Operating Activities

Cash Flow from Investing Activities
Additions to property, plant, and equipment
Proceeds from disposal of assets
Investment in Parent

(Contributions) distribuons to/from subsidiarir
Intercompany advances (repayments)
Investment in Issuer debt securities
Acquisition of business net of cash acquired
Net cash froninvesting activitie

Cash Flow from Financing Activities
Proceeds from long-term debt

Equity contributions

Repayment of long-term debt

Changetin intercompany balanc

- (1,955) - 2) (21) (2,978)
- - (192) (15) 207 -
- - - 21 (21) -
- (39 - - - (39)
462 (606) (192) 4 168 (164)
- 50 - 5 - 55
- 66 - 21 - 87
$ - $ 116 $ - $ 26 $ - 142
Fiscal 2012
Non-
Guarantor Guarantor
Parent Issuer Subsidiaries  Subsidiaries  Eliminations Total
$ - $ (22 $ 504 $ ?3) $ - 479
- 9) (209) (12) - (230)
R - 30 - - 30
- - - (4) 4 -
16 (20) - - 4 R
- 258 - - (258) -
} - 7 (62) - (55)
16 22¢ (72) (79) (250 (255)
- - - 2 - 2
- (6) - - - (6)
(16) (155) - - (@] (175)
- - (337) 79 258 -
R R R 4 @ R
(16) (161) (337) 85 250 (179)
- 46 5) 4 - 45
- 2C 5 17 - 42
$ - $ 66 $ - $ 21 $ - 87
Fiscal 2011
Non-
Guarantor Guarantor
Parent Issuer Subsidiaries  Subsidiaries  Eliminations Total
$ 2 $ 15 $ 322 $ (1) $ 1) 327
- (16) (138) (6) - (160)
- - 5 - - 5
- (39) - - 39 -
- 166 - - (166) -
- - - (39) 39 -
- (368) - - - (368)
- (257 (133 (45) (88) (523
- 995 - - - 995
2 1) - - 1 ()]
- (841) - - (39) (880)
- - (186 20 16€ -
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Contribution from Parent - 39 (39) -
Deferred financing costs (23) (23)
Net cash fror financing activities (2) 130 (186) 59 89 90
Net chang in cash and cash equivalents (112) 3 3 (106)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period - 132 2 14 148
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $- $ 20 $ 5 $ 17 $ 42

16. Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)

The following table contains selected unauditedtgulg financial data for fiscal years 2013 and 201

2013 2012
First Second Third Fourth First Second Third Fourth

Net sale $ 1072 $ 1,150 $ 1221 $ 1,204 $ 1,137 $ 1,183 $ 1,242 $ 1,204

Cost of sales 895 936 998 1,006 972 972 1,028 977

Gross profit 177 214 223 198 165 211 214 227

Net income (loss $ 19 $ 1 3 40 $ 26 $ (31 % 2 3 9 % 22

Net income (loss

per share
Basic $ (009 $ 001 $ 035 $ 023 $ (037 $ 002 $ 011 $ 0.2¢
Diluted (0.09 0.01 0.33 0.22 (0.37 0.02 0.11 0.2¢

17. Subsequent Events
Graphic Packaging

On September 30, 2013, the Company acquired Gr&aluikaging'’s flexible plastics and films businé&rgphic”) for a
purchase price of $62 million. Graphic is a pragtuaf wraps, films, pouches, and bags for the fawetical, industrial,
personal care, and pet food markets. The newlyigtibusiness will be operated in the Companyésible Packaging
Division. To finance the purchase, the Company usesh on hand and existing credit facilities. Tnaphic acquisition
will be accounted for under the purchase methaatobunting, and accordingly, the purchase pricebsibllocated to the
identifiable assets and liabilities based on es@rhéair values at the acquisition date.

2014 Cost Reduction Plan

In November 2013, the Company initiated a costegon plan designed to deliver meaningful costrsgsiand optimal
equipment utilization. This plan will result in sl plant rationalizations. The costs associai#dthis plan will primarily
consist of one-time costs associated with faaildgsolidation, including severance and terminabienefits for employees of
approximately $6 million, other costs associateith wkiting facilities of approximately $30 milliand non-cash asset
impairment charges of approximately $11 million.atdition, as part of this cost reduction plan@eapany estimates it
will incur capital expenditures of approximately3®illion. Overall these facility restructuringggrams are projected to
generate approximately $27 million of annual opegesavings when fully implemented. These amoarggpreliminary
estimates based on the information currently ablleo management. The plan is expected to beifapflemented by the
end of fiscal 2014.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1d(the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registhas duly caused this
report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigtiereunto duly authorized, on the 11th day afdbaber, 2013.

BERRY PLASTICS GROUP, INC.

By__/s/ Jonathan D. Rich
Jonathan D. Rich
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &@h Act of 1934, this report has been signed éyalfiowing persons on
behalf of the registrant and in the capacities@nthe dates indicated:

Signature Title Date

Chairman of the Board of Directors, Chief ExecutdDfficer

and Director (Principal Executive Officer) December 11, 2013
/s/ Jonathan D. Rich
Jonathan D. Ric

Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial and dezinting

Officer) December 11, 2013
/sl James M. Kratochvil
James M. Kratochy
/s/ Robert V. Semina Directol December 1, 2013
Robert V. Seminara
/s/ Anthony M. Cival Directol December 1, 2013
Anthony M. Cival
/s/ Donald C. Graham Director December 11, 2013
Donald C. Graha
/s/Ronald S. Rolf Directol December 1, 2013
Ronald S. Rolfe
/s/ B. Evan Bayh Director December 11, 2013
B. Evan Bay!
/s/ Joshua J. Har Directol December 1, 2013
Joshua J. Harris
/s/ David B. Helle Directol December 1, 2013
David B. Helle
/s/ Carl J. Rickertsen Director December 11, 2013

Carl J. Rickertse
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Exhibit No. Description of Exhibit

3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of Berry Plagiacsip, Inc. (incorporated herein by reference to
Exhibit 3.1 to the Company’s Form 10-K filed on Bewber 27, 2012).

3.2 Bylaws, as amended, of Berry Plastics Group, incofporated herein by reference to Exhibit 3.th®
Company’s Form 10-K filed on December 27, 2012).

4.1 Indenture, by and among Berry Plastics Corporaganh Subsidiary of Berry Plastics Corporation tified
therein and U.S. Bank National Association, as fBejgelating to 9.75% second priority senior sedur
notes due 2021, dated November 19, 2010 (incogmbtarein by reference to Exhibit 4.03 to Berrystia
Corpcration’s (File No. 03-7570¢-01) Current Report on Forn-K filed on November 19, 201t

4.2 Supplemental Indenture, dated as of December 2, @0ibng Berry Plastics Group, Inc., Berry Plastics
Corporation, and U.S. Bank National Associatiortrastee, with respect to the indenture, dated as o
November 19, 2010, respecting Berry Plastics Catjmr's 9.75% Second Priority Senior Secured N
due 2021 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit Bd.e Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K fited
December 6, 2012).

4.3 Additional Secured Creditor Consent, by and betwimmy Plastics Corporation, each Subsidiary of{er
Plastics Corporation signatory thereto and U.SkBdational Association, as Authorized Represergzadind
Collateral Agent, relating to 9.75% second priosigior secured notes due 2021, dated Novemb&018,
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4@8eérry Plastics Corporation’s (File No. 033-75719-
Current Report on Forn-K filed on November 19, 201.

4.4 Registration Rights Agreement, by and between Belagtics Corporation, each Subsidiary of Berrgitia
Corporation identified therein and Credit Suisseusies (USA) LLC, as representatives of the &iti
Purchasers, relating to 9.75% second priority sesgoured notes due 2021, dated November 19, 2010
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4@Beérry Plastics Corporation’s (File No. 033-75719-
Current Report on Forn-K filed on November 19, 201(

4.5 Indenture, by and among Berry Plastics Corporaganh Subsidiary of Berry Plastics Corporation tified
therein and U.S. Bank National Association, as fBejgelating to 9.5% second priority senior setun@tes
due 2018, dated April 30, 2010 (incorporated hegireference to Exhibit 4.01 to Berry Plastics
Corporation’s (File No. 033-75706-01) Current Rejoor Form 8-K filed on May 4, 2010).

4.6 Supplemental Indenture, dated as of December 2, 20dong Berry Plastics Group, Inc., Berry Plastics
Corporation, and U.S. Bank National Associatiortrastee, with respect to the indenture, dated Apol
30, 2010, respecting Berry Plastics CorporatiorB&®Second Priority Senior Secured Notes due 2018
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of tleany’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on Decemb
6, 2012).

4.7 Additional Secured Creditor Consent, by and betvwismy Plastics Corporation, each Subsidiary ofer
Plastics Corporation signatory thereto and U.SkBdational Association, as Authorized Represergzadind
Collateral Agent, relating to 9.5% second priosignior secured notes due 2018, dated April 30, 2010
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4@Berry Plastics Corporation’s (File No. 033-7511§-
Current Report on Forn-K filed on May 4, 2010

10.1 U.S. $400,000,000 Amended and Restated Credit Agree dated as of April 3, 2007, by and among
Covalence Specialty Materials Corp., Berry PlagBicsup, Inc., certain domestic subsidiaries pédmtyeto
from time to time, Bank of America, N.A., as collet| agent and administrative agent, the lendetg pa
thereto from time to time, and the financial ingtins party thereto (incorporated herein by refeegto
Exhibit 10.1(a) to Berry Plastics Corporation’sléflo. 033-75706-01) Current Report on Form 8-Edibn
April 10, 2007)

10.2 Amendment, dated as of June 28, 2011, to U.S. 880M00 Amended and Restated Credit Agreement date
as of April 3, 2007, by and among Covalence Spedidhterials Corp., Berry Plastics Group, Inc. taer
domestic subsidiaries party thereto from timenwetiBank of America, N.A., as collateral agent and
administrative agent, the lenders party theretmflime to time, and the financial institutions pattereto,
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10.3

104

10.5

10.6

10.7

10.8t

10.9t*
10.101*
10.11t

10.12%

10.13%

10.14%

10.15%

(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 1a@Berry Plastics Corporation’s (File No. 033-75101
Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on December 19,10

U.S. $1,200,000,000 Second Amended and Restatéit Bggeement, dated as of April 3, 2007, by and
among Covalence Specialty Materials Corp., BeragtRls Group, Inc., Credit Suisse, Cayman Islands
Branch, as collateral and administrative agentlghders party thereto from time to time, and ttheo
financial institutions party thereto (incorporategtein by reference to Exhibit 10.1(b) to Berrysftz=s
Corporation’s (File No. 033-75706-01) Current Reor Form 8-K filed on April 10, 2007).

Amended and Restated Intercreditor Agreement, byaamng Berry Plastics Group, Inc., Covalence
Specialty Materials Corp., certain subsidiariesiffied as parties thereto, Bank of America, N.Ad &redit
Suisse, Cayman Islands Branch as first lien agants\Wells Fargo Bank, N.A.sdrustee (incorporated her
by reference to Exhibit 10.1(d) to Berry Plasticg@dration’s (File No. 033-75706-01) Current Remort
Form 8-K filed on April 10, 2007).

U.S. $1,400,000,000 Incremental Assumption Agre¢naztied as of February 8, 2013, by and amongyBerr
Plastics Group, Inc., Berry Plastics Corporatiod egrtain of its subsidiaries referenced thereth@redit
Suisse AG, Cayman Islands Branch (incorporatedrhbyereference to Exhibit 10.29 to the Registrant’
Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Reg. No. 33348) filed on April 4, 2013).

Management Agreement, among Berry Plastics Cotlipatderry Plastics Group, Inc., Apollo Management
VI, L.P., and Graham Partners, Inc., dated as pfedeber 20, 2006 (incorporated herein by referémce
Exhibit 10.7 to Berry Plastics Corporation’s Region Statement Form S-4 (Reg. No. 333-13838&)l filn
November 2, 200¢

Termination Agreement, by and among Covalence Sipgdilaterials Holding Corp., Covalence Specialty
Materials Corp., and Apollo Management V, L.P.edaas of April 3, 2007 (incorporated herein by nerfiee
to Exhibit 10.7 to Berry Plastics Corporation’s Bémition Statement Form S-4 (Reg. No. 333-1426(2)
on May 4, 207).

2006 Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated hereimdigrence to Exhibit 10.8 to Berry Plastics Corfiores
Registration Statement Form S-4 (Reg. No. 333-1@g8i@d on November 2, 2006).

Amendment No. 2 to the Berry Plastics Group, 12806 Equity Incentive Plan.
Omnibus amendment to awards granted under the Baasgics Group, Inc., 2006 Long-Term IncentivenPla

Form of Performance-Based Stock Option AgreemeBeofy Plastics Group, Inc. (incorporated herein by
reference to Exhibit 10.9 to Berry Plastics Corfiorés Registration Statement Form S-4 (Reg. N@-33
138380) filed on November 2, 20C

Form of Accreting Stock Option Agreement of Bertgdfics Group, Inc. (incorporated herein by refeesto
Exhibit 10.10 to Berry Plastics Corporation’s Rémiion Statement Form S-4 (Reg. No. 33B380) filed or
November 2, 200€

Form of Time-Based Stock Option Agreement of B&igstics Group, Inc. (incorporated herein by refeee
to Exhibit 10.11 to Berry Plastics Corporation’sgigération Statement Form S-4 (Reg. No. 333-1388k@)
on November 2, 200¢

Form of Performance-Based Stock Appreciation Riglgieement of Berry Plastics Group, Inc. (incorpeda
herein by reference to Exhibit 10.12 to Berry RtasCorporation’s Registration Statement Form g
No. 33:-138380) filed on November 2, 2006).

Employment Agreement, dated September 20, 200&ebetBerry Plastics Corporation and

Ira G. Boots (incorporated herein by referencexiiliit 10.13 to Berry Plastics Corporation’s Regisbn
Statement Form S-4 (Reg. No. 333-138380) filed ome¥hber 2, 2006).
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Employment Agreement, dated September 20, 2006ebetBerry Plastics Corporation and James M.
Kratochvil (incorporated herein by reference to iBiti0.14 to Berry Plastics Corporation’s Regititna
Statement Form S-4 (Reg. No. 333-138380) filed ome¥hber 2, 2006).

Employment Agreement, dated November 22, 1999, dmrivBerry Plastics Corporation and G. Adam Uni
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 1@PBerry Plastics Corporation’s (File No. 033-7570H
Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC onrsta22, 2006).

Amendment No. 1 to Employment Agreement, dated Nibex 22, 1999, between Berry Plastics Corporation
and G. Adam Unfried, dated November 23, 2004 (jpoated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.24 ofrer
Plastics Corporation’s (File No. 033-75706-01) Aankeport on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on Mag&&
2006).

Amendment No. 2 to Employment Agreement, dated Niber 22, 1999, between Berry Plastics Corporation
and G. Adam Unfried, dated March 10, 2006 (incoape herein by reference to Exhibit 10.25 of Berry
Plastics Corporation’s (File No. 033-75706-01) AaReport on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on Mag&&
2006)

Amendment No. 3 to Employment Agreement, dated Nibex 22, 1999, between Berry Plastics Corporation
and G. Adam Unfried, dated September 20, 2006 ifiacated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.19 toBe
Plastics Corporation’s Registration Statement F8#h(Reg. No. 333-138380) filed on November 2, 2006

Employment Agreement, dated April 3, 2007, betwBerry Plastics Corporation and Thomas E. Salmon
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 1@PBerry Plastics Corporation’s (File No. 033-7570H
Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC oncBeaber 16, 2008).

Letter Agreement, dated as of March 9, 2007, bytetdieen Berry Plastics Group, Inc. and Ira Boots
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.19 of Acleent No. 1 to the Company's Registration Stateroent
Form8-K (File No. 33:-180294), filed on May 4,012)

Purchase and Sale Agreement, dated as of Dece&sh2008, by and between BP Parallel Corporation, a
Delaware corporation, and Apollo Management VI,.LaPDelaware limited partnership (incorporated:hmer
by reference to Exhibit 10.21 of Berry Plastics i@wation’s (File No. 033-75706-01) Annual Reportrmrm
10-K filed with the SEC on December 16, 2008).

Employment Agreement, dated as of August 1, 204flyéen Berry Plastics Corporation and Randall J.
Becker (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1@2Amendment No. 1 to the Company’s Registration
Statement on Fori8-K (File No. 33:-180294) filed on Ma 4, 2012)

Letter Agreement, dated September 30, 2010, bet®erwy Plastics Corporation and Ira G. Boots
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.Berry Plastics Corporation’s (File No. 033-75706)
Current Report on Forn-K filed on October 6, 201(

Employment Agreement, dated October 1, 2010, bettleeBerry Plastics Corporation and Jonathan Rich
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.Berry Plastics Corporation’s (File No. 033-75706)
Current Report on Form 8-K filed on October 6, 2010

Form of common stock certificate of Berry Plast&®up, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhiki74of
Amendment No. 5 to the Company’s Registration State on Form S-1 (File No. 333-180294) filed on
September 19, 2012).

Income Tax Receivable Agreement, dated as of Noee@f, 2012, by and among Berry Plastics Group, Inc
and Apollo Management Fund VI, L.P. (incorporatedein by reference to Exhibit 10.25 to the Compsny’
Form 1(-K filed onDecember 27, 20)).

Berry Plastics Group, Inc. Executive Bonus Plandiporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.2théo
Company’s Form 10-K filed on December 27, 2012).

Berry Plastics Group, Inc. 2012 Long-Term IncenfNan (incorporated herein by reference to ExHiBi27
to the Company’s Form 10-K filed on December 27,20
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10.311* Amendment No. 1 to the Berry Plastics Grdnp. 2012 Long-Term Incentive Plan
10.321* Omnibus amendment to awards granted uhdeBerry Plastics Group, Inc., 2012 Long-Term htiverPlan
10.33t Amendment No. 1 to the Amended and Restated SttusdsoAgreement, by and among Berry Plastics

Group, Inc., and the stockholders of the Corpondigied on schedule A thereto, dated as of Octdh2012
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 1a®&he Company’s Form 10-K filed on December 272,20

12.1* Computation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges.

21.1* Subsidiaries of the Registrant.

23.1* Consent of Independent Registered Public Accourfing

31.1* Rule 13--14(a)/15+14(a) Certification of the Chief Executive Offi
31.2* Rule 13--14(a)/15+14(a) Certification of the Chief FinancOfficer
32.1* Section 1350 Certification of the Chief ExecutivEic2r

32.2* Section 1350 Certification of the Chief Financidficer

Filed herewith.
T Management contract or compensatory plan or geraant.
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